THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Spatial Design for Circularity in Residential Buildings Exploring the Case of the Kitchen

ANITA OLLÁR

Department of Architecture and Civil Engineering

CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Gothenburg, Sweden 2024

Spatial Design for Circularity in Residential Buildings Exploring the Case of the Kitchen ANITA OLLÁR

© ANITA OLLÁR, 2024

ISBN: 978-91-8103-073-0 Series number: 5531 in the series Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie (ISSN 0346-718X)

Department of Architecture and Civil Engineering Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Contact: ollar@chalmers.se / ollar.anita@gmail.com

All illustrations by Anita Ollár, unless otherwise stated Cover: Spatial design solutions for kitchens supporting circularity in residential buildings

Printed by Chalmers Digitaltryck Gothenburg, Sweden 2024

Abstract

The building industry is responsible for a large portion of environmental impact, energy use and resource exploitation. There is a need to shift towards more sustainable building design solutions, which could be achieved by adopting circular design strategies. Currently, in the field of Circular Building Design (CBD), there is a primary focus on tackling end-of-life scenarios for buildings, such as construction and demolition waste management and reuse of building components. There has been little investigation on spatial design's contribution to CBD, despite earlier studies indicating its importance to a sustainable built environment. Additionally, there is a lack of investigations in the context of multi-residential buildings; previous works mainly focus on cities, neighbourhoods and other building typologies such as office and commercial buildings. Therefore, this thesis complements the existing knowledge on CBD and expands the discussion on transitioning from a linear to a circular approach in the design, construction and utilisation of multi-residential buildings through studies exploring spatial design's contribution to circularity.

This thesis includes qualitative and quantitative studies exploring stakeholder perspectives and the physical manifestation of spatial design. The studies take a starting point in analysing the kitchen as an eminent function of the home. Studies 1 and 2 investigate stakeholders' processes and preferences connected to the design, construction, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's spatial design. Study 3 focuses on assessing the circular potential of spatial design of kitchens in contemporary apartment floorplans by identifying and evaluating spatial characteristics as determining aspects of space. Study 4 broadens the scope and investigates currently applied circular design strategies in multi-residential buildings with a particular focus on adaptability features.

The results show that spatial design could contribute to circularity by keeping resources in their current utilisation at their highest value and reducing resource flows resulting from spatial alterations (narrowing and slowing the loops). This can be achieved through implementing functional and adaptable solutions in the spatial design of buildings. The results, however, reveal that current spatial design solutions have shortcomings regarding functionality and adaptability due to the segmented stakeholder network and the downprioritisation of end-user preferences and adaptable spatial design in multi-residential buildings. To overcome these shortcomings, the results indicate a need for renewed housing research directly informing regulations that foster circularity in the building industry.

The thesis' specific contributions include insights into stakeholder processes and preferences for kitchen design, spatial design recommendations and discussions on the importance of functionality and adaptability for CBD. To support knowledge development in the field of CBD, this thesis also provides methodological pathways, analytical and design frameworks and aspects of contextual challenges regarding the spatial design of multiresidential buildings. In conclusion, this thesis advocates for incorporating adaptable standard design requirements into CBD approaches, ensuring functionality and ease of adaptation in the short- and long-term. Additionally, this thesis identifies the need for enhanced collaboration among stakeholders in the building industry and expanded evaluation and implementation of end-user preferences related to the design of their dwellings.

Keywords: Circular building design, Spatial design, Functionality, Adaptability, Kitchen

Sammanfattning

Byggbranschen står för en stor del av miljöpåverkan, energianvändning och resursutnyttjande. Det finns ett behov av att ställa om till mer hållbara lösningar, vilket skulle kunna uppnås genom att implementera cirkulära designstrategier. Inom området cirkulär byggnadsdesign (CBD) är det för närvarande primärt fokus på omhändertagande av bygg- och rivningsavfall och återanvändning av byggnadskomponenter. Det har genomförts få detaljerade undersökningar av den rumsliga gestaltningens bidrag till CBD, trots att tidigare studier pekar på dess betydelse för skapandet av en hållbar byggd miljö. Dessutom finns det brist på utredningar gällande CBD i flerbostadshus; tidigare arbeten fokuserar främst på städer, stadsdelar och andra byggnadstypologier. Därför kompletterar denna avhandling den befintliga kunskapen om CBD och bidrar till att utöka diskussionen om övergången från linjära till cirkulära processer inom design, konstruktion och utnyttjande av flerbostadshus, genom studier som utforskar rumslig gestaltnings bidrag till cirkularitet.

Denna avhandling inkluderar kvalitativa och kvantitativa studier som utforskar olika intressenters perspektiv och den fysiska manifestationen av rumslig gestaltning. Studierna tar utgångspunkt i att analysera köket som en eminent funktion i hemmet. Studie 1 och 2 undersöker olika intressenters processer och preferenser kopplade till design, konstruktion, utnyttjande och förändring av kökets rumsliga utformning. Studie 3 fokuserar på att bedöma den cirkulära potentialen i rumslig gestaltning av kök i bostadslägenheter genom att identifiera och utvärdera rumsliga egenskaper som avgörande aspekter av utrymme. Studie 4 breddar studiens omfattning och undersökte nuvarande tillämpade cirkulära designstrategier i flerbostadshus med särskilt fokus på anpassningsförmåga.

Resultaten visar att rumslig gestaltning skulle kunna bidra till cirkularitet genom att hålla resurserna i sina nuvarande utnyttjande och därmed på sina högsta värde, samt minska resursflöden till följd av rumsliga förändringar. Detta kan uppnås genom att implementera funktionella och anpassningsbara lösningar i den rumsliga utformningen av byggnader. Resultaten avslöjar dock även att nuvarande designlösningar har brister vad gäller funktionalitet och anpassningsförmåga på grund av det fragmenterade nätverket av intressenter samt nedprioriteringen av både slutanvändarnas preferenser och av anpassningsbar rumslig gestaltning i planeringen av flerbostadshus. För att komma till rätta med dessa brister, tyder resultaten på ett behov av nya områden inom bostadsforskning som direkt informerar och bidrar till att utveckla de regelverk som främjar cirkularitet inom byggbranschen.

Avhandlingens specifika bidrag är insikter i olika intressenters processer och preferenser gällande köksutformning, rekommendationer för rumslig gestaltning och diskussioner om vikten av funktionalitet och anpassningsförmåga för CBD. För att stödja kunskapsutvecklingen inom CBD presenterar denna avhandling även metodologiska verktyg, analytiska och designmässiga ramar samt kontextuella utmaningar gällande utformningen av flerbostadshus. Sammanfattningsvis förespråkar denna avhandling för införliva krav på anpassningsbara standard designlösningar i CBD-metoder, vilket säkerställer funktionalitet och enkel anpassning på kort och lång sikt. Dessutom identifierar denna avhandling behovet av förbättrat samarbete mellan intressenter inom byggbranschen och utökad utvärdering och implementering av slutanvändares preferenser relaterade till deras bostäder.

Nyckelord: Cirkulär byggnadsdesign, Rumslig gestaltning, Funktionalitet, Anpassningsförmåga, Kök A családomnak | Till min familj | À ma famille | To my family: Guillaume och Eliza; Anya, Apa, Mariann, Hanna, Bende, Kati, Balázs, Lora, Léna, Ella, Gergő, Cinti, Ákos, Emma, Ámor, és a nagyszüleim: Mária, János, Anna és Illés; Frédérique, Jean-François, Ludo, JB, Mina, Mamette et Papet

Thank you for being there for me,

To my Village in Göteborg:

Russ, Anne-Laure, Thomas, Joseph, Mitra, Seb, Casper, Caira, Elena, Jakob, Freja, Ville, Sarah, (Lil)Elias, Jana, David, Ailu, (Stor)Elias, Marc, Johanna, Clara, Stefan, Fanny, Lukasz, Shea, Christina, Dani, Farzaneh, Andreas, Charlotte

Thank you for all the fun,

To my workmates:

Lina, Ida, Sofie, Giliam, Elke, Bri, Janneke, Jessica, Greta, Erica, Alexander, Emil, Jens, Frederik, Åsa, Sara, Flávia, Manon, Elin, Jonathan, Job, Jason, Anna, Toivo and many many more

Thank you for being so awesome,

To my self-appointed mentors: Maja, Liane, Emilio and Martine

I've learned from you a ton.

Acknowledgements

I want to express my gratitude to all those who have been part of my PhD journey. These past years as a PhD student taught me valuable lessons that supported not only my professional but also my personal development.

I am grateful for the opportunity to learn and grow as a researcher, architect and educator. I am thankful for conducting my research within the Circular Kitchen (CIK) project, which would not have been possible without the funding organisations (EIT Climate-KIC, Chalmers' Centre for Housing Architecture, FORMAS - a Swedish Research Council for Sustainable Development, and the Region of Västra Götaland). It was a pleasure to be part of the CIK research team; this group inspired me in my work and helped me reach this important milestone. Thank you, Sofie, Giliam, Liane, Vincent, Anne and Bas, for the great workshops and discussions. Furthermore, I would like to thank my supervisors (Paula Femenías, Kaj Granath, Ulrike Rahe) and examiners (Ola Nylander, Martine Buser) for their support and feedback during the years. I also would like to express my gratitude to the study participants and project partners who devoted their time and expertise to contribute to my research.

I extend my deepest gratitude to my remarkable colleagues who have made this academic journey truly memorable. The stimulating discussions and shared lunches have enriched my experience in ways I cannot adequately express. To those who patiently listened to my research woes over coffee breaks, your encouragement fuelled my determination to overcome challenges and push my boundaries. And to those who celebrated my achievements, both big and small, your cheers kept me going. At Chalmers, I found not just colleagues but friends.

I want to highlight the contribution of three people who helped me through the last phase of writing this dissertation: Maja Kovács, Elke Miedema and Martine Buser. Your guidance, support and encouragement strengthened my confidence in my work and enriched the content of this dissertation. Thank you for riding by my side in the Battle of the Kappa Writing.

My deepest gratitude goes to my family and friends who stood by me on this bumpy ride. Guillaume, mes remerciements les plus chaleureux pour ton soutien indéfectible, ta patience et ton amour. Tu étais là pour moi de toutes les manières possibles, m'apportant un soutien émotionnel lorsque mes travaux de recherche devenaient difficiles. J'ai pu partager avec toi les aspects, tant difficiles que gratifiants, de mon travail. En retour, j'ai toujours reçu des paroles compréhensives et encourageantes, qui m'ont permis de rester motivée. Ta confiance en mes capacités, même lorsque je doutais de moi-même, a été une source de force. J'ai une chance inouïe de t'avoir à mes côtés, et je suis infiniment reconnaissante de ton amour et de ton soutien. Eliza, végigkísértél eme munka második felén a nehéz napokon mosolyt csalva az arcomra. A kicsi kezek és a nagy ölelések nélkülözhetetlen részei lettek ennek a tézisnek. Köszönet mindezért.

> This thesis would not have been possible without all of you. Köszönöm! Tack! Merci! Thank you!

Included publications

PAPER A

[Journal Paper] Ollár, A.; Femenías, P.; Rahe, U.; Granath, K. (2020) Foresights from the Swedish kitchen: Four circular value opportunities for the built environment. Sustainability, 12(16), 6394. DOI 10.3390/su12166394

Contributions: The workshop was carried out by the research group of the CIK project (including A.O., P.F. and U.R.). The interviews were planned and performed by A.O. and P.F. The focus group session was organised and carried out by P.F. and U.R. The analysis of the empirical material was conducted by A.O. The four authors developed the paper's outline together. The writing process was led by A.O. As supervisors, P.F., U.R. and K.G. reviewed and edited the paper.

PAPER B

[Conference Paper] Ollár, A.; Femenías, P.; Granath, K.; Hagejärd, S. (2022) *Determining spatial characteristics for CBD: The case of kitchen alterations*. IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 1085, 012065. DOI 10.1088/1755-1315/1085/1/012065

Contributions: The interviews were planned and performed by A.O. and S.H. with the supervision of P.F. The analysis of the empirical material was conducted by A.O. The conceptual outline of the paper was developed by A.O., P.F. and K.G. The writing process was led by A.O. and P.F., K.G. and S.H. reviewed and edited the paper's content.

PAPER C

[Journal Paper] Ollár, A.; Granath, K.; Femenías, P.; Rahe, U. (2022) *Is there a need for new kitchen design? Assessing the adaptative capacity of space to enable circularity in multiresidential buildings.* Frontiers of Architectural Research, Volume 11, Issue 5, Pages 891-916 DOI 10.1016/j.foar.2022.03.009

Contributions: K.G. provided the documentation on the housing projects. A.O. reviewed and sampled the material, identified the spatial characteristics, developed the analytical framework and performed the analysis. K.G. advised on ambiguous decisions related to the floorplan study. The four authors collectively developed the conceptual outline of the paper. The writing process was led by A.O. As supervisors, P.F., K.G. and U.R. helped fine-tune the analytical framework and reviewed and edited the paper's content.

PAPER D

[Journal Paper] Ollár, A. (2024) *Circular building adaptability in multi-residential buildings* – *The status quo and a conceptual design framework.* International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation, Vol. 42 No. 7, pp. 1-17. DOI 10.1108/IJBPA-08-2023-0110

Contributions: A.O. planned the study, conducted the interviews and analysed the empirical material. A.O. developed the conceptual outline of the paper and wrote the manuscript. P.F. gave feedback on the manuscript before submitting it to the journal. A.O. edited and finalised the paper following the journal's review process.

Additional publications and conference contributions

[Licentiate Thesis] Ollár A. (2021) Spatial design for circularity - Exploring spatial aspects in housing design with focus on the kitchen, Gothenburg, Chalmers University of Technology

[Journal Paper] Hagejärd, S.; Ollár, A.; Femenías, P.; Rahe, U. (2020) *Designing for circularity* - *Addressing product design, consumption practices and resource flows in domestic kitchens.* Sustainability, 12, 1006. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031006

[Conference Presentation] Ollár, A.; Femenías, P.; Rahe, U. (2019) *What shaped the Swedish kitchen? A historical overview to plan for further development.* NAF Symposium 2019 in Gothenburg - Approaches and Methods in Architectural Research, 13-15 June 2019, Gothenburg, Sweden.

[Conference Presentation] Ollár, A.; Bengtsson, M.; Femenías, P. (2019) *The kitchen of the future through an academic lens: An architectural thesis project's knowledge contribution to academic research.* The 11th Annual Symposium of Architectural Research, 3-4 October 2019 Tampere, Finland.

[Extended Abstract] Andersson, S., Ollár, A., Femenías, P., & Rahe, U. (2018). *Retrofitting from the inside/insight perspective: Adapting to users' needs with the kitchen as a starting point.* Retrofit Europe! Innovation Meets Market SBE19 Conference, 5-6 November 2018, Eindhoven, The Netherlands.

Glossary and Abbreviations

Term	Definition or explanation	
Adaptability	"[T]he inherent properties in a building that gives [sic] it the ability to change or the relative ease with which it can be changed" (Heidrich et al., 2017, p.287)	
Adaptive capacity	A metric to measure a building's ability "[] to cope with future changes with minimum demolition, cost and waste and with maximum robustness, mutability and efficiency" (Sinclair et al., 2012, p.40)	
Circular building	Buildings designed, planned, built, operated, maintained and deconstructed while minimising resource use, waste and emissions by systematically applying value retention processes to slow, narrow and close loops in the associated technical, business and industrial models throughout the entire lifespan of the buildings (inspired by previous definitions such as in Geldermans et al., 2019b; Leising et al., 2018; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017)	
Circular building adaptability	"[T]he capacity to contextually and physically alter the built environment and sustain its usefulness while keeping the building asset in a closed-reversible value chain" (Hamida et al., 2022, p.61)	
Circular building design	A design approach that supports the development of circular buildings (following the definition of circular buildings)	
Circular design	[verb]: The process of conception or creation of products and services for a circular economy and [noun]: the outcome of this process	
Circular economy	A regenerative system that replaces the 'end-of-life' concept for resources by slowing, closing and narrowing loops through long-lasting design, maintenance, repair, reuse, remanufacturing, refurbishing and recycling in production, distribution and consumption processes to accomplish sustainable development, thus simultaneously creating environmental quality, economic prosperity and social equity to the benefit of current and future generations (based on Geissdoerfer et al., 2017 and Kirchherr et al., 2017)	
Circular potential	The accumulated capacity of products or services that contributes to optimising the value retention loops throughout the entire lifespan of said products or services	
Combined kitchen- living room	A room that includes the kitchen and living room in one open space	
End-user	People inhabiting and using residential buildings and, within that, kitchens	
Floorplan	The two-dimensional depiction of the spatial design of a dwelling	
Functionality	The quality of being useful, practical and suitable for the purpose of a function of the dwelling (e.g., the kitchen) for diverse individuals and groups of end-users forming various household types (inspired by the definition of functionality of the Cambridge Business English Dictionary, 2024)	
Kitchen	The three-dimensional enclosure of the space in which activities associated with the kitchen occur (e.g., food storage and preparation, dining, social activities)	
Kitchen typology	The layout of the built-in furniture that influences the spatial use and experience of the room (straight-kitchen, L-kitchen, parallel-kitchen, U-kitchen) (based on Krantz-Jensen, 1963)	
Room typology	As defined in Hillier (2007): A: 'dead-end' room; B: 'pass-through' room; C: room in a single ring; or D: room that is part of more than one ring	

Term	Definition or explanation	
Services	A shearing layer of a building composed of "components that supply and transport physical flows" (e.g., electricity, plumbing, ventilation) (Schmidt & Austin, 2016, p.55)	
Skin	A shearing layer of a building composed of components that constitute the envelope of a building (e.g., façade and roof elements) (based on Schmidt & Austin, 2016)	
Spatial characteristic	Determinants of a spatial unit (e.g., room) or dwelling function (e.g., kitchen) that influence how it may be used, furnished and experienced (e.g., size, length and width of room, door and window openings, fixed equipment, infrastructure outlets)	
Spatial design	[noun]: The design of components of the shearing layers that shape the spatial enclosure of a specific dwelling function, thereby influencing the activities that occur in this space (inspired by Schmidt & Austin 2016, p.55)	
Space plan	A shearing layer of a building composed of "components that enclose the spaces users inhabit" (Schmidt & Austin, 2016, p.55)	
Structure	A shearing layer of a building composed of "components which support the primary transferring of vertical loads and horizontal bracing" (Schmidt & Austin, 2016, p.55)	
Stuff	A shearing layer of a building. "Components/objects that reside inside the space users inhabit" (Schmidt & Austin, 2016, p.55)	
Stakeholder	Actors connected to the commission, design, construction and utilisation of buildings or dwelling functions (such as the kitchen). In this thesis, stakeholders include housing developers (and their suppliers), housing managers, architects, kitchen furniture producers, contractors, real estate brokers and end-users	
Value mapping	A method to identify three types of values: value captured, value missed, destroyed or wasted and value opportunities (Bocken et al., 2013)	
Work surface	Horizontal surfaces at a comfortable height, used for processing and preparing food (e.g., free countertop surfaces or additional tables in or close to the kitchen)	
Workstation	Units forming part of the built-in furniture with designated work functions (sink, stove, fridge and work surface)	

Abbreviation	Meaning
BBR	Boverkets byggregler (Boverket's Building Regulations) Boverket: the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning
CBD	Circular Building Design
CE	Circular Economy
СІК	Circular Kitchen (project)
EU	European Union
HFI	Hemmets Forskningsinstitut (the Home Research Institute)
PBF	Plan- och byggförordningen (the Swedish Planning and Building Ordinance)
PBL	Plan- och bygglagen (the Swedish Planning and Building Act)
RQ	Research Question

Table of Contents

Abst	ract	i
Sam	manfattning	ii
Ackr	nowledgements	iv
Inclu	ided publications	v
Addi	tional publications and conference contributions	vi
Glos	sary and Abbreviations	vii
1.	Introduction	1
1.1.	Research questions and aim	3
1.2.	Definitions of terms	3
1.3.	Scope of research	4
1.4.	Project context	5
1.5.	Reading instruction and outline of the thesis	6
2.	Background	8
2.1.	Circular economy and its fundamental principles	8
2.2.	Circular buildings in a circular built environment	10
2.3.	Circular building design	11
2.4.	The societal and behavioural dimensions of a CE	15
2.5.	Theoretical perspective	17
3. 9	Swedish context	18
3.1.	Swedish multi-residential housing: characteristics, research and regulations	18
3.2.	Historical evolution of the Swedish kitchen	20
4.	Methodology	24
4.1.	Worldview and knowledge construction	24
4.2.	Social and material aspects explored in the studies	25
4.3.	Research design	26
4.4.	Methods	29
4.5.	Validation of results	36
4.6.	Methodological considerations	37
5. 3	Summary of results	41
5.1.	Study 1: Circular value opportunities for the built environment	41
5.2.	Study 2: Kitchen alterations and their design implications	45
5.3.	Study 3: Current kitchen design and its circular potential	50
5.4.	Study 4: Circular building adaptability in multi-residential buildings	54
5.5.	Validation study: Housing developers' and architects' considerations	
	regarding spatial design	57

6. Discussion	59
6.1. Spatial design's contribution to circularity in residential buildings	59
6.2. Social and material aspects of spatial design for circularity	61
6.3. Limitations	70
7. Conclusions	71
7.1. Contributions	71
7.2. Implications for practice	73
7.3. Further research	74
Reference List	
Appended Papers A-D	

1. Introduction

The linear model of 'take-make-dispose' of the building industry contributes to the premature obsolescence of still-functioning building products and components (Arora et al., 2020). Through this model, the building industry is responsible for 40% of the global virgin material extractions, 30% of greenhouse gas emissions and 40% of the waste worldwide (Ness & Xing, 2017). The concept of Circular Economy (CE) (a set of closed reversible loops for value retention of resources) has been seen as a potential tool for achieving sustainability and addressing issues resulting from the linear processes of the building industry (Hossain & Thomas Ng, 2019; Manninen et al., 2018; Nußholz et al., 2020; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). In contrast to the linear model, the concept of CE enables value retention of resources through narrowing, slowing and closing loops (Bocken et al., 2016). This means reducing resource use, preserving resources in their current utilisation and retrieving resources at the end of their service life (Bocken et al., 2016).

Implementing CE principles in the building industry can contribute to environmental, social and economic sustainability. Beyond decreased virgin material extraction and environmental pollution (Hossain & Thomas Ng, 2019; Manninen et al., 2018; Nußholz et al., 2020), implementing CE principles can increase well-being and equality (Su et al., 2013) and can foster new businesses, job opportunities and increased revenues (Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2015). Recognising the benefits of CE, governmental bodies formulated policies and regulations. For instance, the European Union (EU) puts a significant emphasis on more circular processes through the European Green Deal (European Commission, 2019) and the Circular Economy Action Plan (European Commission, 2020). Such policies and regulations are meant to guide the transition towards circular design of products and production processes through establishing legislative support. Policies and regulations encouraging circularity have been recognised as crucial in overcoming barriers and nudging the shift towards a CE (Genovese et al., 2017; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). However, recent reports show that despite the growing initiatives, the global circularity rate is dropping (Circle Economy, 2023) and the EU's CE activities only increased by 0.4% between 2015 and 2021 (European Court of Auditors, 2023). This is due to a magnitude of obstacles hindering the transition to CE. For instance, ownership questions, a lack of integration of sustainability strategies and 'uncertain aftermaths' of CE implementations are primary barriers in the building industry (Mahpour, 2018). Eberhardt et al. (2019) also found that complex and extended supply chains, profit-oriented short-term goals, a lack of standardised methods and unknown future circumstances contribute to the challenges.

To accelerate the uptake of the CE concept in the building industry, there is an expanding body of research developing novel design guidelines, strategies, frameworks, tools and methods for Circular Building Design (CBD) (Hossain & Thomas Ng, 2019). However, these academic contributions often remain theoretical and their adoption into practice is limited (Dokter et al., 2021). Additionally, in current CBD literature, there seems to be a focus on larger scales, such as cities and neighbourhoods, while the building context is receiving less attention (Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). This implies a need for more detailed studies of buildings and their specific characteristics and impacts. The literature also indicates that actionable knowledge of circularity in the building context is increasingly important (Cambier, 2022; Kozminska, 2019; van Stijn, 2023). Within the building context, residential buildings are responsible for a high environmental impact. The growing global population and the shift from rural to urban areas have led to a surge in demand for housing in urban regions (United Nation, 2019). This increasing demand exerts pressure on resource extraction and utilisation (Ness & Xing, 2017), leading to increased greenhouse gas emissions and soil, air and water pollution (Rockström et al., 2009). Given these challenges, a shift towards more sustainable practices in the design and construction of residential buildings is needed.

Previous literature investigated how design professionals adopt and apply design for circularity in the building context (Dokter et al., 2021; Kozminska, 2019). Their findings show a strong focus on designing and building with reclaimed building materials and components (Kozminska, 2019) and reusing construction waste (Dokter et al., 2021). These approaches are perceived as an easy way to incorporate circularity in building design (Dokter et al., 2021). However, a building is not only the sum of the physical elements (building materials and components). The non-physical and social components of space are of utmost importance for residential building design (Jager, 2002; Nylander, 2002; Schmidt & Austin, 2016). For instance, how a building's interior spatial design is initially defined, preconditions its utilisation, maintenance, adaptation and end-of-life treatment (Cheshire, 2021). Current explorations in connection to CBD lack a consideration of how the spatial design is affected by the concept of circularity and - vice versa - how prerequisites of the determinants of a spatial unit or dwelling function (spatial characteristics) influence CBD. Therefore, this thesis focuses on exploring spatial design's role and contribution towards circularity in residential buildings. The aim is to investigate how spatial design can facilitate a transition from a linear to a circular approach, not just in the design phase but also in the construction and utilisation phases of residential buildings. In addition, this thesis contributes to the broader knowledge development in the field, enriching the academic and practical discourse around sustainable building design.

To study the contribution of spatial design in supporting circularity in residential buildings, this thesis takes its starting point in analysing the spatial design of kitchens. The kitchen, while being a crucial part of the home as a hub for food-related and social activities (Willén, 2012), also has a significant impact on resource use (Energy Saving Trust, 2013; Hagejärd et al., 2020), is subject to frequent alterations and renovations (Hand et al., 2007; Judson et al., 2014; Maller et al., 2012), resulting in increased material flows (Femenías et al., 2018). It has been estimated that premature kitchen renovations contribute to about 57% of the total climate impact (measured in CO_2 equivalent over a 15-year period) of internal alterations and maintenance of condominiums (Femenías et al., 2018). Moreover, discarded kitchen furniture makes up about 25% of the EU's annual furniture waste of 10 million tonnes, with only 10% being recycled and the rest being incinerated or dumped in landfills (Forrest et al., 2017).

As a function, the kitchen is a space that accommodates various activities such as storing and preparing food, dining, sorting household waste, remote working, performing hobbies and socialising (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Sjöstrand, 2018; Willén, 2012). Furthermore, the kitchen is also a space for storing and utilising an increased amount of stuff (furniture, appliances, kitchenware, utensils, etc.) (Marco, 2022). To provide a functional space sufficient for the activities and stuff of the kitchen, it must be designed with attention paid to spatial design aspects such as room connections, door and window placements, ceiling height, natural and artificial lighting and infrastructure outlets (Thiberg, 2007). This space also incorporates various built-in and mobile furniture and appliances, which must be arranged efficiently for a smooth workflow (Ranney, 1949). The possibilities for such arrangements are predetermined by the spatial design of the room. Hence, the complexity lies in defining spatial design aspects that accommodate the activities and the stuff stored and utilised within the space. This involves lengthy decision-making and problem-solving processes among the various stakeholders. Consequently, exploring the case of the kitchen allows for a comprehensive examination of the connected stakeholder processes and perspectives as well as the physical manifestation of spatial design.

1.1. Research questions and aim

The overall aim of this PhD research is to contribute to the knowledge development and the discussion on transitioning from a linear to a circular approach in the design, construction and utilisation of residential buildings. This is done by exploring spatial design and its contribution to circularity through three Research Questions (RQs), as shown in Table 1.

The RQs are investigated in four studies. Studies 1, 2 and 4 explore stakeholder processes and preferences concerning the design, construction, utilisation and alteration of residential buildings. Study 3 focuses on the physical manifestation of spatial design to identify its determining characteristics and assess their circular potential with input from the identified stakeholder preferences. Studies 1, 2 and 3 examine one dwelling function, the kitchen. Study 4 complements the first three studies by broadening the scope of the investigation to the overall building scale. The contribution of the four studies to the RQs is further explained in Chapter 4.

Research Questions (RQs)		Contributing Studies
RQ1	How could spatial design contribute to circularity in residential buildings?	Studies 1-2-3-4
RQ2	What are the gaps in the current spatial design solutions of residential kitchens when assessing their circular potential?	Studies 1-2-3
RQ3	How could stakeholder processes related to spatial design enhance circularity in residential buildings?	Studies 1-2-4

Table 1 – Summary of the RQs addressed in the thesis

1.2. Definitions of terms

In this thesis, specific terms are employed with distinct meanings, mostly introduced in relation to their associated concepts. The Glossary and Abbreviations chapter also provides a comprehensive collection of the most important terms. This includes not only those related to specific concepts but also terms crucial to define for understanding the content of this thesis. However, the terms 'spatial design', 'kitchen' and 'functionality' warrant special attention. These terms are used in a context-specific manner that forms the foundation of this thesis. The distinct meanings of these three terms are explained in the following.

In this thesis, spatial design is interpreted within the context of interior environments, referring specifically to the artefact rather than the process of design(ing). Drawing inspiration from the concept of shearing layers and their definitions (Schmidt & Austin, 2016,

p.55), spatial design is defined as the design of components of the shearing layers that shape the spatial enclosure of a specific dwelling function, thereby influencing the activities that occur within this space. Certain components of the layers of skin, structure, services, space plan and stuff determine how a dwelling function can be inhabited, utilised and altered over time (elaborated on in Sub-chapter 2.3.1). Traditionally, vertical and horizontal structures constitute the boundaries of a spatial enclosure (von Meiss, 2013). However, in multifunctional spaces (such as combined kitchen-living rooms), the boundaries are more fluid and difficult to define.

The kitchen, as a term, can be understood both as a dwelling function and a collection of furniture. To distinguish between these two meanings, in this thesis, the term kitchen refers to the space of the function and the term built-in and mobile furniture refers to the furnishing. This thesis acknowledges that the kitchen is a highly specific dwelling function in terms of its utilisation, the required infrastructure (electricity, plumbing, ventilation) and connected building regulations (the Swedish building regulations regarding kitchen design are highly programmed – explained in Sub-chapter 3.1). Therefore, in this thesis, the term kitchen is understood as the three-dimensional enclosure of the space (along with the connected infrastructure) in which activities associated with the kitchen occur.

Functionality refers to the quality of being useful, practical and suitable for the purpose of a dwelling function (e.g., the kitchen) for diverse individuals and groups of end-users forming various household types (inspired by the definition of functionality of the Cambridge Business English Dictionary, 2024). The kitchen's purpose can vary among individuals and groups of end-users depending on the activities performed in the space. As described earlier, nowadays, the activities occurring in the kitchen go beyond storing, preparing and consuming food. These activities include socialising with guests and household members, remote working, performing hobbies, playing with kids, sorting household waste or composting (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Sjöstrand, 2018; Willén, 2012). How the space of the kitchen is designed and furnished influences and is influenced by these activities. Therefore, it is increasingly important to explore how kitchens enable functionality and accommodate the expanding range of previously non-dominant activities.

1.3. Scope of research

This research is situated at the intersection of the domains of architecture and circularity, explicitly contributing to CBD by examining spatial design in supporting circularity in the building context. The primary subject of the explorations is residential buildings, more specifically, spatial design solutions contributing to circularity in multi-residential buildings. On the one hand, the research focuses on multi-residential buildings because of their high representation among residential buildings; rental and owner-occupied apartments represent 52% of the Swedish housing stock (Statistics Sweden, 2023). On the other hand, the design, construction and utilisation of multi-residential buildings involve a wide range of stakeholders, which provides a relevant case for examining the complex processes, preferences and reasonings related to spatial design. Moreover, dwellings in multi-residential buildings are often designed for unknown inhabitants, resulting in standardised design solutions that lack the possibility to be adapted to diverse end-user needs (Marco et al., 2021; Saarimaa & Pelsmakers, 2020). Additionally, housing developers tend to maximise their profits by constructing the most dwelling units with the smallest possible floor areas

on a specific plot of land (Marco et al., 2021; Saarimaa & Pelsmakers, 2020). These challenges are intriguing issues regarding transitioning to circularity in the context of multi-residential buildings. Nevertheless, the studies also include other types of residential buildings (villas, terraced houses) where end-users are more in control of their dwelling environment. This aimed to help understand and identify stakeholder preferences, which could be translated into multi-residential building design.

The work is situated in Sweden (the specificities of the Swedish context are explained in Chapter 3). The long tradition of housing and kitchen research in Sweden provided a foundation of knowledge to build upon and contribute to. Between the 1930s and 1990s, state-funded research focused on improving dwelling conditions by studying end-users' interaction with their space, furniture and utensils (Göransdotter & Redström, 2018). These studies resulted in functional requirements and adequate measurements for spatial and furniture design, which directly informed standards and regulations still in use today (BFS 2011:6). Exploring this thesis' topic in the Swedish context allowed expanding the well-established knowledge by analysing spatial design's contribution to a new circular paradigm.

As outlined in the introduction, spatial design's contribution to circularity in residential buildings is studied through the case of the kitchen. The spatial specificity of this dwelling function and the socio-cultural context (of the Swedish kitchen) delimited the generalizability and transferability of the results. To address this, Study 4 broadens the research scope to include aspects of spatial design for circularity at the building level and explores a broader European/Western context. Another delimitation is that the research focuses on design aspects and includes perspectives of key actors of the stakeholder network but does not address considerations of economic and business models in depth. Additionally, this thesis focuses on residential buildings or healthcare facilities.

The thesis employs an architectural perspective in investigating spatial design in residential buildings. Hence, the primary audience of this thesis is architects engaged in housing design or research. The results and recommendations of this thesis are also relevant for housing developers as clients of the architects and managers of buildings. Additionally, considering the recent changes proposed to the Swedish building regulations (Boverket, 2020), this thesis should be of interest to legislative bodies and policymakers providing input for the formulation of functional requirements regarding the spatial design of residential buildings. Furthermore, the kitchen-specific results and discussions provide insight for manufacturers and building product developers. Finally, (my sincere hope is that) the results of this research can guide the general public (as end-users) to adopt more sustainable behaviour patterns to reduce the environmental, economic and social impacts of everyday domestic life.

1.4. Project context

This thesis was carried out in the Circular Kitchen (CIK) project. The CIK project aimed to develop innovative solutions for designing, testing and distributing circular kitchen furniture that is made of renewable and recyclable materials, easy to repair, refurbish, assemble and disassemble, reduces resource use, consumption and waste generation and is economically competitive with current products. The project involved theoretical knowledge-building, prototyping and testing new CE-based kitchen furniture designs and business models. The

project was conducted in collaboration with academic (TU Delft) and industry partners (housing developers, kitchen furniture producer, appliance producer) in a transdisciplinary setting, involving researchers and practitioners from architecture and product design.

As part of the CIK project, five doctoral students (including me) were conducting their research studies (three in Sweden at Chalmers University of Technology and two in the Netherlands at TU Delft) under the guidance of a group of senior researchers. Each thesis had a different focus, but all were connected to the shared goal of developing circular design solutions. The research areas of the five theses complemented each other, contributing to the knowledge in overlapping areas of CBD. My role was to explore the spatial design of kitchens to identify key characteristics and their potential to support circularity in residential buildings. The other doctoral students studied user behaviour patterns related to resource use in the kitchen (Hagejärd, 2020), the role of collaboration in developing circular design solutions (Dokter, 2023), the development of design and life cycle assessment tools and stakeholder preferences towards circular building components (van Stijn, 2023) and financial and business models related to circular kitchen design (Wouterszoon Jansen et al., 2020; Wouterszoon Jansen et al., 2022a, 2022b). The academic collaboration between the junior and senior researchers of the two universities resulted in multiple co-authored publications.

The CIK project served as a data collection opportunity for my research. The initial partner workshops helped me to understand kitchen-related processes and stakeholder networks, which provided input for Study 1. The end-user studies performed in collaboration with the other doctoral students revealed insights into stakeholder design preferences (the subject of exploration in Study 2). My other investigations (Studies 3-4) were carried out in parallel with the activities of the CIK project. My study results provided input for the development of the furniture design.

1.5. Reading instruction and outline of the thesis

This PhD thesis builds on and continues the research published in my Licentiate thesis (Ollár, 2021). In Sweden, a Licentiate degree is recognised as a pre-doctoral degree and is awarded to doctoral students after completing approximately half of their doctoral study (SFS 1993:100). My Licentiate thesis included the circular value assessment of the design preferences of industry stakeholders (Study 1 - Paper A) and the preliminary results of the kitchen floorplan analysis focusing on the adaptive capacity (as a measure of circular potential) of the spatial design (Study 3 - Paper C). This dissertation complements the work of the Licentiate thesis by including end-user preferences regarding the spatial design of kitchens (Study 2 - Paper B) and exploring adaptability (as a key element of spatial design supporting circularity) within applied circular design strategies in residential buildings (Study 4 - Paper D). This PhD thesis synthesises the results of the four studies while situating the work within the existing literature, explaining methodological choices and discussing the results in a broader context than the papers allowed for.

The thesis is structured as follows. Chapter 1 introduces the primary motivation behind the thesis work and presents the research question, aim, scope and project context. Chapter 2 describes the research field, presents definitions and concepts connected to circular economy, circular buildings and CBD and outlines theoretical considerations. Chapter 3 summarises the specificities of the Swedish context and kitchen design. Chapter 4 explains

the intersubjective research approach, the two-phased research design and the qualitative and quantitative (mixed) methods employed in the thesis. In Chapter 5, the results of Studies 1-4 are briefly reviewed and the validation of the key results is summarised. In Chapter 6, the research questions are answered by discussing the results in relation to the literature. Chapter 7 highlights the main contributions and conclusions of the thesis and identifies further research pathways. The four papers (Paper A-D) are appended at the end of the booklet.

2. Background

This chapter introduces relevant literature on CBD. First, the definition of the CE concept (as adopted in this thesis) and related fundamental principles (closed reversible loops, value creation and retention, integral approach) are explained. Second, the interpretation of circularity in the built environment and the definition of circular buildings are outlined. Third, concepts and strategies supporting CBD are presented. This is followed by an overview of the societal and behavioural dimensions of a circular built environment. Finally, the theoretical considerations that form the methodological foundation of this thesis are explained.

2.1. Circular economy and its fundamental principles

As the concept of CE gained increasing interest, an abundance of interpretations of the meaning of CE became available (Blomsma & Brennan, 2017). In this thesis, two CE definitions are used in combination. While the definition of Kirchherr et al. (2017) captures CE's contribution to sustainability, it focuses exclusively on material cycles. The CE definition of Geissdoerfer et al. (2017) compliments the one of Kirchherr et al. (2017) by expanding the focus to resources in general, including the concept of slowing, narrowing and closing loops and broadening the examples of the value retention processes. Therefore, the combination of these two definitions provides an adequate interpretation of CE for the subject of this thesis:

The circular economy is a regenerative system that replaces the 'end-of-life' concept for resources by slowing, closing and narrowing loops through longlasting design, maintenance, repair, reuse, remanufacturing, refurbishing and recycling in production, distribution and consumption processes to accomplish sustainable development, thus simultaneously creating environmental quality, economic prosperity and social equity, to the benefit of current and future generations.

A growing body of research is examining the contribution of CE to sustainable development (Merli et al., 2018). A significant portion of this research draws upon the work of the Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2013) which lays out the core principles of a CE: a set of closed reversible loops for technical and biological materials (Figure 1). The work of the Ellen MacArthur Foundation builds on previous concepts, such as the self-replenishing system (Stahel, 1982), biomimicry (Benyus, 1997), cradle-to-cradle (McDonough & Braungart, 2002), industrial symbiosis (Ayres & Ayres, 2002), regenerative design (Hes & Du Plessis, 2015) and eco-design (Anastas & Zimmerman, 2003; Brezet et al., 1997; Ricard et al., 2023). The primary goals of these concepts – including CE – are to keep resources in their original utilisation at their highest value as long as possible and, afterwards, at the end-of-life, recirculate resources to eliminate waste (den Hollander et al., 2017; Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2015; Webster, 2017).

A fundamental approach to managing resources in a CE is establishing narrowing, slowing and closing loops (Bocken et al., 2016). Narrowing the loops reduces the amount of resources used throughout the lifetime of a product. Slowing loops keep resources in their current function by mending them if needed until they can no longer fulfil their designated purpose. Once resources reach their end of life, it is crucial to implement closing loops to retrieve valuable resources and recycle them into new products. Narrowing, slowing and closing loops can be facilitated through value retention processes such as the ones summarised by the 9R framework of Potting et al. (2017): refuse, rethink, reduce, reuse, repair, refurbish, remanufacture, repurpose, recycle and recover.



Figure 1 – The closed reversible loops of a CE (based on Bocken et al., 2016; Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2013; Potting et al., 2017)

Implementing the value retention processes requires an integral approach, meaning that it is crucial to align the technical model (design) with viable business models (marketing and financing) and throughout the entire industrial model (supply chain or stakeholder network) (Bocken et al., 2016; van Stijn & Gruis, 2019). While design plays a pivotal role in achieving circularity, with an estimated 80% of the circular potential of products being defined at the design stage (European Commission, 2012), it needs to be supported by compatible business models. In contrast to linear business models, circular business models focus on value creation (Nußholz, 2017; Richardson, 2008) and incentivise value capture through capitalising on the value retention processes (Achterberg et al., 2016) throughout the entire industrial model. In this thesis, the industrial model refers to the stakeholder network, including the end-user, as previous literature emphasises their crucial role in developing circular products and services (Daae et al., 2018; Lofthouse & Prendeville, 2018; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017; Selvefors et al., 2019). In the industrial model, collaboration is an important aspect of value creation (Bocken et al., 2013). Previous research shows that an early engagement of the entire stakeholder network in the collaborative development of a circular product or service is an important factor in successfully implementing the CE concept (Dokter et al., 2021). Through such collaboration, the stakeholders can define and align their circular value proposition, the cornerstone of the accompanying business and technical models (Bocken et al., 2013). The lack of such collaboration in current industrial models is a challenge in transitioning to a CE (Adams et al., 2017; Hart et al., 2019).

While this thesis acknowledges the importance of the integral approach, the studies did not investigate the technical, business and industrial models to an equal extent. The primary focus was on one aspect of the technical model of residential buildings (spatial design's contribution to CBD). With regard to the industry model, the investigations explored the perspectives of selected key stakeholders connected to kitchens while acknowledging that they represent only a fragment of the overall residential design process. Furthermore, the research did not address compatible business models, although aspects of value creation have been explored in Study 1.

2.2. Circular buildings in a circular built environment

Transitioning to a circular built environment is promoted as a potential remedy for the environmental effects of the current linear processes (as outlined in Chapter 1). Such transition needs to address the intertwined system of the micro-level (building components, materials), the meso-level (buildings) and the macro-level (cities, urban areas, settlements) elements of the built environment (Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). Therefore, circularity (just like sustainability (Ceschin & Gaziulusoy, 2016)) "needs to be understood as a property of a system [...], rather than a property of an individual product or service" (Konietzko et al., 2020, p.2). Hence, incorporating CE approaches in buildings can only fulfil their potential if adopted across the whole system.

In pursuit of comprehending the systems-level implications of interpreting circularity in the building context, Leising et al. (2018) suggest that applying a CE approach "optimizes the buildings' useful lifetime, integrating the end-of-life phase in the design and uses new ownership models where materials are only temporarily stored in the building" (p.977). Pomponi & Moncaster (2017) define the concept of a circular building as "a building that is designed, planned, built, operated, maintained and deconstructed in a manner consistent with CE principles" (p.771). Another definition of circular building is "[the manifestation of] the dynamic total of associated processes, materials and stakeholders that accommodate circular flows of building materials and products at optimal rates and utilities" (Geldermans et al., 2019b, p.2).

As the diverse definitions illustrate, there is no consensus regarding interpreting circular buildings. In this thesis, combining and building on previous interpretations, circular buildings are defined as buildings designed, planned, built, operated, maintained and deconstructed while minimising resource use, waste and emissions through systematically applying value retention processes to slow, narrow and close loops in the associated technical, business and industrial models throughout the entire lifespan of the buildings. Expanding on this definition in line with the arguments of Cambier (2022), this thesis advocates that "how circular a building is [or was] can only be determined at the end of its service life" (p.34). Implementing circular design strategies in buildings establishes and predetermines its circular potential (Cambier, 2022). Despite the use of the term 'circular potential' in the literature related to circular buildings (Antonini et al., 2020; Cambier, 2022; Gomes et al., 2022), a definition of the term is yet to be established. In this thesis, circular potential is understood as the accumulated capacity of products or services that contributes

to optimising the value retention loops throughout the entire lifespan of said products or services.

Although interest regarding CE in the built environment has increased, there is still only a limited number of built examples of circular buildings (Cambier et al., 2021) and circular products are scarce (Minunno et al., 2018; Ness & Xing, 2017). Most examples are pilot projects focusing on office and commercial buildings, only addressing a few value retention processes and failing to undertake a systems approach (Cambier et al., 2021; Dokter, 2023; Kozminska, 2019). In current practice, there is a focus on closing loops by tackling the endof-life scenario of buildings, such as demolition waste management and reuse of building components and materials (Askar et al., 2022; Dokter et al., 2021; Kozminska, 2019; Munaro et al., 2020). The selective application of the value retention processes is due to a combination of barriers such as cultural barriers (e.g., hesitant company culture, lack of collaboration among stakeholders), regulatory barriers (e.g., obstructing laws and regulations, lack of incentives for CE), market barriers (e.g., high upfront investment costs, low virgin material prices) and technological barriers (e.g., lack of standardisation, lack of design and collaboration tools, long product lifecycles) (Hart et al., 2019; Kirchherr et al., 2018). To overcome these barriers, it is necessary to investigate currently under-explored value retention processes connected to narrowing and slowing loops and incorporate them into CBD.

2.3. Circular building design

In this thesis, circular building design refers to a design approach that supports the development of circular buildings. The following sub-chapters outline important approaches, definitions and strategies within CBD that are relevant to this thesis's scope.

2.3.1. Systems approach in circular building design

As previously outlined, it is essential to consider CBD from a systems-level perspective. Existing studies also advocate for using a systems approach in circular design (Bocken et al., 2016; Geldermans, 2016; Mendoza et al., 2017; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). The systems approach empowers designers to transcend specific problems and examine the broader system in which these problems are situated (Meadows, 2008). This holistic perspective allows for identifying and resolving root causes rather than merely addressing symptoms. A systems approach within the building context means considering the building as a combination of all parts, much the same as the shearing layers concept (Schmidt & Austin, 2016, building on the works of Brand (1994) and Duffy (1992)), considers buildings as a combination of eight layers (Figure 2):

- surroundings (physical context in which the building sits),
- site (the lot the building sits on),
- skin (façade and roof elements),
- structure (foundation and load-bearing parts),
- services (infrastructures electrical wires, plumbing, ventilation, heating, etc.),
- space plan (room organisation, partition walls, flooring),
- stuff (furnishings),
- social (humans in and around the building; e.g., end-users, owners, neighbourhood communities).

These various layers possess lifespans that vary from as short as a few days (stuff) to as long as millennia (site). The manner in which they are interconnected determines their ability to be repaired or replaced. This thesis (and particularly Study 4) adopts the shearing layer model of Schmidt & Austin (2016) to describe the boundaries and interactions among system elements. However, one distinction in adopting the model is that the social layer is considered as 'input' for design solutions rather than something that should be 'designed'.

As introduced earlier (Sub-chapter 1.2), spatial design is defined by the layers of skin, structure, services, space plan, stuff and social. For instance, window placements and orientation of the façade (skin) affect access to daylight and the structural design of the whole building (e.g., slab dimensions, column placements, ceiling height) influences the design and utilisation of the interior spaces. Spatial design also relies on function-specific services (e.g., electricity, plumbing, ventilation), is delineated by components of the space plan (e.g., partition walls, room connections) and hosts built-in and mobile furniture (stuff). Additionally, the social interaction anticipated within the space should guide how these components are designed. Hence, the design of the shearing layers as an interconnected system impacts the spatial design. Therefore, to implement a holistic systems approach to CBD, it is essential to consider the implications of spatial design across the shearing layers.



Figure 2 – Shearing layers (adapted from Schmidt & Austin, 2016)

2.3.2. Synthesising and assessing circular building design

To support design professionals in creating circular buildings, there is a wide range of frameworks and tools (Askar et al., 2022). These frameworks and tools primarily address basic design principles (Askar et al., 2022) and do not meet the needs of practitioners (Cambier et al., 2021). Instead of general guidelines, practitioners need support in synthesising CBD solutions (generative aids) and assessing the circularity of the generated solutions (evaluative aids) (van Stijn & Gruis, 2019). With regard to evaluative aids, material flow analysis and life cycle analysis tools are being developed to assess the circularity of building design solutions. However, these tools focus on environmental aspects and evaluate the building design as a sum of the individual materials and components. As a

result, the tools do not assess the spatial design of buildings from a circularity perspective and lack considerations regarding social implications.

There is scattered literature on generative aids, presenting various frameworks and design guidelines for circular design. To synthesise the knowledge of the existing literature and adapt it to the building context, van Stijn & Gruis (2019) reviewed existing circular design frameworks. They developed a comprehensive design tool (circular building component generator) employing an integral approach to incorporate CBD strategies into the technical, business and industrial models. These CBD strategies support implementing the value retention processes to narrow, slow and close resource loops in the building context (Figure 3).

This thesis contributes to knowledge development on CBD strategies, specifically focusing on the strategy design for adaptability. The significance of design for adaptability in achieving circularity is frequently underscored in the literature (Cheshire, 2021; Dams et al., 2021). Despite the widely recognised significance of adaptability in the successful implementation of CBD, current frameworks and tools lack sufficient consideration of the subject (Askar et al., 2022).



Figure 3 - Circular building design strategies (based on van Stijn & Gruis, 2019)

2.3.3. Circular building adaptability

Adaptability refers to "the inherent properties in a building that gives [sic] it the ability to change or the relative ease with which it can be changed" (Heidrich et al., 2017, p.287). The concept of adaptability has a history dating back to the 1920s (Habraken, 1972). Today, it is explored as an aspect of achieving a circular built environment (Cheshire, 2021; Dams et al.,

2021). Hamida et al. (2022) compare the concepts of circularity and adaptability and point out that CBD relies on adaptability-driven solutions and the determinants of circularity and adaptability overlap. They formulate the term circular building adaptability, which is defined as "the capacity to contextually and physically alter the built environment and sustain its usefulness while keeping the building asset in a closed-reversible value chain" (Hamida et al., 2022, p.61).

Adaptable design solutions seemingly have many advantages that support circular design principles. Adaptable design could ensure extended lifespan for buildings and building components and optimised use of built-in resources (Geldermans et al., 2019a). Additionally, it could prevent premature obsolescence and redundant material flows (Kendall, 1999; Slaughter, 2001), which could reduce the environmental impact of buildings. Adaptable design solutions could also help end-users take control of their living environment by providing the possibility to adapt it to their needs and preferences (Braide, 2019; Habraken, 1972; Till & Schneider, 2005). In combination with well-dimensioned free floor areas, adaptability features proved to be beneficial when households needed to adapt to rapidly changing circumstances (e.g., lockdowns during the pandemic) (Marco et al., 2022). Furthermore, adaptable design solutions can potentially reduce long-term economic costs since the inherent ability of a building to adapt to changing demands would reduce the cost of extensive reconstruction (Pelsmakers & Warwick, 2022; Pinder et al., 2013; Slaughter, 2001). However, it is important to acknowledge that adaptable design solutions sometimes require higher initial investments during the building's construction phase, which should be supported by favourable financial incentives (Heidrich et al., 2017; Till & Schneider, 2005).

Despite the advantages of adaptable design solutions, successful implementation of adaptable housing design is rare (Tarpio et al., 2021). This is due to barriers, such as the lack of initial economic incentives (Schmidt & Austin, 2016), technical solutions (Cellucci & Sivo, 2014), practical guidelines and design tools (Askar et al., 2022) and regulatory support (Giorgi et al., 2022). The renowned interest in adaptability as an important principle for achieving circularity in the built environment (Askar et al., 2021) might facilitate opportunities to overcome the barriers.

Based on a literature review comparing and synthesising the concepts of circularity and adaptability, Hamida et al. (2022) identify ten determinants of circular building adaptability (Table 2). These determinants safeguard the long lifespan of buildings, diminish waste production and reduce the environmental impact of buildings (Hamida et al., 2022). Hamida et al. (2023) further investigate how circular building adaptability and its determinants were applied in adaptive reuse. Their findings show that the influencing factors for applying adaptability-related strategies were organisational (collaboration and partnerships, motivation and capability, conservative sector), economic (viability, feasibility), knowledge-based (expertise, technologies, warranties), regulatory (legal and legislative support) and building design-related (building characteristics).

Concerning building characteristics, Hamida et al. (2023) identify design strategies applied in the original building design that facilitated circular building adaptability during their adaptation. These strategies included overcapacity, modularity, standardisation, design for disassembly, flexible infrastructure systems, open floorplan concept, shared facilities, using recyclable or reused products, retrieving still functional products and materials, repairing and retaining building components, implementing renewable energy systems, installing

14

energy-efficient alternatives and strategically placed infrastructure cores. Hamida et al. (2023) conclude that while all circular building adaptability determinants were supported by some of these design strategies, in none of their studied cases (individually) were all determinants applied in a holistic and systematic way. The most supported circular building adaptability determinants were configuration flexibility, product dismantlability and material reversibility. At the same time, the least addressed determinants were functional convertibility and building maintainability. Furthermore, they observed that the original design decisions restricted the implementation of some circular building adaptability determinants, such as design regularity or volume scalability.

Since circular building adaptability research is an emerging field, research gaps still need to be explored. Previous works concerning circular building adaptability primarily focused on office and commercial buildings and explorations in the context of multi-residential buildings are still lacking. Furthermore, Hamida et al. (2022) highlight the need for a better understanding of how circular building adaptability could be enabled by design strategies and the need for "a practical and evidence-based framework" (Hamida et al., 2022, p.64) for the implementation of the concept.

Circular building adaptability determinants	Definition
Configuration flexibility	Changing the space layout without additional material flows.
Product dismantlability	Demounting building components without damage or waste and enabling their reuse.
Asset multi-usability	Using building assets for multiple purposes (e.g., multi-purpose spaces, shared facilities)
Design regularity	Designing buildings and their spatial configurations following regular patterns (e.g., modularity, standardised components)
Functional convertibility	Changing the primary function of the building (or a part of it).
Material reversibility	(Re)Using building materials as long and as effectively as possible in a reversible value chain.
Building maintainability	Prolonging the usefulness of buildings and sustaining their performance.
Resource recovery	Regenerating and reducing the resources consumed in the building (e.g., renewable energy techniques, natural ventilation and lighting).
Volume scalability	Expanding or shrinking buildings or building units.
Asset refit-ability	Refitting building assets to adjust them to improved requirements.

Table 2 - Overview of circular building adaptability determinants and their definitions (Hamida et al., 2022)

2.4. The societal and behavioural dimensions of a CE

The lack of a societal dimension of CE interpretations has been widely discussed, particularly in terms of neglecting key social factors such as consumption behaviour and the adoption of sufficiency-oriented lifestyles (Murray et al., 2017; Schulz et al., 2019). The literature on design for circularity needs to broaden its perspective to include a more theoretically informed understanding of how people behave and use products and services (Lofthouse & Prendeville, 2018).

There is a growing recognition that designers need to develop a richer understanding of end-user behaviour to effectively design for circularity (Daae et al., 2018; Lofthouse & Prendeville, 2018; Selvefors et al., 2019). This involves a shift from an economic and material focus to a more balanced approach that also considers the roles and behaviours of people in their everyday activities (Kirchherr et al., 2017; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017). For instance, new design strategies are needed to involve end-users in activities they may not have previously been involved in (Daae et al., 2018). These could include returning or reselling an item, self-repairing products, purchasing pre-owned or remanufactured items, renting rather than purchasing items, paying more for an item that will last longer and keeping and using items as they are instead of purchasing a new one (Daae et al., 2018). Smith (2014) emphasises that the success of many of these activities is deeply rooted in social connections. For instance, before repair is considered a potential solution, it is crucial to understand how people value, maintain, utilise and dispose of items (Smith, 2014). Such principles and considerations are also applicable to building components and products.

To frame research on CE for the built environment, Pomponi & Moncaster (2017) identify six key research dimensions (Figure 4). Pomponi & Moncaster (2017) highlight that research dimensions evolved over time as the initial green building research (investigating primarily environmental and technical dimensions) expanded with additional considerations regarding sustainability (economic and societal dimensions) and, later on, circularity (governmental and behavioural dimensions). Pomponi & Moncaster (2017) emphasise that "the greatest challenges that lie ahead will deal with the role of people, both as individuals and society as a whole" (p. 717.) and that interdisciplinary research is essential to address these challenges. Beyond the societal dimension, the behavioural aspect has surfaced as a pivotal component in the ongoing discourse towards achieving circularity in the built environment. Pomponi & Moncaster (2017) conclude that the societal and behavioural dimensions currently lack consideration in the literature connected to circular building research and there is a need to expand investigations within these areas.



Figure 4 – The evolution of the research dimensions of building research (adapted from Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017)

2.5. Theoretical perspective

The definitions, principles and design methodologies introduced in relation to circular buildings demonstrate that studying circularity in residential buildings, particularly focusing on spatial aspects, necessitates exploring complex systems of physical objects inhabited and used by various end-users. Consequently, a comprehensive understanding of this subject requires an examination of both social and material aspects of spatial design, as well as their implications for circularity. Therefore, this thesis examines spatial design inspired by spatial theory, a theoretical perspective within the approach of sociomateriality (Moura & Bispo, 2020).

The approach of sociomateriality enables researchers to study the entangled nature of social phenomena and materiality (Leonardi, 2012, 2013; Moura & Bispo, 2020; Orlikowski, 2007). These two aspects of sociomateriality mutually influence and shape each other (Leonardi, 2012, 2013; Moura & Bispo, 2020; Orlikowski, 2007). Materiality refers to the inherent properties of physical and non-physical objects, including material and form (Leonardi, 2012). Social phenomena include, for instance, discourses, decision-making, strategy formulation (Leonardi, 2012), symbols, meanings or desires (Fenwick, 2014). Sociomateriality is mainly used in organisation and management research to understand the relationship between technology and humans (Orlikowski, 2007). However, in architectural research, these theories have also proved helpful in investigating and discussing how end-users influence the evolution of space (e.g., Acton, 2017; Buser & Carlsson, 2017).

Socio-material studies primarily employ qualitative methods, although it is not unusual to see quantitative methods incorporated into the research design. For instance, Bispo (2015) noted that interviews focus mainly on participants' discourse and put less emphasis on material elements. In such cases, a quantitative method may complement the data collection and help understand the interrelationships of the social and material aspects. The employed methods often depend on the adopted theoretical perspective. Scholars can study socio-material questions from a broad spectrum of theoretical perspectives. Moura & Bispo (2020) identified seven theoretical perspectives that embrace socio-material approaches: new materialism, actor-network theory, cultural-historical activity theory, complexity theory, spatial theory, organisational aesthetics and science and technology studies.

This thesis adopts spatial theory's consideration of space. However, the research does not delve into the methodological doctrines of this theoretical perspective and does not attempt to engage in the scholarly debate related to the theoretical stances. Within spatial theory, space is a dynamic environment functioning as scenery for the activities of diverse actors and is shaped by simultaneous activities (Fenwick et al., 2011). This consideration of space is used in this thesis to understand how physical spaces create the social context and, in turn, how the social context influences the physical spaces. Although the separate studies did not incorporate spatial theory, the data collection and analysis methods used in the studies (interviews, workshops, focus group sessions, floorplan analysis) align with the methodologies of spatial theory. How the social and material aspects were studied in the research is further explained in Sub-chapter 4.2.

3. Swedish context

This chapter provides an overview of residential building design and kitchen design in the Swedish context. First, it presents an overview of the relevant characteristics, research and regulations connected to Swedish multi-residential housing. Second, a historical overview gives insight into the influencing factors that shaped Swedish kitchen design in the past century. Lastly, current end-user preferences related to kitchen design, as identified in the literature, are summarised.

3.1. Swedish multi-residential housing: characteristics, research and regulations

Apartments in multi-residential buildings represent 52% of the housing stock in Sweden, of which 58% are rental apartments and 42% are owner-occupied apartments (Statistics Sweden, 2023). The number of newly built multi-residential buildings has continuously increased in recent years (Statistics Sweden, 2024). The Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (Boverket) estimates that there is a need to build 60,000 new dwellings annually from 2021–2030 to meet the demand of the increasing population and tackle the current housing shortage (Boverket, 2021). The surge in demand is similar to what was experienced in the 1940s, a period marked by rapid urban growth and the recovery following World War II.

As a reaction to the increased housing demand and the inadequate housing solutions in the urban areas in the 1930s, various organisations and architects studied end-user perspectives and housing standards (e.g., Åkerman, 1941; Curman, 1944; Wærn-Bugge & Göransson-Ljungman, 1936). At the same time, the state recognised the need to improve the poor housing conditions and established institutions to, for instance, provide advantageous loans for building new homes (1941 - Statens byggnadslånebyrå [the National Swedish Construction Loan Agency]) and study and standardise adequate housing solutions (1942 - Statens kommitté för byggnadsforskning och byggstandardiseringen [the National Swedish Committee for Building Research and Building Standardization] and 1944 -Hemmets Forskningsinstitut (HFI) [the Home Research Institute]) (Nylander, 2018). The results of the housing studies were distributed through various publications (e.g., Algott, 1946)

The work of HFI focused on rationalising chores carried out in the home (Lee, 2018). This included research systematically studying end-user activities and habits, as well as the equipment needed to carry out tasks more efficiently and effortlessly (Göransdotter, 2020). The systematic research of housing design continued until the 1990s within the work of Konsumentinstitutet [the Swedish Consumer Agency] (previously HFI) and Statens institut för byggnadsforskning [the National Swedish Institute for Building Research]. During these decades, methodological procedures were developed, incorporating sociological and ethnological approaches (Nylander, 2018). The employed research methods included foremost qualitative data collection (such as interviews, home visits, photographing, floorplan drawings and observations of enactments in laboratories) combined with quantitative data collection (such as surveys and measuring dimensions of rooms, furniture and equipment) (Nylander, 2018). The evidence-based and end-user-focused findings of this continuous research directly informed the Swedish building regulation (BFS 2011:6).

In the 1990s, the state removed financial support from housing research and building development. As a result, the perpetuity of the Swedish housing research was disrupted and costs associated with building production dramatically increased (Nylander, 2018). Although the tact of housing research slowed down and the coordinated efforts dissolved, the subject remained of interest among researchers and architects. Between the 2000s and the 2020s, various independent research studies continued developing knowledge of evidence-based housing design. Amongst these, a group of researchers at Chalmers University of Technology also initiated Centrum för Boendets Arkitektur [Centrum for Housing Architecture] for practice-based research and collaboration with the industry. The practice-based research conducted by the Centrum for Housing Architecture continues to generate valuable insights through, for instance, evaluating residential buildings post-production (e.g., Granath et al., 2022; Nylander et al., 2021; Nylander & Braide, 2011).

Housing research performed after the 1990s highlighted that the architectural qualities of dwellings are important to end-users (Nylander, 1998). Nylander (1998) identifies seven architectural qualities: materials and detailing, axiality, enclosure, movements, shape of rooms, daylight and organisation of spaces. Six of these qualities relate to spatiality, which indicates spatial design's relevance for end-user satisfaction. However, preferences related to these qualities vary among end-users. Ekeblad (1997) describes the end-users of dwellings as a heterogeneous group and advocates for the need for various housing types. Additionally, end-user preferences cannot be described in finite terms; they change over time as their family situation and household compositions evolve (Braide, 2019; Werner, 2003). Previous research shows that dwellings have shortcomings in accommodating such changes (Braide, 2019). These shortcomings prevent households from effortlessly adjusting their dwellings, which in turn "undermines the longlivity [sic] of the housing stock" (Braide, 2019, p.163), contributes to unnecessary material flows (Femenías et al., 2018) and results in end-user dissatisfaction, leading to alterations to current floorplan designs (Femenías & Geromel, 2019; Tervo & Hirvonen, 2019). Femenías & Geromel (2019) found that an increased number of spatial alterations of dwellings might imply that the end-users prioritise a variety of spatial qualities other than those provided by the original floorplan design. One possible explanation is the difference between architects' perceptions regarding what endusers would appreciate and what end-users prefer (Braide, 2019; Werner & Grange, 2011). Braide (2019) further describes that design processes connected to residential architecture are characterised by a top-down approach that does not respond to the changing spatial requirements of households. Werner & Grange (2011) emphasise the importance of evaluating building projects post-production to learn about end-user preferences and implement learnings into new production. In conclusion, the housing research of the most recent decades shows the need to reintroduce studying end-user preferences regarding their dwelling to formulate functional requirements and design recommendations. Such studies are increasingly important in order to inform and update building regulations (Granath, in press).

Today, Plan- och byggförordningen (PBF) [the Swedish Planning and Building Regulation] (SFS 2011:338), Plan- och Bygglagen (PBL) [the Swedish Planning and Building Act] (SFS 2010:900) and Boverkets byggregler (BBR) [Boverket's Building Regulations] (BFS 2011:6) define the design of newly produced buildings. According to the PBF (SFS 2011:338), a dwelling has six distinctive functions that need designated spaces: sleep and rest, socialising,

cooking, dining, hygiene and storage. The BBR (BFS 2011:6) further specifies that a room or a separable part of a room needs to accommodate the functions of sleeping and resting, socialising and cooking. This formulation allows a more fluid spatial design of dwellings, where rooms with combined functions can be designed (e.g., combined kitchen-living room, sleeping alcove in the living room). To make separation possible, there must be a sufficient number of windows so that each room would have appropriate daylight conditions after separation. This regulation only applies to apartments larger than 55 m². According to Granath (in press), the current trend in the building sector is that a large portion of newly built apartments are just below the 55m² threshold to, for instance, avoid the requirement for daylight in the kitchen (e.g., having at least one window in the separated room of the kitchen).

Regarding kitchens, the BBR (BFS 2011:6) mandates that the built-in furniture and major appliances must be installed in the apartment upon delivery and remain there when the dwelling changes owners. Therefore, the design and construction processes connected to the kitchen are an integral part of a housing project. Currently, regulations and standards govern kitchens' minimal dimensions and furnishings. A proposal is under consideration to reduce these specifications to facilitate more cost-effective production of new multiresidential buildings. However, this proposal has sparked a debate on whether such changes would compromise the quality of dwellings for end-users (Boverket, 2023). Interestingly, this proposal has been put forth without conducting comprehensive research on contemporary end-user preferences. Additionally, despite the existence of national regulations and policies aimed at enhancing sustainability and circularity – such as Klimatlagen [the Swedish Climate Act] (SFS 2017:720) and Cirkulär ekonomi – strategi för omställningen i Sverige [Sweden's National Strategy for a Circular Economy] (Regeringskansliet, 2020) - these aspects have been largely overlooked in the proposal of the new building regulations. This highlights a need to reintroduce research-informed regulations (Granath, in press). Therefore, this thesis seeks to contribute to the tradition of Swedish housing research and the formulation of upcoming regulatory changes by exploring how spatial design could support the requirements of the emerging circular paradigm, with attention to aspects of end-user preferences.

3.2. Historical evolution of the Swedish kitchen

As the first step of my PhD studies, I carried out a literature review on the historical evolution of Swedish kitchen design over the past century. An extensive summary of this literature review was published as part of my Licentiate Thesis (Ollár, 2021, pp.9-20). The literature review helped me to understand the changes in the design of the Swedish kitchen and the influencing factors guiding these changes. These influencing factors were observed to be related to four categories: (1) lifestyle and societal changes, (2) governmental regulations, (3) technological advances and (4) kitchen research.

One of the most significant shifts in lifestyle and societal changes was the emancipation of women (Lee, 2018). While in the first half of the previous century, the kitchen was essentially the women's domain, this is not the case today. HFI's research primarily focused on women (the contemporary representative end-user group of the kitchen) and their tasks (Thiberg, 2007). In retrospect, the resulting guidelines, such as furniture or room dimensions, are comfortable or suitable for 33% of adults (Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985). Although women

still perform a significant portion of cooking and housework (European Institute for Gender Equality, 2016; Organisation for Economic Co-operation, 2023), there is no longer a representative end-user group active in the kitchen. As a result, the diverse individuals or groups of end-users possess a wide range of preferences regarding the functionality of their kitchen. There has also been a change in the activities performed in the kitchen. Earlier, the kitchen was seen as a hidden, dirty and noisy place where mostly food-related tasks were carried out (Lee, 2018). Even in the floorplan of a dwelling, the kitchen had a secluded location concealed from social spaces (Movilla Vega & Hallemar, 2017). Nowadays, the kitchen has a central role and location in the dwellings' room organisation to accommodate food-related activities (e.g., storing raw ingredients and equipment, cooking, cleaning, sorting waste), social events, hobbies and working from home (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Willén, 2012) To develop suitable design solutions, we must explore this shift in who and why uses the kitchen and the new activities occurring in the space.

As an aftermath of the Industrial Revolution(s), a large portion of the population migrated to urban areas at a rapid speed. To house the new dwellers of the cities, apartment buildings with low building standards were constructed (Movilla Vega & Hallemar, 2017). As described earlier, between the 1940s and 1980s, the research and recommendations of HFI played an active and robust role in creating evidence-based housing regulations. This role diminished when the state deregulated the building industry in the early 1990s. Today, a new wave of deregulation is in the plans, reducing the current requirements (Boverket, 2020). This shift in governmental regulations entails two significant concerns: (1) a lack of guidance from evidence-based research and (2) a lack of prioritising housing qualities supporting end-users' preferences and needs.

Technological advances enhanced the efficiency of tasks in the kitchen. First, establishing running hot and cold water, sewage systems and electricity in all homes made it easier to carry out kitchen choirs (Lee, 2018). Additionally, electrical (and smart) devices, such as small appliances (toaster, kettle, mixer, etc.), fridges, freezers, microwaves, stoves, ovens or dishwashers enable the end-users to execute their tasks faster and more efficiently. These devices have become an integrated part of almost all kitchens, reducing the time people spend on kitchen-related tasks and increasing spatial requirements to store and use these devices (Hagejärd et al., 2020). Furthermore, introducing prefabricated ingredients and meals also changed how food is purchased, stored and prepared at home (Lee, 2018). The large pantries and 'skafferi' cabinets (externally cooled small pantries in the kitchen often part of the built-in furniture) disappeared and were replaced by a few shelves in the built-in furniture. This shift in technological advances seems to be partially accommodated by the market and regulations (e.g., microwave ovens or dishwashers are often integrated into the built-in furniture in the original design). However, increased spatial requirements connected to appliances, food storage, work surfaces and waste sorting are possibly under-dimensioned and not addressed in current residential building design (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Marco et al., 2021; Sjöstrand, 2018).

As described earlier, the research of HFI focusing on the kitchen involved studying women performing kitchen-related tasks, measuring adequate heights and widths of the built-in furniture and experimenting with various kitchen equipment (Göransdotter, 2020; Lee, 2018). The researchers of HFI conducted a series of time studies in a laboratory kitchen, observing the tasks performed by housewives and considering their anatomical

characteristics (Göransdotter & Redström, 2018). This meticulous and systematic approach by HFI established the foundation for user-centred design methodologies in Sweden (Göransdotter & Redström, 2018). The findings of the work of HFI were a comprehensive guide to optimal kitchen design, which included specifications for the heights and widths of built-in furniture, the ideal number of cupboards, the placement of major appliances and the necessary storage space. These findings were disseminated through reports and books and contributed to developing the first building standard (Lee, 2018). However, this research tradition has been discontinued and new considerations, such as socio-technical changes and sustainability demands, have not been followed up.

In conclusion, lifestyle and social changes, as well as shifts in governmental regulations, technological advances and kitchen research, necessitate a renewed investigation of kitchen design. Furthermore, such an investigation must incorporate the emerging requirements of sustainability and circularity that present challenges to contemporary architectural design.

3.2.1. End-user preferences of kitchen design

My review of the literature on kitchen design (an extensive summary is available in Ollár, 2021, pp.30-36) shows that guidelines regarding the design of kitchens are widely available in publications based on the findings of the housing research of the 20th century. One of the most comprehensive summaries of these guidelines is published in the book *Kök: planering och utformning* [Kitchen: planning and design] by Alice Thiberg (Thiberg, 2007). However, only a limited number of in-depth evaluations have been conducted on how well these guidelines are followed in residential building design and how satisfied end-users are with the kitchen design in their dwellings.

Nylander & Braide (2011) investigate end-user satisfaction related to their dwellings in a neighbourhood of Gothenburg built between 1969 and 1972. Their findings show that end-users appreciate a good connection between the living room and the kitchen, large spaces for socialising, access to a balcony and a spacious dining area. However, many interviewees expressed that the size of the apartment and the kitchen were not sufficient for their households' needs. This indicates that the design solutions realised in older buildings do not fully meet current end-user preferences. Similarly, another study of a recently built multi-residential building complex (finished in 2019) shows that certain design features of the dwellings, such as the spacious combined-kitchen living room, large windows providing daylight and outlook, ample work surfaces, generous storage spaces and a kitchen well-connected to other rooms in the apartment were highly appreciated by the residents (Nylander et al., 2021). Nevertheless, these features are not always present in recently built multi-residential buildings; especially smaller apartments lack these appreciated design solutions (Granath et al., 2022).

Contemporary designs typically feature a combined kitchen-living room (Nylander, 2018; Willén, 2012), reflecting the kitchen's evolution from a separate service zone to the dwelling's heart (Brkanić et al., 2018). Combined kitchen-living rooms are created to save floor area (m²) in apartments (Thiberg, 2007) and to provide a larger room for family gatherings (Nylander, 2018). This design solution is meant to establish a feeling of spaciousness and enable social activities (Nowakowski, 2015), which end-users often appreciate (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Nylander et al., 2021). However, disadvantages include noise disturbance from cooking activities or the visual impact of an untidy kitchen (Thiberg,
2007). Tervo & Hirvonen (2019) surveyed a large number (n = 1,453) of 'solo dweller' households living in one-room apartments. Their findings show that even though open floorplans were the most popular among respondents (56%), a significant portion (40%) of participants would have preferred a separate kitchen. They further highlight that this contradicts the current design trend in dwellings as they are usually built with combined kitchen-living rooms.

A similar phenomenon is observed in a study exploring alterations performed by endusers in apartments of multi-residential buildings built between 2001 and 2008 (Femenías & Geromel, 2019). Femenías & Geromel (2019) note that kitchens were combined with or separated from living rooms in almost equal number of cases (Femenías & Geromel, 2019). The end-user-driven alterations often resulted in a larger kitchen floor area that was expanded into the living room. This was usually possible in the larger apartments thanks to the available free floor areas. However, some residents of the larger apartments have expressed dissatisfaction, noting that the size of their kitchens and available work surfaces were not sufficient for their households. To mitigate this issue, the built-in furniture was replaced in some cases and the residents mostly opted for a new L-kitchen typology complemented by a kitchen island or tall cupboard unit (Geromel, 2016).

The small size of the kitchen, along with insufficient work surfaces, storage spaces and daylight sources, are also reported in the interview study of Hagejärd et al. (2020). The interviewees expressed that, whenever feasible, changes were made to address these shortcomings of the original design. The motivations behind the changes were functional needs, aesthetical preferences, obsolete parts of the furniture or room and other alterations already ongoing in the dwelling (Hagejärd et al., 2020).

In conclusion, although existing studies have provided insight into contemporary enduser preferences for some aspects of kitchen design, there is a gap in the literature. Namely, further research is needed to explore end-user preferences concerning more comprehensive aspects of the spatial design of kitchens. This means going beyond the size of the room or its connection to other parts of the home and delving into the nuances of spatial design. Factors such as the placement of the built-in furniture, windows and doors, the location and size of dining areas and infrastructure systems also impact end-user satisfaction (Thiberg, 2007). By gaining a more profound understanding of end-user preferences, spatial design solutions that support circularity in residential buildings could be prioritised.

4. Methodology

To articulate the methodological choices of this research, Groat & Wang (2013) distinctions between systems of inquiry (set of assumptions and worldviews), schools of thought (theoretical perspective), strategy (research design) and tactics (methods) are employed. An intersubjective approach was adopted to establish the worldview and knowledge construction pathways of the research. Spatial theory was used as a theoretical perspective for understanding and studying the research subject (spatial design). Through a two-phased research design, a mixed-method approach was implemented, combining qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis methods. The following sub-chapters describe these approaches, theories and methods and provide the reasoning behind and reflections on the connected methodological choices.

4.1. Worldview and knowledge construction

The intersubjective approach lies between positivism and constructivism. While positivism "assume[s] the existence of a reality that can be objectively described or measured" (Groat & Wang, 2013, p.77), constructivism takes a more subjective stance and embraces multiple realities that are socially constructed (Groat & Wang, 2013). The intersubjective approach lies between these two poles of worldviews and knowledge constructions. Adopting such an approach was guided by dualities connected to the subject of this thesis. On the one hand, capturing stakeholder preferences and behaviour patterns required a subjective approach. On the other hand, the stakeholders were situated in established systems which could be described and measured objectively. To capture this duality, the intersubjective approach provided a suitable ground for knowledge construction.

Epistemologically, the intersubjective approach has two characteristics: (1) the researcher is an integral element of the sociocultural subject under study and (2) knowledge is created through exploring qualitative and quantitative aspects of the studied phenomenon (Groat & Wang, 2013). Following this approach, the research was carried out in collaboration with the research team (including myself), the industry partners and the participants in the research activities. This qualitative collaborative knowledge development aimed to explore relationships, interactions and design preferences among stakeholders and was complemented by studies seeking to describe characteristics of the physical manifestation of space through a quantitative approach. This combination of qualitative and quantitative focus defined the epistemological grounds of the thesis, which also influenced the research design (see Sub-chapter 4.3).

Ontologically, the intersubjective approach acknowledges "diverse realities situated in a socio-cultural context" in which shared understandings of those realities are possible (Groat & Wang, 2013, p.76). This view allowed studying the complex engagement between social and material aspects within spatial design and circularity in the Swedish/Western context. The studies explored this complexity through the diverse perspectives of groups of individuals with shared value systems (stakeholders such as housing developers, architects, kitchen furniture producers, real estate brokers and end-users). These perspectives constructed the multiple realities embraced by the intersubjective approach. Constructing a shared understanding of these various realities was imperative to conceptualise spatial design in circularity.

4.2. Social and material aspects explored in the studies

As outlined in Sub-chapter 2.5, in this thesis, spatial theory was employed as a theoretical perspective. This means that spatial design was studied as an entangled phenomenon of social and material aspects. The social phenomena were studied through selected key stakeholders' processes and design preferences and materiality was examined by analysing aspects of spatial design in dwellings. It is important to acknowledge that the selected social and material aspects are not exhaustive; instead, they represent the most important segments identified during the collaborative knowledge development with the industry partners of the CIK project and the study participants.

The four studies of this thesis explored social and material aspects with varying focus and depth (Table 3). Overall, social aspects were studied through processes and preferences of the selected stakeholder groups and material aspects were investigated by analysing the physical manifestation of spatial design in kitchens. In Study 1, stakeholders included representatives of a housing developer, three architectural firms, a kitchen furniture producer, a contractor, a real estate broker and one end-user. These stakeholders were selected based on their crucial role in and contribution to developing and realising current design solutions in residential buildings. As Study 1 primarily focused on the industry stakeholders, Study 2 complemented the identified processes and perspectives by exploring end-user views as a crucial factor in developing viable circular solutions (Daae et al., 2018; Lofthouse & Prendeville, 2018; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017; Selvefors et al., 2019). Through Studies 1 and 2, the goal was to understand the design, construction, use and modification of kitchens and the underlying reasonings behind connected decisions. This understanding was important in describing current design processes and solutions and providing reflections on them when considering the new circular paradigm. The identified stakeholder processes and perspectives of Studies 1 and 2 called for comparison with existing design solutions to identify discrepancies between desired and actual outcomes and their alignment with the principles of circularity. Hence, Study 3 delved into material aspects by identifying kitchens' spatial characteristics, describing current design solutions and assessing the solutions' circular potential. The results of the first three studies suggested that spatial designs' contribution to circularity lies within functionality and adaptability. In line with the literature, Study 3 highlighted the need to strengthen adaptability considerations in the context of CBD. Therefore, Study 4 investigated how architects, as key stakeholders of the design process, consider and incorporate adaptability into CBD.

	Social aspects	Material aspects
Study 1	Processes and preferences of key stakeholder groups: housing developers, architects, kitchen furniture producers, constructors, real estate brokers and end-users	The design, construction, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's (spatial) design
Study 2	Processes and preferences of one stakeholder group: end-users	The design, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's spatial design
Study 3	Enabling stakeholder preferences through spatial design	Spatial characteristics of kitchens Current design solutions for kitchens Circular potential of kitchens' spatial design
Study 4	Design processes and reasonings of architects in connection to CBD projects	Circular design strategies Adaptability features

Table 3 - The social and material aspects studied in the four studies

4.3. Research design

This thesis includes four studies (Table 4) published in four papers (see appendices). The studies were carried out through a mixed-method approach. Additionally, a two-phased research design was applied to align and integrate the studies. The following sub-chapters describe the mixed-method approach and the two-phased research design while introducing the data collection and analysis methods applied in the studies.

	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	Study 4
Aim	Exploring industry stakeholders' processes and preferences connected to the design, construction and utilisation of the kitchen's design	Exploring end-user processes and preferences connected to the design, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's spatial design	Identifying spatial characteristics and assessing the circular potential of spatial design	Identifying adaptability strategies in CBD and enhancing circular building adaptability in residential architecture
Data	Semi-structured	Semi-structured	Archival documents	Semi-structured
collection	Interviews Workshop	Interviews Floorplan drawings	(floorplan drawings)	Interviews
	Focus group			
Data	Qualitative content	Qualitative	Floorplan analysis	Qualitative
analysis	analysis	content analysis	Descriptive statistics	content analysis
	Value mapping	Floorplan analysis		
RQ	RQ1, RQ2, RQ3	RQ1, RQ2, RQ3	RQ1, RQ2	RQ1, RQ3
Output	Paper A	Paper B	Paper C	Paper D
	journal paper	conference paper	journal paper	journal paper

Table 4 - The research design of the thesis

4.3.1. Mixed method approach

A mixed method approach was applied in alignment with and based on the intersubjective approach and spatial theory. Foremost qualitative data collection and analysis methods were combined with quantitative ones. This choice was called for by investigating spatial design's entangled social and material aspects and the complexity of circularity in the building context (as described in Chapter 2). The qualitative explorations focused on the processes and perspectives of stakeholders (social aspects) and analysed them through an interpretive process. Through this approach, the aim was to understand spatial design in the context of circularity and the associated relationships, meanings and values. The quantitative investigations helped provide a descriptive overview of a large sample of apartment floorplans to analyse the material aspects. A mix of these methods complemented and strengthened the qualitative interpretation of empirical material with quantitative data (and vice versa).

Studies 1, 2 and 4 used qualitative data collection and analysis. In these studies, data was collected primarily through semi-structured interviews. In Study 1, in addition to the interviews, a workshop helped identify potential interview participants and the results of the interviews were validated in a focus group session. In Study 2, the interview study was complemented with a floorplan analysis. Using interviews as the primary data collection method allowed to explore stakeholders' processes, preferences and reasonings. The

strengths of a qualitative approach include its ability to handle vast quantities of rich data and assess real-life situations (Groat & Wang, 2013). However, guidelines for conducting qualitative research are open to context-specific adaptation and sensitive to interpretations and perceived meanings (Groat & Wang, 2013). To mitigate these weaknesses, Studies 1, 2 and 4 were developed based on established methodologies for systematic and reliable research (Flick, 2018c; Gioia et al., 2012).

To complement and strengthen the qualitative interpretation of the empirical material, Study 3 was designed with a quantitative approach. Archival documents of apartment floorplan drawings were collected to assess spatial design. Due to the lack of tools suitable to assess the identified spatial characteristics, in Study 3, a novel spatial analytical framework and adaptive capacity assessment criteria were developed. The results of the assessments were summarised through descriptive statistics (Fisher & Marshall, 2009; Thompson, 2009). The quantitative approach enabled the analysis of the breadth of the studied phenomenon (Groat & Wang, 2013). However, this approach needed a provision for understanding the depth of the material. In particular, meanings and non-statistical correlations were unlikely to be discovered (Groat & Wang, 2013). Consequently, the results of Study 3 were linked to the qualitative investigations of Studies 1, 2 and 4.

4.3.2. Two-phased research design

Groat & Wang (2013) argue that a mixed method approach is not merely mixing qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis in research; the relationship between the methods needs to be aligned and integrated. Therefore, while outlining the mixed method approach of this thesis, a two-phased research design (Groat & Wang, 2013) was used. This means that the studies were designed to combine investigations into a sequence building on and complementing the results of the other inquiries. A fundamental aspect of the twophased research design of this thesis was that the studies were carried out mostly parallel, providing input to each other simultaneously. Hence, the four studies should be understood not as a linear course of knowledge development but as an intertwined exploration of the complex phenomenon of the subject.

	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024
Study 1 - Paper A		DC, DA, W	', P				
Study 2 - Paper B		DC		al leave	DA, W, P		
Study 3 - Paper C			DA, W	Parenta	Р		
Study 4 - Paper D						DC, DA, W, P	

data collection (DC), data analysis (DA), writing process (W), publishing process (P)

Figure 5 – Timeline of the studies and resulting publications

To help the reader navigate the narrative of this dissertation, it is important to clarify the timeline and sequence of the studies. With regard to the timeline (Figure 5), the studies were initiated in the order of Study 1, Study 2, Study 3 and Study 4. However, the

corresponding papers were published in the order of Paper A, Paper C, Paper B and Paper D. The reversed order of publishing Paper C and B was due to the large scale of the data analysed in Study 3 requiring sole focus. Hence, the work on Paper B was halted and only continued after the submission of Paper C. Due to the reversed publishing order of Paper C and Paper B, the comparison of end-user preferences and the existing spatial design of apartment floorplans in Study 3 could not consider the results of Study 2. Instead, this comparison had to rely on the literature on contemporary end-user preferences regarding kitchen design.

Regarding the sequence of the studies, each study built on the results of the preceding studies. In the early stages of the research, the investigations of Study 1 facilitated the research orientation while exploring contemporary kitchen designs with an underlying aim of facilitating circularity in a residential context. For this reason, Study 1 had several objectives: (1) to identify circular value opportunities for the built environment by examining stakeholder activities and the value proposition associated with Swedish kitchens, (2) to explore relations and processes among stakeholders and their preferences and priorities regarding kitchen designs, (3) to develop an understanding of how kitchens are commissioned, designed, built and installed and (4) to anchor the focus of the overall PhD research. The main contribution of Study 1 was identifying spatial design as an important factor for circularity in the residential context. Additionally, the results pointed out research gaps that were pursued in further studies. First, Study 1 indicated important spatial characteristics that determine the spatial design of the kitchen. These characteristics needed to be further explored to identify all of which contribute to the spatial design of kitchens. Second, Study 1 provided insights into industry stakeholders' processes and preferences regarding kitchen design, including spatial aspects. This needed to be complemented by an exploration of end-user preferences. These new inquiries were carried out in Study 2 and Study 3.

Study 2 was designed to explore the end-user perspectives connected to the spatial design of kitchens. Additionally, Study 2 examined end-user alterations performed in their kitchens, comparing the spatial design before and after the alterations in floorplan drawings. The choice of exploring spatial alterations was based on the interest in investigating adaptability as an important principle of circularity that fundamentally relates to spatial design. Study 2 revealed end-users' preferences and priorities regarding the spatial design of the kitchen, complementing the industry perspectives of Study 1. At that stage, the research data outlined that spatial design's contribution to circularity lies in functionality and adaptability. Thus, the pursuing studies explored how functionality and adaptability were enabled or could be enhanced through spatial design.

Complementing Studies 1 and 2 (which focused primarily on the social aspects), Study 3 explored the materiality of spatial design by assessing the functionality and adaptability of floorplans. The aim was to compare stakeholder preferences and existing design guidelines with actual design solutions in contemporary residential buildings and their alignment with the circular paradigm. The functionality of space was explored by identifying and assessing determinants of a space (spatial characteristics). This assessment revealed current design solutions related to the kitchen, which was compared with the stakeholder preferences and design guidelines identified in Study 1 and previous literature. Adaptability was assessed through the adaptive capacity indicators of current design solutions connected to the

identified spatial characteristics. Due to the lack of suitable tools available to perform the assessments, in Study 3, a novel spatial analytical framework and adaptive capacity assessment criteria were developed (further explained in Sub-chapter 4.4.2.2). Evaluating the results of Study 3 once again led to a new line of inquiry. First, Study 3 identified a need to increase the adaptive capacity of multi-residential buildings' spatial design. Hence, exploring how this could be achieved required new investigations. Second, Study 3 assessed multi-residential buildings designed with a linear approach and prompted curiosity to evaluate how adaptability is addressed and enabled specifically in CBD. These aspects were explored in Study 4.

Study 4 stepped out of the kitchen context and broadened the explorations to the building level through two objectives: (1) identifying and analysing strategies enabling circular building adaptability and (2) outlining a conceptual design framework to enhance the concept's practical application. In this study, design solutions and strategies applied in CBD were explored through the reasonings of architects to understand how and to what extent circular building adaptability was considered or implemented in CBD.

4.4. Methods

The following sub-chapters provide an overview of the qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis methods. The appended papers offer more extensive descriptions of the study-specific methods.

4.4.1. Data collection

In Studies 1, 2 and 4, the data was collected primarily through semi-structured interviews involving identified key stakeholders (such as housing developers, architects, a kitchen furniture producer, contractors, a real estate broker and end-users). In studies 2 and 3, floorplan drawings were collected. The data collection methods and reasonings for their relevance to the studies are presented in the following sub-chapters.

4.4.1.1. Semi-structured interviews

In alignment with the method of semi-structured interviews (Flick, 2018a), predefined studyspecific questions guided each session. The semi-structured interview method was chosen to ensure that the topics of interest were investigated consistently in each study and in each interview while providing opportunities to explore additional topics emerging during the discussions with the interviewees. This method facilitated examining previously uncharted topics and was especially helpful in collecting data to reconstruct subjective viewpoints (as suggested by Flick, 2018a). The participants were introduced to the questions and study focus prior to the interviewes. The interviews were recorded and transcribed with the consent of the interviewees. The collected data were handled according to GDPR.

In Study 1, the semi-structured interviews were carried out between 2019 and 2020. The interview participants (Table 5) were identified through a workshop organised by the CIK project team with employees of the project's key industrial partner (kitchen furniture producer). The workshop's objective was to map stakeholders connected to the kitchen using a power-interest grid for stakeholder prioritisation (adapted from Mendelow, 1981). Interviews focused on processes and preferences regarding how kitchens are commissioned, designed, built and installed in multi-residential buildings.

Case	Organisation	Participant	Relevance for study
А	Housing developer 1	Responsible for interior finishes (A1)	Coordinates end-user choices for kitchen and bathroom
		Project developer (A2)	Leads the project development from the first stages up to construction
В	Architect firm 1	Senior architect	Has long experience in multi-residential building design
С	Architect firm 2	Architect, CEO	Works regularly for the interviewed housing developer (A) and has 20 years of experience in housing projects
D	Architect firm 3	Senior architect, director of unit at a large international architecture and engineering firm	Acts as project leader for housing projects and has significant experience in drawing newly produced multi-residential houses
E	Real estate agency	Senior real estate broker	Has knowledge of sales processes and end-user preferences
F	Kitchen furniture producer	Business area manager (F1) (construction projects)	Oversees construction projects, develops collaboration processes for housing developer clients and handles contract negotiations
		Sales manager (F2) (construction projects)	Oversees project processes and has knowledge of production drawing process
G	Contractor and housing developer 1	Sustainability specialist (G1)	Manages sustainability questions connected to building projects
		Customer manager (G2)	Deals with client satisfaction and selects and manages the company's assortment of kitchens
Н	End-user	Resident	Has recent experience in the sales process

Table 5 - Overview of the participants of the interviews in Study 1 (as published in Paper A)

Study 2 was part of a collaborative interview study, included in the research of two doctoral students of the CIK project (Sofie Hagejärd's and mine). The interview themes (spatial alterations, design preferences, activities performed in the kitchen, resource consumption and circular design strategies) incorporated questions related to the research topics of both of us. Part of the results (focusing on kitchen activities, resource consumption and circular design strategies) were reported in the publication of Hagejärd et al. (2020), while the analysis of the spatial alterations and connected design preferences of end-users were reported in Paper B. Due to the restrictions on the length of Paper B, certain details of the methods of Study 2 were not published. In the following, the method section of Paper B is complemented with additional information.

In total, 20 households were interviewed between 2018 and 2019. The interviewees were recruited following a convenience sampling (Flick, 2018b) via social media advertisements, a housing developer's newsletter, personal contacts and snowballing. The selection criteria had a broad scope and included various ages, household compositions and dwelling types. The interviews were performed in Swedish or English in the interviewees' homes. This enabled the interviewers to observe the interviewee's kitchen and the interviewees had the chance to show examples, enact certain activities or point to specific parts of the room while answering the questions.

Eleven of the twenty interviewed households performed alterations in their kitchens (Table 6). As per the subject of Study 2 (spatial alterations), only these eleven interviews were included in the data analysis. The selected interviewees represented a middle- to high-income segment of society living in relatively large apartments (n=4), villas (n=6) and terraced houses (n=1). Ten of the eleven households had some form of ownership of their dwelling. The ownership allowed them to perform spatial alterations more freely according to their preferences. In rental apartments, the tenants are usually limited to options that the landlord allows or performs. Consequently, tenants seldom are permitted or willing to perform alterations themselves. To demonstrate an exception, the sample included one case (I-11) where the tenant performed alterations at their own cost (permitted by the landlord). Studying alterations performed in owner-occupied dwellings helped to understand end-user preferences regarding spatial design solutions. These preferable spatial design solutions could also be implemented in multi-residential building design.

Case	Gender	Age	Adults	Children	Monthly income (SEK)	Dwelling type	Dwelling size (m²)	Number of rooms ¹
I-1	Woman	35-44	2	1	45 000 or more	Condominium	83	3
I-2	Woman	35-44	2	3	45 000 or more	Villa	133	5
I-3	Man	25-34	2	2	30 000 - 44 999	Terraced house	106	4
I-4	Man	25-34	2	0	30 000 - 44 999	Condominium	74	3
I-5	Woman	35-44	2	2	30 000 - 44 999	Villa	120	5
I-6	Woman	45-54	2	2	30 000 - 44 999	Condominium	109	5
I-7	Woman	45-54	2	3	45 000 or more	Villa	240	9
I-8	Man	35-44	2	3	45 000 or more	Villa	170	7
10	Woman	45-54	2	0	45 000 or more	Villa	190	0
1-9	Man	55-64	- 2	0	45 000 or more	- villa	100	0
I-10	Man	55-64	3	0	45 000 or more	Villa	~90	4
I-11 Ma	Man	55-64	r	0	30 000 - 44 999	Rental apartment	45	1 5
	Woman	45-54	- Z	U	45 000 or more			1,5

Table 6 - Summary of the demographical data of the interview participants of Study 2 and the features of their dwellings

1 excluding kitchen and bathroom

In Study 4, the semi-structured interviews were carried out between 2022 and 2023. Six interviews were conducted with six companies experienced in CBD (Table 7). The companies were selected through purposive sampling (Flick, 2018b). The selection criteria of the potential interview subjects were the following (as published in paper D):

- Building typology: The company's portfolio contained multi-residential buildings.
- Design approach: The multi-residential buildings were designed with CBD strategies. The building examples did not have to cover all CBD strategies (as identified by van Stijn & Gruis, 2019). However, the examples had to demonstrate the application of several CBD strategies in combination.
- Geographical location: The companies and examples were to be located in Europe. This criterion was meant to help understand design choices for similar social, cultural, technical, economic and climatic contexts.

The potential interviewees were identified through an online search and in previous literature. Additionally, interviewee C was identified as a recommendation from interviewee B. To date, only a few built examples were available due to the complexity that CBD entails (Cambier et al., 2021). Among built examples, the representation of multi-residential buildings was low (as observed during the search). Therefore, some interviewees were approached even if their circular building project was still in the conceptual phase. The search was conducted in English, which limited the identification of companies with projects reported on in other languages. The interview questions focused on three themes: (1) the professional background and CBD experience of the interviewees, (2) applied CBD strategies in their multi-residential projects and (3) the spatial configuration of dwellings with a particular focus on how adaptability is enabled (or not) in the design. Multi-residential building examples of the companies' portfolios were used as points of departure guiding the discussion. The aim was to discover the interviewees' strategies in CBD (rather than using the building examples as case studies). The interviews were used to identify the applied CBD strategies and to explore why they were chosen.

Interviewee	Company's Profile	Interview Participant
A	design, development and realisation of construction and infrastructure projects, including maintenance, renovation and transformation	project manager, real estate developer and business administrator
В	architectural design, product development and digital production focusing on new circular solutions for housing	architect, researcher
С	design and development of circular buildings with a particular focus on adaptability	architect, real estate developer
D	CBD for the private and public sector	project leader and technical designer for building details and innovation
E	developing modular and circular housing systems for multi-residential buildings	architect
F	architectural design of buildings and cities with a focus on sustainable and circular solutions for liveable homes	architect and CEO of an architectural office

Table 7 - Overview of the participants of the interviews (based on Table 2 in Paper D)

4.4.1.2. Archival documents and floorplan drawings

Floorplan drawings were collected in Studies 2 and 3. The floorplans provided a source to analyse spatial characteristics uniformly. They were suitable for documenting and comparing the different stages of the spatial design of a single case or across several cases.

In Study 2, the floorplan sample corresponded to the interviewee sample (as described in Sub-chapter 4.4.1.1). The purpose of collecting the floorplans was to document and analyse the performed alterations and identify end-user preferences connected to spatial design. The collected floorplans depicted the kitchens and dwellings before and after the spatial alterations. The 'before' floorplans were either hand-drawn based on the interviewees' descriptions or collected as digital or printed documents from the interviewees. The 'after'

floorplans were hand-drawn during the interviews performed in the participants homes. The outcome of the alterations was further documented through photographs.

In Study 3, the floorplans were collected from the archives of Gothenburg's city planning office. According to Groat & Wang (2013), using archival material as a data-collection method is a typical but less frequently used approach in quantitative research. Using the archives of Gothenburg's city planning office provided an exhaustive set of apartment floorplans. These floorplans were initially collected as part of the material published in the book Bygglov Göteborg 2017 (Granath et al., 2022). Through purposive sampling, 38 housing projects of the collected material were included in Study 3 based on the following criteria:

- It received an approved building permit in 2017.
- It was planned to be built within the city of Gothenburg.
- It was a new building production (renovation and alteration projects were excluded).
- It was a multistorey and multi-residential apartment building (twin houses, terraced houses and student housing were excluded).
- It had complete floorplan drawings available in the archives (partially documented projects with missing drawings were excluded).

The purpose of collecting contemporary apartment floor plans was to analyse current spatial design solutions across a significant and reliable number of cases. The analysed sample comprised n=3,624 apartment units with 574 different floorplan variations. In 2017, in Sweden, 35,783 apartments were built (Statistics Sweden, 2020), which means that the studied sample represented more than 10% of the total national production. The selected building projects were located in Sweden's second-largest urban area. The sample gave a well-grounded relevance for the analysis and results regarding the number of cases and their location.

4.4.2. Data analysis

The empirical material of the qualitative studies (Studies 1, 2 and 4) was analysed through qualitative content analysis (Flick, 2018c). The analysis was carried out in the program NVivo. In Study 3, a novel spatial analytical framework and adaptive capacity criteria were developed to assess the functionality and adaptability of the floorplan drawings. The results of the assessments in Study 3 were summarised through descriptive statistics. The following sub-chapters describe these data analysis methods.

4.4.2.1. Qualitative content analysis

The analysis of the empirical material in Studies 1, 2 and 4 followed the steps of qualitative content analysis (Flick, 2018c; Schreier, 2014). These steps were (1) establishing research questions, (2) selecting material, (3) building a coding frame, (4) defining the direction of analysis guided by the research questions (segmentation), (5) trial coding, (6) evaluating and modifying the coding frame, (7) performing the analysis and (8) presenting and interpreting the findings (Schreier, 2014, pp.174-175). Qualitative content analysis enabled the assessment of rich empirical data with a thematic focus (as per Flick, 2018c). Compared to other qualitative analysis methods, qualitative content analysis focuses primarily on synthesising the material (Flick, 2018c). However, the last step of this method conveyed that this type of analysis was still sensitive to interpretations. Methodological triangulation was

used to mitigate the weaknesses of the interpretive process (as recommended by Flick, 2018c).

In Study 1, the aim was to uncover information connected to the study-specific themes: interests (of stakeholders), process map (connected to the kitchen), roles (of stakeholders) and visions (for an ideal kitchen). These themes comprised the coding frame, which was continuously expended in case sub-themes emerged (inspired by Gioia et al., 2012). The results of the analysis were further assessed by applying the value mapping tool (Bocken et al., 2015) to identify and evaluate the underlying value proposition within the themes mentioned above. The analysis followed the brainstorming process of Bocken et al. (2015): (1) identifying the stakeholders' collective purpose, (2) identifying positive values, (3) identifying negative values and (4) turning the negative values into positive ones by proposing improvements. Based on the identified aspects of the value proposition, four circular value opportunities for the built environment were highlighted in Paper A.

In Study 2, codes of the qualitative content analysis were predefined based on the research questions focusing on end-users' spatial alterations and design preferences. The codes focused on the design of spatial characteristics, the design preferences of end-users connected to those spatial characteristics and the spatial alterations the end-users performed. The codes were complemented in case new themes were discovered during the analysis.

In Study 4, the ten circular building adaptability determinants (Hamida et al., 2022) were used as a coding framework to analyse the empirical material. The determinants served as predefined codes to classify the design strategies mentioned by the interview participants. Additional codes were created in case new themes relevant to understanding the application of certain design strategies emerged. The analysis of the interviews provided a collection of design strategies enabling circular building adaptability and gave an insight into how CBD principles are considered and applied in multi-residential buildings. Based on the results of the analysis and inspired by Geldermans' (2016) inventory matrix, a conceptual design framework was developed to support a systematic implementation of circular building adaptability determinants.

4.4.2.2. Floorplan analysis

Floorplan analysis was used in Study 2 to compare the floorplans before and after the spatial alterations of the interviewees. The aim was to identify end-user processes and preferences connected to spatial design by examining which spatial characteristics they alter and how. To analyse and evaluate which important spatial aspects, it was necessary first to identify which spatial characteristics determine the spatial design of the kitchen. This identification process was part of Study 3 (explained in the next paragraph). Based on the identified spatial characteristics in Study 2, the before and after states of the dwelling floorplans were compared (as exemplified in Figure 6) and the differences were documented. Informed by the floorplan analysis and identified design preferences of the interview participants, design strategies were proposed to support circularity through the spatial design of the kitchen. It is important to highlight that the proposed design strategies emerged from the available empirical data and do not cover all possible and necessary strategies. There is a need to continue the explorations and complement the proposed strategies in further research.



Figure 6 – The floorplan of the terraced house (I-3) before (a) and after (b) the alterations (DW: dishwasher, F: fridge or freezer, O: oven, S: stove) (as published in Paper B)

In Study 3, floorplan analysis was used to assess the circular potential of spatial design. A novel spatial analytical framework and adaptive capacity criteria were developed to facilitate the analysis. The first step of the development process was to identify spatial characteristics that determined the studied dwelling function, the kitchen. The spatial characteristics were identified by studying previous literature on guidelines for kitchen design (including the results of Paper A) and Swedish building regulations and standards. The identified spatial characteristics are described in Sub-chapter 5.3.1. In total, eleven spatial characteristics were identified: room typology, open floorplan, doors, kitchen typologies, kitchen island, floor area, infrastructure, daylight and windows, dining area, accessibility and efficient work-triangle (distances between the sink, stove and fridge). Those spatial characteristics which could be assessed in floorplans were incorporated into the spatial analytical framework. Accessibility was excluded from the analysis since this feature is highly regulated and enforced by authorities in newly built residential buildings. Likewise, distances between the three workstations of the work-triangle (fridge, sink, stove) were not measured since the current trend of shrinking apartment sizes prevents unnecessarily long distances between these workstations. Additionally, characteristics (such as apartment size) and statistically relevant information (such as the number of rooms) connected to the apartments were also measured. The identified spatial characteristics were evaluated based on assessment values developed in line with design guidelines and functional requirements outlined by the literature. A detailed description of the measured spatial characteristics and the connected assessment values can be found in my Licentiate thesis (Ollár, 2021, pp.30-36) and the appended Paper C. The spatial analytical framework was tested, iterated and finally used to evaluate n=3,624 contemporary apartment floorplans. The schematic representation of and more details about the spatial analytical framework can be found in Paper C.

Study 3 took inspiration from the adaptive capacity indicators of Geraedts et al. (2014) (definition and more details in Paper C) to evaluate the adaptive capacity of the apartment

floorplans. While adaptability is a value created through design solutions (Geraedts et al., 2017), adaptive capacity is a metric for measuring a building's ability "[...] to cope with future changes with minimum demolition, cost and waste and with maximum robustness, mutability and efficiency" (Sinclair et al., 2012, p.40). The adaptive capacity indicators of Geraedts et al. (2014) assess buildings' or building units' ability to enable major and minor changes in the finishings, floorplan, room organisation, infrastructure or structural components. These indicators were adjusted to the dwelling function (kitchen) investigated in Study 3. The adjusted indicators and their definitions are presented in Table 8. As a next step, questions (means of assessment) were developed to enable the assessment of the apartment floorplans' adaptive capacity (see Table 6 of Paper C). Two indicators were not measured: Renew and Rewire. Strategies for the Renew indicator included tasks that the end-user might achieve quickly (such as repainting or exchanging the fronts of the built-in furniture) and did not require spatial changes. The Rewire indicator was studied in the context of the Relocate indicator. The relocation of the kitchen and built-in furniture would automatically require modification of the connected infrastructure outlets.

Indicators*	Adjusted Indicators	Adjusted Definitions
Quality	Renew	Changing the usability and user experience of the kitchen (e.g., refreshing the look of or exchanging some parts of the built-in furniture)
Redesign	Rearrange	Changing the layout or functions of the kitchen (e.g., altering the kitchen typology)
Relation Internal	Reconfigure	Changing the kitchen's relation with other rooms in the apartment
Grain size	_	(e.g., opening, removing or relocating doors or walls)
Facilities	Rewire	Changing the facilities (infrastructure outlets) in the kitchen
Reallocate Internal	Relocate	Changing the location of the kitchen within the apartment
Transfer		
Expansion Expand or		Changing the kitchen's use surface, increasing or decreasing its floor
Rejection	reduce	area

 Table 8 - Overview of adapted indicators and their definitions (as published in Paper C)

* as in Geraedts et al. (2014)

4.5. Validation of results

The four studies provided insight into spatial design's contribution to circularity, which was validated through a complementary investigation. The investigation included three group interviews with architects and strategic interviews and a workshop with housing developers and managers. This investigation revolved around how housing developers and architects consider spatial design aspects in residential building projects and what processes, roles, requirements and responsibilities they had connected to it. Sub-chapter 5.5 summarises the unpublished results of this investigation.

The three semi-structured group interviews involved senior architects experienced in residential design and practising at different architectural firms. In total, ten architects

participated in the group interviews. At each session, three different firms were invited. Each firm had one representative in the first and second sessions (3 participants per session). In the third session, one of the firms was represented by two employees (4 participants per session). The discussions focused on their design processes and preferences connected to the spatial design of kitchens, influencing factors in their decision-making processes, good examples, common mistakes and their views on current building regulations.

The group interviews were followed by individual interviews with seven housing developers and managers (a mix of organisations developing apartments for sale and rent), one procurement company and one company providing kitchen renovation services (Table 9). The questions investigated the housing developers' requirements regarding the spatial design of kitchens when procuring new multi-residential buildings, whether these requirements were formally documented, their processes evaluating finished building projects post-production, their sustainability or circularity ambitions and their views on current building regulations. Afterwards, the participants of the individual interviews were invited to a workshop where possible future requirements supporting circularity through the spatial design of kitchens were discussed.

Interviewee	Position/Responsibility	Organisation profile
I-1	Project manager	Housing developer and manager
I-2	Responsible for building maintenance, environmental coordinator	Housing manager
I-3	Regional manager for Göteborg specialised in business development and procurement	Procurement company
1-4	Sustainability specialist	Kitchen renovation company
I-5	CEO	Housing developer and manager
I-6	Environmental coordinator	Housing manager
I-7	Project manager	
I-8	Project manager	Housing housing manager
I-9	Project manager	
I-10	Project developer	Housing developer and manager
I-11	Sustainability specialist	
I-12	CEO	Housing developer
I-13	Project developer	

Table 9 - Overview of the participants of the individual interviews

4.6. Methodological considerations

This sub-chapter provides reflections on the overall methodological choices connected to the intersubjective approach and spatial theory. Additionally, it discusses strengths and limitations connected to study-specific methods with regard to sampling, data collection and data analysis. This sub-chapter also reflects on the project context's influence on the thesis work and the results' contribution to the activities of the project. This is followed by a reflection on the validity, generalisability and transferability of the results and conclusions.

4.6.1. Reflections on methodological choices

The intersubjective approach allowed to comprehensively study and synthesise the gualitative and guantitative, as well as the physical and non-physical aspects of the subject. While adopting an intersubjective approach, reflecting on the researcher's involvement in knowledge development is necessary. My professional background, knowledge, experiences and preconceptions contributed to and influenced the research. My profile as a (female) architect specialising in design for sustainable development brought knowledge of environmental, economic and social considerations to the research table. This also influenced (consciously and unconsciously) the focus of the studies. Additionally, being a foreigner in the investigated cultural context allowed me to be an external observer but limited my understanding of social codes and conventions. Furthermore, conducting empirical research in a second language (English and Swedish) where communication with the participants of the qualitative studies is at the centre of data collection put restraints on the content and depth of what the participants expressed and the nuances I could comprehend. This was mitigated by conducting the interviews in pairs with a native Swedish speaker researcher. These factors were considered while interpreting the results of this research.

The theoretical framework of spatial theory helped reflect upon the entanglement of social and material aspects of spatial design. It enabled understanding and describing how social and material aspects mutually influence one another. The application of spatial theory has proven valuable in describing these interconnected aspects, offering a deeper understanding of their components and revealing the nature of their relationships. However, the studies made limited use of the methodological grounds of spatial theory; instead, this theoretical perspective was used as an analytical tool when synthesising the study results. Incorporating the methodological grounds of spatial theory to a larger extent in the research design might have enriched the empirical evidence.

The mixed-method approach enabled both qualitative and quantitative explorations of the subject of this thesis. However, due to the nature of a PhD research (long duration, exploring complex problems, acquiring research skills), aligning the individual studies sometimes presented challenges since they were not only guided by identified research gaps but also by the project context, project partners' expectations and predetermined founding deliverables. The two-phased research design was instrumental in addressing this particular challenge. It facilitated a cohesive research design and enabled the integration of individual studies into a comprehensive research project.

The qualitative nature of Studies 1, 2 and 4 allowed to explore and summarise stakeholder processes and preferences while understanding the underlying motivations. However, the participants of the qualitative studies foremost included industry stakeholders (housing developers, housing managers, architects, a kitchen furniture producer, contractors and a real estate broker) and end-user perspectives were explored through the input of a limited number of participants. This restricted the extent of investigating end-user preferences, which meant that conclusions had to be made cautiously. Nevertheless, the studies still gave valuable indications that need further exploration in future research.

The quantitative approach in Study 3 enabled the exploration of a large sample of data, including a substantial number (n = 3,624) of contemporary apartment floorplans. This provided reliable data regarding spatial design features and their adaptive capacity in

current residential building design. However, this approach restricted the evaluation to aspects that can be measured in a two-dimensional context and excluded three-dimensional features, such as room height, window placements, artificial light positions, upper cabinets and technical installations related to plumbing and ventilation systems. An additional methodological challenge that emerged during the research design of Study 3 considered the available frameworks for assessing adaptability in the circular design context. When developing the means of assessment for the adaptive capacity apartment floorplans, no comprehensive theoretical frameworks have yet integrated the concepts of adaptability and circularity. Consequently, the study relied on existing theories related to adaptability in general, which, at that time, provided the most reliable method for the assessment. However, in hindsight, an alternative approach could be considered today to produce more coherent results. Instead of using adaptive capacity indicators, the determinants of circular building adaptability could be integrated into the proposed analytical and assessment frameworks. While there are overlaps between the adaptive capacity indicators and the circular building adaptability determinants, the latter provides a more comprehensive framework tailored for adaptability in the circular paradigm. Aligning the assessment criteria with the theoretical framework of circular building adaptability might achieve a more robust evaluation of the floorplans' adaptive capacity. This adjustment would enhance the validity of the results and contribute to the field of circular building adaptability. Looking ahead, exploring these subjects could be considered as potential future work, enriching empirical investigations into how circular building adaptability influences current housing design.

4.6.2. Reflections on the project context

The CIK project served as an excellent starting point for my research, providing me with valuable insights into the processes related to kitchen design. However, after the initial phases, my research trajectory diverged from the development of the furniture design. While the work in the project continued the prototyping and commercialisation of furniture design, my research contributed to the knowledge development within the CIK project by exploring spatial aspects of the room. This was important since a circular kitchen furniture design would not have been a freestanding artefact but an integrated part of a room. Hence, the furniture and spatial design of the room must align to facilitate CE principles in the long term. However, I encountered difficulties supporting the furniture design development with results from my research.

Recommendations derived from both the literature I reviewed and my studies were occasionally overlooked during the furniture design development due to compromises based on logistics, expectations and preferences of the project partners, aesthetical considerations, financial reasons or spatial constraints. Interestingly, this was also an issue I observed in my studies while investigating existing design processes of residential buildings. This demonstrates that merely intending to create circular products is not sufficient. Instead, there's a need for novel approaches that support the design process of circular products. It became evident that the industry's design processes still require significant transformation and a shift in priorities is necessary to transition towards circularity. The encountered difficulties also highlight the challenges in advocating for spatial design solutions supporting circularity.

4.6.3. Validity, generalisability and transferability

The validity of the qualitative investigations of the research was ensured by employing established methods and adopting methodological pathways developed for housing research. In the quantitative study, validity was aimed to be established by the large and representative sample of the floorplans. The data collection and analysis of the studies were performed in a transparent manner and conclusions were rooted in the available data. However, it is important to acknowledge that the results and knowledge development of this research were influenced by the active participation of the research team (including me). To reduce the impact of the potential bias and influence of the research team, various methods and sources for data collection were employed. Furthermore, the overall research results were validated through interviews and workshops with architects, housing developers, housing managers and some of their suppliers.

Several aspects need to be considered with regard to the generalisability of the results to a broader context. The studies were conducted with the involvement of a limited number of end-users representing a narrow part of society and a small segment of industry stakeholders in the design process. This limited the breadth of perspectives and experiences considered. Nevertheless, the studies provide valuable insights which would benefit from further research involving a broader range of stakeholders. Moreover, some stakeholder statements were context-dependent, which further impacted the generalizability of the results. It is important to remember that these results are socially grounded, meaning they are deeply intertwined with the specific Swedish socio-cultural context in which the research was conducted. This particular context may limit the generalizability of the results.

The Swedish socio-cultural context also potentially reduced the transferability of the results to other cultural or geographical contexts. However, there are commonalities in socio-cultural specificities across Western cultures. Therefore, I can reasonably infer that the results of this research can be applied to similar socio-cultural contexts, albeit with caution and consideration for the unique characteristics of each context. Additionally, focusing on the kitchen also puts certain constraints on the transferability of the generated knowledge. The investigations focusing on the kitchen resulted in insights connected to one dwelling function. The kitchen is a specific part of the dwelling due to its fixed installations (infrastructure, appliances and built-in furniture) and wide range of activities. Nevertheless, the broader results might easily be adapted to less specific spatial contexts.

5. Summary of results

This chapter is structured according to the four studies. Each sub-chapter provides a summary of the study-specific results. The sub-chapters first give an overview of the study aims, methods and research outputs (publications), followed by the key results of the study. The results of the validation study are outlined at the end of this chapter. A more detailed version of the study-specific results can be found in the corresponding papers.

Aim	Exploring stakeholders' preferences and processes (with an industry focus) connected to the design, construction, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's spatial design
Study participants	Stakeholders (n=11 participants): housing developer and manager (1 firm, 2 participants), architects (3 participants in total, 1 participant/firm), kitchen furniture producer (1 firm, 2 participants), contractor (1 firm, 2 participant), real estate broker (1 participant), end-user (1 participant)
Data collection	Semi-structured interviews, Workshop, Focus group
Data analysis	Qualitative content analysis combined with value mapping
Output	Paper A (journal paper)

5.1. Study 1: Circular value opportunities for the built environment

5.1.1. The stakeholder network and value proposition of the Swedish kitchen

The mapping of the design and construction processes related to kitchens (which was a typical process at the time of the research) showed that usually the housing developer initiates a building project and collaborates with architects to determine the design features of the building, which include the apartment floorplan and the spatial design of the kitchen. The architect then refines the building design following the housing developer's guidelines and preferences. The kitchen furniture producer is typically involved in the development of detailed drawings. A building permit is secured once the building design, including the kitchen, is finalised. At this juncture, the architect's role in the project concludes and the contractor assumes responsibility for the architectural drawings. Prior to construction, approximately 30% of the dwellings in the housing developer oversees an interior design process where end-users can personalise their apartments by selecting various finishes and material options. However, end-users do not participate in determining the floorplan or spatial design. Once the interior design process is completed, the kitchen furniture is manufactured and delivered to the site fully assembled for installation.

All stakeholders, except the housing developer, participate only in specific segments of the housing development. The architect, kitchen furniture producer and contractor expressed a desire to be involved in a larger or entire portion of the development process to ensure quality, enhance collaboration and prioritise end-user satisfaction. The segmented stakeholder network has led to conflicts in stakeholders' interests, such as balancing economic and logistical priorities against design quality and end-user preferences. Despite these conflicts, the stakeholders shared common goals in their value proposition, which include (1) creating aesthetically pleasing kitchen furniture that complies with regulations and meets end-user needs, (2) designing the kitchen as a functional and livable space and

(3) developing economically viable projects with transparent processes and streamlined logistics. Study 1 further revealed that stakeholders have vast knowledge of the spatial characteristics of the kitchen and share numerous design preferences related to them. This validated the focus of this research and further studies were planned, with a greater emphasis on the spatial design of the kitchen.

5.1.2. Values captured

Study 1 identified positive values of the value proposition associated with current kitchen design (Table 10). The values expressed by the stakeholders focus on three themes: furniture and appliance design, spatial design and processes and economy. The most promising positive values are the modular design system of the built-in furniture, the established collaborations within the industry, design intentions for proper living spaces, the emphasis on spatial qualities and an increased interest in end-user preferences. These positive values could potentially be utilised as an initial foundation for developing a kitchen design that aligns with circular design principles. Connected design processes must also consider aspects such as standardisation, extended collaboration in the stakeholder network and design solutions encouraging end-users to adopt behaviours in line with CE principles. Such an approach to kitchen design could support the CE's emphasis on longevity, renewability and reduced environmental impact.

Stakeholder	Value captured	
segments	(positive aspects of	the value proposition that can support circularity)
Network	Furniture and	Modular design
actors	appliance design	Functional furniture
		Practical workflows for working in the kitchen
		Selected base assortment
		Demand for durable materials
		Design harmony and aesthetics.
	Spatial design	Open layouts enabling social engagement
		Specific accessibility regulations
		Preferred functional layouts
		Daylight requirements
		Intention to create liveable spatial design
		Small, compact apartments that have less environmental impact
		Dimensions of room determining furniture
		Design harmony and aesthetics
	Processes and	Existing partnership agreements
	economy	Well-established collaborations aiming at effective communication
		Rising interest in end-user wishes
		Increased internal sustainability ambitions
		Similar goals and interests among stakeholders
End-user	Demand for long-las	sting and energy-efficient appliances
	Increased interest for	or technical solutions (e.g., connected apps)
	Preferences for neu	tral colours and design
	Options for end-use	r choices
Society	Regulations and sta	ndards for good kitchen solutions
	Extensive regulation	ns connected to apartment design and kitchen

Table 10 - Summary of identified captured values for the Swedish kitchen (as published in paper A)

5.1.3. Values missed, destroyed or wasted

Table 11 presents the identified negative values of the value proposition associated with the current kitchen design. These negative values include, for instance, the linear processes, the limited end-user involvement, the limitations of standardisation (lack of innovation, alternative solutions and adaptability), the lack of consideration for the environment and society, the more compact living spaces, the lack of product and material recovery and the strictly applied minimum dimensions of the built-in equipment mandated by regulations. These negative values hinder the uptake of circularity in residential building design by sustaining practices (e.g., environmental pollution, excessive resource use and waste generation) that go against CE principles.

Stakeholder	Value missed	destroyed or wasted		
segments	(negative aspe	cts of the value proposition that can hinder circularity)		
Network	Furniture and	Modular dimensions of furniture: lack of innovation opportunities		
actors	appliance	Unsustainable material use, lack of alternatives		
	design	Lack of correlation between standard measures of appliances and		
		furniture		
		Decreased flexibility for renovations due to built-in furniture and		
		appliances		
		Quality differences based on location of housing project and target group		
	Spatial design	Lack of experimentation and innovation		
		Lack of flexibility and adaptability		
		Shrinking, more compact apartment sizes		
		Strictly following the minimal requirements of regulations leading to inflexible apartments		
		Inflexible infrastructure (electricity, plumbing, ventilation)		
		Lack of simple separation options for open floorplans		
	Processes and economy	Linear process		
		Stakeholders are engaged in a limited part of the process, 'relay run'		
		Hesitant company culture		
		Complex and long value and supply chain		
		Economic pressure governs (design) decisions		
		Furniture usually delivered fully mounted, increased transport		
		Sustainability or circularity is not a priority		
		Costly repair work to refresh or refurbish furniture		
		High precision for installation-increased logistics		
		Complex parts of furniture (e.g., long worktops) - difficult to deliver and install		
End-user	Lack of direct fe	eedback and evaluation channels		
	Exclusion from design processes			
	Limited options for personalisation (only final finishings)			
	Increased number of electric devices in the kitchen			
	Some demands result in economic or logistical conflicts			
	(e.g., kitchen is	lands, long worktops without gaps)		
Society	Lack of regulati	ons for more circularity measures		
	Minimum requ	irements for design of homes (storage, m ² , etc.) being strictly applied as an		
	upper limit			

Table 11 - Summary of missed, destroyed or wasted values within the value proposition of the Swedish kitchen (as published in Paper A)

5.1.4. Value opportunities

Value opportunities were formulated based on suggestions of the interview participants and those of the research team (Table 12). These were clustered into four groups: (1) align spatial and product design for circular economy, (2) consider end-user perspectives and demands, (3) formulate regulations based on research outcomes and (4) develop circular products and services through collaboration.

Stakeholder	Value o	oportunities (potentially supporting circularity,	Cluster
segment	includin	g improvement proposals)	Cluster
		Long-lasting design ¹	
	ign	Increased standardisation ¹	
	des	Practical, functional, aesthetically appealing furniture	
	e	well-equipped with storage ¹	
	ian	Flexible basic furniture arrangement to enable variety	
	lqq	and adaptability ¹	
	qa	Mobile furniture solutions ¹	
	an	Feasible, durable, sustainable alternative materials	
	ure	which are easy to refresh or renovate ¹	
	nit	Energy-efficient and multifunctional appliances ²	Align spatial and
	Fur	Lifecycle extension of kitchen products ²	nroduct design for
		Attractive modular worktop solutions with sealed gaps ²	circular economy
ors		More straight-kitchens and less corners ¹	chediar economy
act		Reasonable spatial margins (e.g., enabling flexibility or	
2.K	۔	kitchen islands) ¹	
two	Sigi	Easy and flexible separation solutions to divide open	
Ne	de	floorplans ¹	
	tial	Spacious dimensions for number of users and	
	Spa	functional workflow ¹	
	•,	Adaptable and flexible layout solutions ¹	
		More flexibility in electricity, plumbing and ventilation	
		infrastructure and outlets ²	
		Challenging the idea of delivering kitchens fully	
	, hd	assembled ¹	
	es a m)	Aligned standards and expand collaborations ²	Develop circular
	esse	Understanding long-term market dynamics ²	products and services
	00 e	New business models ²	through collaboration
	P	New partnerships ²	
		New loops and services (reuse, refurbish, recycle) ²	
End-user	d-user New feedback channels ¹		Consider
	Evaluati	on of user demands ¹	end-user perspectives
	Increase	ed user involvement ²	and demands
Society	New reg	ulations demanding sustainability and circularity ¹	Formulate regulations
	Regulati	ons possibly requiring reasonably generous dimensions to	informed by research
	enable f	lexibility and adaptability ¹	mormed by research

Table 12 - Summary of value opportunities (as published in paper A)

¹ Improvement proposals from stakeholders, ² Improvement proposals from authors based on identified missed, destroyed and wasted values in line with CE goals

Regarding spatial and product design, stakeholders have proposed enhancements to existing approaches. The stakeholders valued long-lasting design solutions and the ease of

refurbishing the built-in furniture. They suggested standardised yet adaptable floorplan solutions and modular designs for the built-in furniture to optimise logistics and cater to end-user preferences. Anticipating multiple versions of the same apartment floorplan was put forth to enhance adaptability. These variations could facilitate easy modifications to the floorplan to meet the needs of future end-users. The end-user preference for separating the kitchen from the living room for privacy reasons was noted among some of the interview participants. For this reason, in one example, the architects offered various strategies to establish an open yet visually separated kitchen and living room space. It was also recommended that a spatial margin in the room should be allocated during the design phase to accommodate potential future spatial alterations. The kitchen's dimensions directly dictate the furniture's design and workflow. Therefore, the measurements of the room and the built-in furniture must be synchronised. Altogether, the stakeholders underscored the significance of the kitchen as a versatile space that should be functional, visually appealing and sufficiently dimensioned for kitchen-related activities and storage spaces.

The study participants demonstrated a limited willingness to transition towards a CE. They have only contemplated minor modifications, such as questioning the practice of delivering fully assembled kitchens or formulating sustainability strategies for their companies. These changes were devised and executed at the organisational level rather than in collaboration across the stakeholder network. This highlights the necessity for expanded collaboration among the stakeholders.

All stakeholders expressed a desire for more direct feedback mechanisms with end-users, such as interviews. Stakeholders could create new avenues for understanding end-user preferences and integrating those early in the design process. A broader assessment of end-user preferences or more comprehensive end-user involvement could result in more functional and adaptable solutions, allowing for customisation to suit the diverse preferences of end-user groups and individuals.

Despite some stakeholders expressing dissatisfaction with current building regulations, only a few potential enhancements were suggested. The kitchen furniture producer indicated that new regulations promoting sustainability and circularity could expedite the CE transition by mandating change across all stakeholders. This would mitigate the risks associated with being the first to implement CE principles in the design and production processes. Some participants also proposed that regulations could mandate larger minimal dimensions to facilitate future adaptability. However, it was pointed out that this aspiration was at odds with the economic prioritisation that currently underpins the building industry.

Aim	Exploring stakeholders' preferences (with an end-user focus) and processes connected to the design, construction, utilisation and alteration of the kitchen's spatial design
Study participants	End-users (n=14 participants in total in 11 households)
Data collection	Semi-structured interviews, Floorplan drawings
Data analysis	Qualitative content analysis combined with floorplan analysis
Output	Paper B (conference paper)

5.2. Study 2: Kitchen alterations and their design implications

5.2.1. Kitchen alterations

The interviewees shared the importance of transforming their kitchen into a space that suited their everyday habits. They additionally mentioned aesthetical and functional preferences related to kitchen design. Ten households deliberated and planned the performed alterations for a long time but eventually commenced with the changes. The interviewees expressed that they felt the alterations were necessary to create a home where they thrived. The alterations lasted between a week and 1.5 years. The significant difference in the duration of the alterations was due to several factors, such as the size of the kitchen, the extent of the alteration and whether the alterations were carried out by professionals or the owners themselves. The overview of the changes is summarised in Table 13 and the outcome of the kitchen alterations of the interview participants are shown in Figure 7.

The eleven households made diverse spatial alterations to their kitchens. The extent of the alterations seemed to be defined by the dwelling type. In villas and terraced houses - with more space to execute changes - more extensive alterations were carried out, such as constructing additional rooms, opening new doors, moving windows, removing walls or installing kitchen islands. In apartments, where such expansion of the physical boundaries of the dwelling was not possible, the interviewees worked within their limitations. They kept the layout of the built-in furniture, refrained from making structural changes to the room and focused on aesthetic improvements to the built-in furniture, appliances and finishings.

While describing the alterations, the interviewees shared enabling and hindering factors, which were further examined during the analysis of the 'before' and 'after' floorplan drawings. The primary constraint was the original design of the buildings. Spatial characteristics that were difficult or impossible to change influenced spatial alterations. For instance, as already described above, the lack of over-capacity of the free floor area often presented restrictions. Additionally, seven households had to modify the infrastructure systems (electricity, plumbing, ventilation) during the alterations. These modifications were complex and resource-intensive since accessing and altering the infrastructure systems were challenging and labour-intensive. Furthermore, the window locations and the direction and source of natural daylight were spatial pre-conditions that were almost impossible to change. Instead, the participants moved daylight-dependent functions close to existing windows or merged the kitchen with another room to create a brighter space.

The interviews and floorplan analysis revealed four main spatial design preferences of the participants. First, when possible, the participants created more free floor areas in the kitchen to enable active social use of the space. Second, half of the participants opined that they preferred a separate room for the kitchen to reduce noise disturbances or the spreading of odours resulting from cooking. Additionally, the performed spatial alterations also showed that, after the alterations, the kitchen was well-connected to other 'public' parts of the home. Third, the dining area was an important function of the kitchen; many participants ensured a prominent and well-situated place for this function (close to a natural daylight source, in or close to the kitchen). Fourth, all participants changed the built-in furniture to improve its aesthetic and functional performance. The interviewees often expressed the need for more storage space and longer work surfaces. They also highlighted the underdimensioned waste sorting spaces, typically located under the sink. To mitigate this issue, the interviewees utilised alternative areas in their homes (e.g., garage, entrance, balcony) for waste sorting.

labi	e 13 - Fe	atures of	the inte	erview	partici	oants d	wening a	ла кітспег	n berore and	arter the alter	ration:	s (cnan	ges ma	irkea w	itn grey)	as publishe)	a In Pa	aper b)
Case	Dwelling type	Dwelling size (m ²)	Room typ	ology ¹ f	Floorplan ²		Door ²		Built-in furnitur storage, worksu	e, Irface ³	Kitche typolo	n gy⁴	Kitchen island		Window		Dining a	ırea²
			Before A	Vfter E	3efore	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	e After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
-1	Condo.	83	υ υ	0	separate oom	separate room	3 (Н, LR, Ba)	3 (Н, LR, Ba)	7 u. lower c. 7 u. upper c. 3 u. tall c.	+ 4 u. tall c. - 5 u. upper c.	S	S	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	1 (K)	1 (K)
1-2	Villa	133	B	~	separate oom	separate room	2 (La, LR)	2 (La, LR)	9 u. lower c. 9 u. upper c. 2 u. tall c.	- 3 u. upper c.	_	_	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	2 (K, LR)	2 (K, LR)
	Terraced house	106	B	o, L	separate oom	combined K-LR	1 (H)	0 (К-LR)	9 u. lower c. 9 u. upper c. 2 u. tall c.	+ 1 u. tall c. + 4 u. long Kl - 3 u. lower c. - 6 u. upper c.	∍	S+KI	ou	yes	1 window	1 window, 1 large glazed door	1 (K)	1 (К-LR)
-4	Condo.	74	A	7	separate oom	separate room	1 (H)	1 (H)	10 u. lower c. 10 u. upper c. 2 u. tall c.	Same number of cabinets, new furniture	۹.	٩	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	2 (K, LR)	2 (K, LR)
F5	Villa	120	A	5, L	separate oom	separate room	1 (H)	2 (H, DR)	4 u. lower c. 4 u. upper c. 1 u. tall c.	+ 6 u. lower c. - 2 u. upper c.	S	L	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	1 (K)	1 (DR-LR)
1 -6	Condo.	109	U U	0, L	separate oom	separate room	4 (H, La, LR, Ba)	4 (H, La, LR, Ba)	7 u. lower c. 7 u. upper c. 3 u. tall c.	+ 1 u. tall c. - 1 u. lower c. - 3 u. upper c.	٩	Ч	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	1 (K)	1 (K)
1-7	Villa	240	B	5 L	separate oom	separate room	2 (Н, DR)	2 (H, DR)	12 u. lower c. 10 u. upper c. 2 u. tall c.	+ 5 u. tall c. - 1 u. lower c. - 10 u. upper c.	_	D	ou	ou	1 window	1 window (new location)	1 (DR)	1 (DR-LR)
87	Villa	170	о 0		separate oom	combined K-LR	2 (H, DR)	0 (К-LR)	7 u. lower c. 7 u. upper c. 4 u. tall c.	+ 1 u. tall c. + 8 u. long Kl - 2 u. low c. - 7 u. upper c.	۹.	S+KI	е	yes	1 window, 1 sky roof	1 sky roof, 2 windows, 4 large glazed doors	1 (K)	2 (K-LR)
6-1	Villa	180	B	5, L	separate oom	separate room	2 (Н, La)	2 (H, La)	9 u. lower c. 7 u. upper c. 3 u. tall c.	+ 1 u. tall c. - 2,5 u. lower c. - 1,5 u. upper c.	_	L	ou	ou	1 window	1 window	1 (K)	1 (K)
I-10	Villa	06~	A	0, L	separate oom	separate room	1 (H)	з (Н, Т, Н)	9 u. lower c. 5 u. upper c. 2 u. tall c.	+ 3 u. lower c. + 1 u. upper c. + 1 u. tall c.	_	D	ou	ou	2 windows	2 windows, 1 large glazed door	1 (K)	1 (K-DR)
l-11	Rental apartment	45	A		combined <-LR	combined K-LR	1 (H)	1 (H)	3 u. lower c. 3 u. upper c. 1 u. tall c.	+ 3 u. lower c. + 3 u. upper c.	S	S	ou	ou	2 windows	2 windows	1 (K-LR)	1 (K-LR)
¹ A: (dead-end	room ty	,Vgology,	B: pas	s-throu	gh roon	n typolog	v, C: roon	n within an ir	nternal ring								

² Ba: balcony, DR: dining room, H: hall, La: laundry room, LR: living room, K: kitchen, T: terrace
 ³ including built-in appliances, c.: cabinets, u.: unit = 60 cm wide cabinet
 ⁴ L: L-kitchen, S: straight-kitchen, P: parallel-kitchen, U: U-kitchen, KI: kitchen island



Figure 7 – The kitchens of the interview participants after the alterations (photos by Anita Ollár and Sofie Hagejärd)

The empirical material also provided insights into the design of the built-in furniture. In each case, the alterations led to modifications of the built-in furniture. Only one participant chose to repaint the fronts of the existing kitchen and another decided to buy second-hand cabinets. The other nine interviewees replaced the old built-in furniture with new ones. The participants expressed that they felt there were no effortless and feasible alternatives to adjust their current furniture (aesthetically or functionally). This indicates a need for a built-in furniture design and supporting business model that enables easy alterations and reduces material flows and environmental impacts (confirming the CIK project's necessity).

5.2.2. Design implications for the spatial design of the kitchen

The empirical material showed that the original design of spatial characteristics defined what type of alterations were possible. Certain spatial characteristics were more difficult to change (infrastructure, the location and distribution of windows, free floor area, room organisation and door locations) and there were some that end-users had more control over (built-in furniture, location of the dining area). This implies that it is important to implement functional and adaptable solutions in the original design, especially those related to spatial characteristics over which the end-users had more control were bound to be altered more often. Hence, design choices that enable low-impact alterations and reduce resource use and waste production are also important to implement in the original design.

Regarding the spatial design of the kitchen, the empirical material helped identify preferences of end-users, which led to design recommendations. It is important to point out that these recommendations focus on the preferences of the interviewed end-users (representing a niche of society). Additionally, spatial design is a complex exercise and more aspects than the items below must be considered. However, the results and recommendations of Study 2 showcase important end-user preferences that need to be attended to while formulating functional and adaptable (kitchen) spaces of a dwelling. The design recommendations of Study 2 are the following (as published in Paper B):

- Ensure the central location of the kitchen in the dwelling floorplan.
- Provide multiple room connections to the kitchen: prioritise connections to the entrance hall, living room and outdoor spaces.
- Design multiple solutions for how the room can be furnished with mobile and built-in furniture.
- Provide flexible and adjustable infrastructure systems, establish outlets that can supply different kitchen typologies and several locations for the built-in furniture.
- Design generous but not wasteful free floor areas (e.g., for additional kitchen island, dining area, social activities, multiple users at the same time in the kitchen).
- Create easy solutions for separating or opening the kitchen.
- Use materials that are durable and can be personalised (e.g., repainting) multiple times.
- Distribute multiple windows along the façade, preferably from several daylight directions.
- Provide room dimensions that can facilitate different kitchen typologies.
- Plan for generous work surfaces and storage opportunities.
- Align the modular measurements of the built-in furniture with the dimensions of the room.
- Create easily adjustable workflows based on end-user wishes.

Aim	Identifying spatial characteristics (as determinants of spatial design) and assessing the circular potential of spatial design
Data collection	Archival documents – floorplan drawings of apartments in multi-residential buildings with a building permit from 2017 (n=3,624)
Data analysis	Floorplan analysis, Descriptive statistics
Output	Paper C (journal paper)

5.3. Study 3: Current kitchen design and its circular potential

5.3.1. Spatial characteristics of kitchens

A detailed description of the spatial characteristics connected to kitchen design has been published in my Licentiate thesis (Ollár, 2021, pp.30-36). While the examined literature provides extensive guidelines regarding the functionality of the space and describes enduser preferences connected to some of the identified spatial characteristics (room typology, combined kitchen-living room, kitchen islands), it gives less input on creating solutions for enabling adaptability. An overview of the identified spatial characteristics can be found in Table 14.

Table 14 - Overview of identified spatial characteristics of	of kitchens (based on Table	e 2 of Paper C)
--	-----------------------------	-----------------

Characteristics	Important design trends and features	Sources/References
Room typology	The kitchen's direct connection with the living room, entrance and outdoor spaces Evolving over time (the living room becomes the communication hub instead of the entrance; the kitchen changes from a service zone in the back to the heart of the home and from a separate room to an open space) Space syntax analysis and convex mapping for room organisations Room typology categories: A: 'dead-end'; B: 'pass- through'; C: part of a single ring; D: part of more rings Advantages of rings: facilitate movement, enable flexible use and increase the feeling of spaciousness Secondary rings created by freestanding tall cupboard units are less favoured	(Hillier & Hanson, 1984) (Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985) (Bafna, 2003) (Manum, 2005) (Thiberg, 2007) (Manum, 2009) (Geromel, 2016) (Hillier, 2007) (Nylander, 2018) (Brkanić et al., 2018) (Caldenby et al., 2019) (Femenías & Geromel, 2019)
Combined kitchen-living room	Saves floor area (m ²) Increased profitability of housing projects Feeling of spaciousness Noise disturbances from kitchen tasks and visual impact of (untidy) kitchen In apartments larger than 55 m ² , kitchens must be separable (after separation: appropriate floor area for room functions with at least one window for direct daylight)	(Thiberg, 2007) (Nowakowski, 2015) (Femenías & Geromel, 2019) (Tervo & Hirvonen, 2019) (Örnhall, 2019) (Ollár et al., 2020) (BFS 2011:6)
Doors	The position of doors influences the flexibility of use and furnishability of the space The recommended number of doors in the kitchen is two It is more challenging to create new door openings than to restrict the use of existing ones	(Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985) (Nylander, 2002) (Thiberg, 2007) (Nowakowski, 2015)

Characteristics	Important design trends and features	Sources/References
Kitchen typologies	Straight-kitchen: the sink, work surface and stove are placed along a linear arrangement; tall additional cupboards are optional; this kitchen is most optimal when several people work simultaneously L-kitchen: angled built-in furniture with greater distances between the work units; advantageous for working alone as a disabled person in a wheelchair Parallel-kitchen: built-in furniture along walls facing each other; min. 130 cm between the two sides; demands more m ² ; requires less façade length U-kitchen: two parallel sides of built-in furniture connected with an extra bench; experienced as cramped and the corners are difficult to fully utilise Open L- or U-kitchen: the different wings of the built-in furniture are separated by a passage or door opening, thus eliminating the closed corner	(Krantz-Jensen, 1963) (Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985) (Thiberg, 1994) (Nowakowski, 2015) (Geromel, 2016) (Ollár et al., 2020) (BFS 2011:6)
Kitchen island	Most common in larger apartments and open floorplans Added work surface and storage space It might include some appliances (requiring flexible infrastructure outlets) There is a lack of space to install one if the original plans were not designed for it	(Nowakowski, 2015) (Geromel, 2016) (Femenías & Geromel, 2019) (Ollár et al., 2020)
Floor area of the kitchen and apartment	Shrinking floor area – compact living Free floor areas enable accessibility, increased well- being, reduced risk of accidents, multiple user presence and the possibility of adaptability Need for enough floor area for multiple users to work at the same time	(Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985) (Thiberg, 2007)
Infrastructure (electricity, plumbing, ventilation)	Plumbing and ventilation systems starkly define the location of the sink, dishwasher, stove, oven and ventilation hub Flexible position of the piping and exhaust air duct Future relocation possibility of outlets of the plumbing and ventilation system (water pipes behind the lower cabinets or horizontal air vents in the upper cabinets)	(Thiberg, 2007) (Lind & Mjörnell, 2015)
Daylight and windows	Requires sufficient façade length Disadvantages of 'single-sided' apartments: poorer lighting, fewer outlooks, decreased natural ventilation At work surfaces, daylight from the side is favoured Need for complementary electrical lighting Recommended: at least one window in the kitchen (required by law in apartments larger than 55 m ²)	(Hallberg & Thiberg, 1985) (Thiberg, 2007) (Nowakowski, 2015) (BFS 2011:6)
Dining area	Important for daily life, everyday tasks (e.g., doing homework, working) and social activities It is favourable to have a spacious dining table Functions as an extension of the countertop It is recommended to be placed near work surfaces and storage spaces and in or close to the kitchen Advantageous to have a window close to the dining area	(Thiberg, 2007) (Örnhall, 2019) (Hagejärd et al., 2020)

5.3.2. Design features of contemporary kitchens and apartments

Regarding the overall characteristics of the apartments, the floorplan analysis showed that studio (39%) and one-bedroom (21%) apartments comprised more than half of the apartments in the sample. The smallest apartment was 23 m², the largest was 182.9 m² and the average floor area was 60.6 m². Most of the apartments were designed with a balcony or terrace (96%). The outdoor spaces were most commonly accessible from the combined kitchen-living room (80%). In apartments with separate kitchens, the outdoor spaces were more often connected to the living room. Although direct daylight in the apartments was mainly provided from two-perpendicular directions (40%), 81% of studio apartments and 30% of one-bedroom apartments received daylight only through one façade side.



Figure 8 – Apartment floorplan from the studied sample exemplifying the most common design solutions identified during the analysis (DW-dishwasher, F-fridge and freezer, O-oven and stoves, W-wardrobe, WM-washing machine) (as published in Paper C)

Regarding the spatial characteristics of the kitchens, Figure 8 illustrates an apartment floorplan with the most typical design solutions found in the studied sample. On average, the kitchen took up 19% of the apartment's floor area. The average kitchen floor area was 11.3 m². The apartments in the studied sample usually had combined kitchen-living rooms (95%). 54% of the kitchens were accessible by two doors. This created mostly B (pass-through room, 55%) or C (part of one ring, 25%) room typologies. However, the internal ring in the C typology kitchens was often created by a freestanding tall cupboard unit (67% of C typology kitchens). The most common kitchen typologies were the straight-kitchen (64%) and L-kitchen (31%). U-kitchens (3%) and parallel-kitchens (2%) were seldom planned in the apartments. Straight- and L-kitchen typologies in C typology rooms and U-kitchens in dead-end (A) rooms. 18% of the kitchens were designed with a freestanding tall cupboard unit and 3% (or 117) of the apartments were planned with a kitchen island. The dining area was most commonly located in the combined kitchen-living room (95%) and had a direct daylight

connection in 82% of the cases. The kitchens mostly received daylight from one direction (90%). Infrastructure-dependent appliances and the sink were often placed on perimeter walls between apartments (45% of all walls with infrastructure-dependent appliances) or lightweight interior walls (35% of all walls with infrastructure-dependent appliances). The shaft (including installations for electricity, plumbing and ventilation) was not directly connected to the kitchen in 36% of the apartments. In other cases, the shaft was in the kitchen (32%) or on its perimeter (22%). The drawings did not indicate the shaft in 10% of the apartments.

5.3.3. Adaptive capacity assessment

In Study 3, four adaptive capacity indicators were assessed: Rearrange, Reconfigure, Relocate and Expand or reduce. Additionally, design solutions that enabled or hindered the different indicators were explored. The results of the adaptive capacity assessment are summarised in Table 15.

Ada Indi	ptive Capacity cator	Adaptive capacity in the sample	Hindering factors	Enabling design solutions
Rea	rrange	89%	 lack of space limited width of the room existing connections to other rooms 	 'squarish' enclosure of the room continuous interior wall surfaces larger floor area fewer traffic zones
	Open new door	4%	 no adjacent unconnected rooms built-in furniture in the way 	 location and number of windows (e.g. multiple windows arranged along a façade side)
Ð	Remove existing door	26%	 lack of alternative access to the adjacent room 	room organisationlarger floor area
configur	Separate open kitchen	76%	 lack of window access lack of space 	
Rec	Open separate kitchen	79%	 short wall connection between the kitchen and an adjacent room structural wall in the way no adjacent room that could function as living room area 	-
Relocate		32%	 limited shaft access inability to utilise the current location of the kitchen as another room or function 	 shaft access from multiple rooms multiple shafts in the apartment location and number of windows
Exp	and or reduce	76%	 lack of space lack of window access existing connections to other rooms 	 storage room next to the kitchen open floorplan design larger floor area

Table 15 –	Overview	of adaptive	capacity of	kitchens	in the samp	le (based or	Table 9 of Paper C)
	orennen	oradaptive	capacity of	Ricorreito	in the samp	ie (babea oi	i rabie b or raper ej

The overall results indicate that contemporary apartment floorplans could only be partially adapted. It was possible to rearrange the kitchen in 89% of the apartments, reconfigure by separating (76%) or opening (79%) the kitchen and expand or reduce the kitchen in 76% of the apartments. However, rearranging the kitchen required major modification in 42% of the sample. Additionally, the possibility of relocating the kitchen or reconfiguring it by opening or removing door openings was rather limited. Furthermore, only in 23% of the sample were all four indicators enabled in the original floorplan design.

Adaptive capacity significantly increased in apartments larger than 55 m² and kitchens larger than 10 m². The analysis also identified design solutions which could increase the adaptive capacity of dwellings: 'squarish' enclosure of the room, continuous interior wall surfaces, larger floor area, fewer traffic zones, room organisation, shaft access from multiple rooms, multiple shafts in the apartment, location and number of windows, storage room next to the kitchen or open floorplan design. A detailed description of the results connected to the adaptive capacity of the kitchens is published in the appended Paper C.

Aim	Assessing the implementation of adaptability strategies in CBD and enhancing circular building adaptability in residential architecture
Study participants	Architects (n=6 participants, 1 participant/firm)
Data collection	Semi-structured interviews
Data analysis	Qualitative content analysis with circular building adaptability determinants as a coding framework
Output	Paper D (journal paper)

5.4. Study 4: Circular building adaptability in multi-residential buildings

5.4.1. Circular building adaptability in multi-residential building design

In the interviews of Study 4, design strategies used in current CBD were explored. The identified design strategies and their potential adaptability features are presented in Table 16. These strategies were then analysed for their contribution to circular building adaptability determinants (Hamida et al., 2022) and their possible application to the shearing layers (inspired by the inventory matrix Geldermans, 2016).

In the interviews, the participants explained their choices of design strategies for circular muti-residential building projects and the reasons for selecting those strategies. It was found that adaptability was not a primary concern in their circular multi-residential building projects for five out of six interviewees. The strategies they applied were often implemented to support other CBD strategies, such as design for disassembly, rather than explicitly promoting adaptability. The architects viewed design for adaptability as less crucial than other circular design strategies, as its impact on resource reduction was seen as less immediate or quantifiable. However, one interviewee stressed that circular buildings should be adaptable in both the short- and long-term and enable changes for the end-users.

Design Strategies	Adaptability Features
Open building concept	Flexible position of the partition walls
	Various floorplan solutions and room connections
Pre-cut openings in structural walls	Opening and closing entrance doors
Over-capacity	Various floorplan solutions
	Multiple functions for dwelling units and buildings
	Scalable dwelling and room sizes
Demountable building components	Dismantling relocating and re-assembling buildings
bemountable building components	Changing the physical composition of buildings
	Separatable components enabling future reconfiguration and
	maintenance of the space
	Scalable building and dwelling sizes
Prefabricated building components	Standardised measurements contributing to regular patterns in spatial configuration
Stackable building components	Regular patterns on the dwelling and building scale
	Scalable building sizes
Modular, standardised building	Regular patterns on the dwelling and building scale
components	Scalable building sizes
Scenario planning	Various floorplan solutions
Combined room functions	Multiple functional uses of space
Universal ceiling height	Regular dimensions for floor heights Different building functions (e.g., housing, offices)
General room sizes	Regular dimensions for rooms Interchangeable room functions
Sliding walls	Various floorplan solutions
	Scalable room sizes
Centralised location of infrastructure	Multiple locations for infrastructure-dependent dwelling units
systems (infrastructure core)	(e.g., kitchen, bathroom)
Increased floor thickness for	Multiple locations for infrastructure-dependent dwelling units
infrastructure systems	(e.g., kitchen, bathroom)
Removable covers or panels in the walls and floors	Access to infrastructure installations to maintain, repair or modify
Partition walls free from	Possibility to move partition walls without adjusting infrastructure
infrastructure installations	systems
Combined product function	Efficient space utilisation
Reversible connections	Dismantling, relocating and re-assembling buildings Separatable components and materials that enable future reconfiguration of the space
Renewable energy systems	Resilient and reduced resource use
Aligning material measurements with building units and components	Regular patterns on the dwelling and building scale
Durable materials for ease of	Adjustable interior finishings
maintenance, reuse and recycling	Choices for the end-users to personalise their space

Four interviewees shared that their companies developed stackable and modular building components. They created prefabricated dwelling units rather than employing a contractor to construct the buildings. These units could be delivered as individual houses or stacked to form terraced or multi-residential buildings. This strategy involved offering standardised floorplan solutions for various apartment sizes, including studio, one-bedroom, two-bedroom and three-bedroom apartments. However, these floorplan solutions were predefined and did not offer many opportunities for adaptation, making them suitable only for certain traditional household types. In contrast, another interviewee shared a different approach: developing an open floorplan solution for their building project. In this approach, the residents could purchase several dwelling units, combine them and design their own floorplan solutions. While the project's architects did provide floorplan suggestions, all the residents chose to create their own unique floorplans that best suited their household preferences. This example emphasises the crucial role of end-users in shaping their own living spaces and highlights that scenario planning alone is insufficient to address the end-users' spatial requirements.

The ownership form of the dwelling units further influenced the extent of adaptability features discussed in the examples (containing both rental and owner-occupied dwellings). In rental dwellings, the building owners' interest was to limit the potential alterations the end-users could perform to prevent damage to building components. While in owner-occupied dwellings, the end-users (owners) had the chance to be in control of their spaces and alter them according to their preferences. These preconditions resulted in the architects applying different design strategies, enabling various levels of adaptability for rental and owner-occupied dwellings. This difference would be worth exploring in future research.

A detailed description of the identified strategies' contribution to circular building adaptability determinants and their possible application to the shearing layers can be found in the appended paper D. The combined results of the interviews and the analysis of the identified circular design strategies were summarised as follows (as published in Paper D):

- The design strategies often facilitated multiple circular building adaptability determinants and could be applied on several shearing layers simultaneously.
- All ten circular building adaptability determinants were supported by design strategies applied in current CBD. However, some of the determinants were more supported than others.
- The selection process of design strategies lacked the explicit consideration of design for adaptability.
- The design strategies that enabled adaptability offered long-term solutions requiring large-scale modifications rather than facilitating low-impact adaptation by dwelling occupants.
- The design strategies were not applied in a systematic way, resulting in partial adaptability in each building example discussed.

5.4.2. The conceptual design framework

A conceptual design framework was developed based on the analysis of the identified design strategies and inspired by Geldermans' (2016) inventory matrix (Table 17). The three main components of the framework are a library of design strategies enabling circular building adaptability, the circular building adaptability determinants and the building dissected into

its parts. These three parts can be used in an iterative way. For instance, designers could take a starting point in the design program to define the shearing layers and their components. Then, they could select applicable design strategies while tracking that the circular building adaptability determinants were comprehensively addressed. In this sense, the framework can be applied not only as a design tool but also as a documentation or analytical tool.

esign strategy	onfiguration flexibility	roduct dismantlability	sset multi-usability	esign regularity	unctional convertibility	Aaterial reversibility	uilding maintainability	esource recovery	olume scalability	sset refit-ability		Building Subcategory	
	0	4	٩		Ű.	2	В	2	>	٩	Shearing layer	(Sc)	Part *
DS-1											Stuff	Sc-n	Part-n
DS-2											Space plan	Sc-n	Part-n
DS-3											Service system	Sc-n	Part-n
											Structure	Sc-n	Part-n
DS-n											Skin	Sc-n	Part-n
											Site	Sc-n	Part-n

Table 17 - Conceptual design framework for implementing circular building adaptability (based on Table 7 ofPaper D)

* component, product, material, etc.

5.5. Validation study: Housing developers' and architects' considerations regarding spatial design

This sub-chapter is based on the validation study consisting of group interviews with architects and interviews and a workshop with housing developers and managers. The validation study aimed to verify some of the key results of the four studies by further investigating how housing developers and architects consider spatial design aspects in residential building projects and what processes, roles, requirements and responsibilities they have in connection to it.

The interviews revealed that housing developers and managers often did not have specific requirements for spatial design and relied on the expertise of architects. During the group interviews, the architects demonstrated a vast knowledge of and consideration for spatial design in residential building projects (including advantageous design solutions identified by the studies). However, similar to the results of Study 1, they expressed that these insights often got lost in the process of compromise, primarily driven by economic factors and resulting spatial restrictions due to the application of minimal requirements of the building regulations as upper limits (usually imposed by their clients). Architects, bound by the requirements of their clients, often had to make decisions that did not fully utilise their knowledge. Interestingly, when designing the spaces of their own homes, like their kitchens, the architects explained that they opted for different design solutions than the conventional ones in multi-residential buildings. They argued that those alternative solutions were more suitable for their needs (as end-users).

Regarding the functionality and adaptability of the residential building projects, the housing developers were asked whether they had established processes to follow up on previous projects and evaluated end-user satisfaction. The housing developers, who also managed the multi-residential buildings after production, collected some feedback through the reported maintenance needs. However, similarly to the results of Studies 1, all interviewees admitted that they did not have direct feedback loops regarding end-user satisfaction and did not incorporate potential learnings into the design of new building projects. This resulted in a lack of knowledge transfer from one project to another. Additionally, similar to the results of Study 4, adaptability features were not a priority in the housing developers' new building projects.

The housing developers did not have established circularity agendas or goals. Observed barriers included a lack of regulatory incentive, hesitant organisational culture, lack of actionable knowledge and lack of circularity processes and products within the stakeholder network. Nevertheless, while discussing the results of the four studies during the workshop, the participants showed interest in learning about designing and building for circularity and formulating new requirements.

The interviews and workshop highlight the need for housing developers and managers to take on new responsibilities as building regulations are proposed to become less detailed. These responsibilities include specifying functional requirements as well as innovating and validating design solutions. To take on these new responsibilities, housing developers must collaborate with architects and other stakeholders in the building sector to establish new processes for outlining functional requirements. The housing developers' appreciation of the architects' spatial design skills is a promising sign in establishing such collaborations.
6. Discussion

This thesis explores spatial design to contribute to the knowledge on transitioning from a linear to a circular approach in the design, construction and utilisation of residential buildings. The four studies present how spatial design and its determining characteristics could be identified, described, assessed and enhanced to support CBD. This chapter discusses the results of the studies to answer the thesis's RQs and reflect on their significance in relation to previous literature. Additionally, recommendations are made regarding spatial design solutions that could support circularity in residential building design.

6.1. Spatial design's contribution to circularity in residential buildings

RQ1: How could spatial design contribute to circularity in residential building design?

The studies indicate that implementing functional and adaptable spatial design solutions can influence residential buildings' circular potential by supporting circularity's core principle: keeping resources in place at their highest utility and value (den Hollander et al., 2017; Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2015; Webster, 2017). In Study 1, stakeholders highlighted numerous spatial design elements while discussing preferences related to kitchen design. This underscored the significance of spatial design in supporting circularity, which was further explored in Studies 2, 3 and 4. These studies helped to understand the concepts of circularity and spatial design and their interrelation in the residential context. The results of the studies collectively suggest that functional and adaptable spatial design can aid in narrowing and slowing resource loops. This is a noteworthy contribution, especially considering that current literature primarily focuses on end-of-life scenarios (closing loops), such as recycling obsolete building materials and components (Askar et al., 2022; Dokter et al., 2021; Kozminska, 2019; Munaro et al., 2020).

It is interesting to observe that it is not only spatial design that can impact circularity. Instead, spatial design and circularity influence each other simultaneously. This provides an exemplary illustration of the socio-material entanglement observed in the subject under study. Study 4 indicates that the circular design strategies applied in CBD shape the spatial design of residential buildings. Certain design strategies (e.g., design for standardisation, modularity, prefabrication and disassembly) can lead to repetitive, minimal spaces which only support specific end-user groups. This, combined with the lack of consideration for adaptability in circular (residential) buildings, compromises the transition to circularity. Therefore, this thesis recommends that functionality and adaptability criteria must be systematically incorporated into the CBD approach.

In terms of functionality, the research studies indicate that functional spatial design solutions can contribute to circularity in residential buildings by reducing the need for alterations and connected material use (narrowing loops) and facilitating the long-term use of dwellings (slowing loops). Reducing the need for alteration and promoting the long-term use of dwellings could be achieved by implementing spatial design solutions commonly appreciated by end-users. While studying end-user behaviour and preferences, Study 2 shows that there are reoccurring, commonly appreciated spatial design solutions shared among end-users (such as the well-connected central location of the kitchen, advantageous room connections, more generous storage spaces and work surfaces, well-dimensioned and -placed dining areas and sufficient daylight). Some of these preferences are also noted in

previous literature (e.g., the works of Braide, 2019; Femenías & Geromel, 2019; Nylander, 2018; Tervo & Hirvonen, 2019). However, it is important to emphasise that not all end-user preferences align with circular behaviour patterns. Therefore, identified end-user preferences should also be evaluated for their compatibility with CE principles. As Daae et al. (2018) suggest, it is important to not only establish systems that support CE principles but also to encourage end-users to act in a way that aligns with these principles. In other words, the successful implementation of circular design solutions requires both the proper design solutions and the suitable behaviours. While this thesis advocates for studying and designing for end-user preferences, it also emphasises the need for the end-users to adopt behaviour patterns supporting circularity (e.g., reducing consumption, acceptance of pre-owned products, willingness to repair, reducing waste resulting from use or alteration of products).

Functionality, however, is a temporal phenomenon. The literature reveals a noticeable evolution over the past decade in how people, whether individuals or groups, utilise their homes and kitchens (Lee, 2018). It also highlights the changing nature of activities occurring in specific spaces of the home (Hagejärd et al., 2020; Willén, 2012). Functionality differs from end-user to end-user and changes even for a single end-user over time (Braide, 2019; Ekeblad, 1997; Werner, 2003). These differences and changes regarding functionality produce evolving spatial requirements (Braide, 2019). As a response, end-users tend to perform alterations when the original spatial design of their dwelling allows for it (Braide, 2019; Femenías & Geromel, 2019). A similar phenomenon was observed in Study 2. It was important for the interviewees to adjust the workflow in the kitchen to their specific preferences and create spatial solutions suitable for their lifestyles. The alterations were motivated by a need to create extra storage spaces and work surfaces, a wish to accommodate diverse social activities and changes in the family composition. The alterations included constructing additional rooms, opening new doors, moving windows, removing walls, installing kitchen islands and modifying the infrastructure systems. Furthermore, the alterations entailed replacing all built-in furniture cabinets with new ones in ten of the eleven cases. These alterations resulted in significant material flows and waste of resources. One explanation for this phenomenon could be the lack of adaptable solutions in the original design.

In terms of adaptability, spatial design could ensure that, when imperative, change is possible without generating unnecessary material flows and waste (narrowing loops), just as emphasised in the literature (Hamida et al., 2022). Additionally, adaptable spatial solutions could enable spatial solutions responsive to evolving end-user needs. As Braide, (2019) highlights, this is imperative to prolong the longevity and utilisation of the housing stock (slowing loops). The studies of this research contribute to the discussion on circularity in the residential context by demonstrating spatial design's importance in achieving adaptability. As shown in Study 3, the design of the determining spatial characteristics establishes the dwellings' adaptive capacity already at the construction of residential buildings. In Study 2, the examples of end-user alterations also reveal that the buildings' original design put certain restraints on the alterations they could perform. However, Study 4 confirms the findings of the literature (Askar et al., 2022; Hamida et al., 2022; Tarpio et al., 2021): adaptability is still not considered in current multi-residential building design. One explanation - that one of the interviewees of Study 4 shared - is that adaptability has a

seemingly less immediate effect and urgency than other circular design strategies. Nevertheless, adaptability's importance for circularity is extensively underscored in the literature (e.g., Askar et al., 2022; Hamida et al., 2022) and this thesis further emphasises the necessity of incorporating adaptability in CBD approaches.

In conclusion, on the one hand, the functionality of spatial design should be promoted by implementing design solutions that are commonly appreciated by end-users and are in line with CE principles. On the other hand, these standardised design solutions must incorporate opportunities for future adaptation. Combining the concepts of functionality and adaptability would lead to design solutions that are standardised yet adaptable. This thesis argues that such adaptable standard design requirements are vital in CBD and, hence, for transitioning to a circular built environment.

6.2. Social and material aspects of spatial design for circularity

As a starting point, the case of the kitchen provided a suitable example for studying the social and material aspects of spatial design. On the one hand, how the kitchen is designed and built affects the processes of the industry stakeholders and how end-users utilise and alter the space. On the other hand, the processes and preferences of the stakeholders connected to the kitchen shape how it is designed and utilised today. The studies highlight that aligning spatial design's social and material aspects is crucial to supporting circularity in residential buildings. This is exemplified in Sub-chapter 6.2.1, which discusses gaps identified within the materiality of current spatial design solutions of kitchens and presents recommendations for mending those gaps. Additionally, social aspects leading to these gaps are explained. Furthermore, 6.2.2 discusses stakeholder processes (social aspects) of spatial design that could promote more circularity in residential building design.

6.2.1. The gaps in the current spatial design solutions of residential kitchens

RQ2: What are the gaps in the current spatial design solutions of residential kitchens when assessing their circular potential?

Studies 1, 2 and 3 explored social and material aspects related to the circular potential of current spatial design solutions for residential kitchens. Studies 1 and 2 (identifying stakeholder preferences), compared with Study 3 (assessing contemporary apartment floorplans), show that current residential building design has shortcomings. This results in gaps in the spatial design solutions with regard to functionality, adaptability and, ultimately, circularity. To bridge these gaps, Study 3 identified advantageous spatial design solutions such as numerous and well-distributed windows in the apartment, a limited number of door openings in the kitchen, strategically placed traffic zones, centrally located shafts accessible from multiple rooms with windows, advantageous room typologies and room organisation (e.g., open kitchen-living rooms with the possibility to separate the rooms or outdoor spaces connected to the kitchen) and end-user favoured kitchen typologies (such as straight- and L-kitchens). The identified gaps and connected recommendations for advantageous design solutions are discussed in the following sub-chapters. These gaps are further illustrated in Paper C through apartment floorplan examples assessed in Study 3.

6.2.1.1. GAP 1 - Room organisation: the lack of diverse floorplan solutions and practical room organisations

Study 3 reveals that contemporary apartments are almost exclusively built with a combined kitchen-living room. Previous research has indicated a divided preference among occupants for a separate kitchen or a combined kitchen-living room design (Femenías & Geromel, 2019; Tervo & Hirvonen, 2019). In line with the literature, in Study 2, six households (of young couples, families with children and older couples) expressed a preference for a separate kitchen. They argued that combined kitchen-living room solutions might result in noise disturbances, spreading of unwanted odours and loss of storage space. On the contrary, other households have expressed that a combined kitchen-living room is preferable for hosting guests, cooking and watching the kids simultaneously and creating a spacious feeling.

Study 2 shows that end-users often prefer kitchens positioned in a central location that is well-integrated with other functions of the dwelling. According to the literature, the most important room connections from the kitchen are to the living room, entrance and outdoor areas (Thiberg, 2007). Study 3 found that these room connections are often present in the floorplan of multi-residential dwellings. However, how the rooms of the dwelling were arranged in the floorplan solution usually resulted in a fragmented room organisation, creating unfurnishable traffic zones and reducing free floor areas (further discussed in Subchapters 6.2.1.3 and 6.2.1.4).

Another recurring design solution that Study 3 reveals is narrow pass-through kitchens spilling over from the entrance of the dwelling, with a limited free floor area in front of the built-in furniture. Such a design solution limits the functionality of both the entrance and the kitchen. On the one hand, there is often insufficient space to change, greet guests or store outdoor clothing and equipment in such an entrance. On the other hand, in such a design solution, the entire kitchen becomes a traffic zone, creating collisions when someone uses the built-in furniture. Study 3 found that this design solution also reduces the possibilities for rearrangement, reconfiguration and expansion of the kitchen.

In conclusion, it would be advantageous to design combined kitchen-living rooms with the potential for easy partitioning. While the Swedish building regulations mandate that the kitchen and living room should be separable in apartments larger than 55 m², the separation is only indicated with a dashed line on the floorplan and there are no feasible, easily realisable or built-in solutions to separate the two rooms in case the end-users would wish to do so. Furthermore, a balance should be struck between apartments with separate kitchens and combined kitchen-living rooms in new residential buildings. Additionally, creating less fragmented floorplans in which the kitchen is placed in an area with limited traffic zones and close to the living room, dining spaces and windows enhances functionality, potentially increasing occupant satisfaction and reducing the need for future alterations.

6.2.1.2. GAP 2 - Kitchen furniture: the lack of space for storage, work surfaces and favourable kitchen typologies

As observed in the studies, some features of the built-in furniture influence the spatial design of the kitchen. For instance, the kitchen typology is interdependent with the room dimensions. Study 1 shows that industry stakeholders favour straight- and L-kitchen typologies. This aligns with the findings of the literature (Geromel, 2016; Thiberg, 2007). In

accordance, Study 3 shows that straight and L-shaped kitchens are the most prevalent typologies in contemporary apartments. However, it is important to mention that during the alterations examined in Study 2, the end-users prioritised creating sufficient work surfaces and storage spaces, even if they had to build a parallel or U-kitchen. They utilised the room dimensions and the available free wall surfaces to accommodate this preference for adequate work surfaces and storage space.

As the literature emphasises (Marco, 2022), there has been an increase in the volume of storage space that a household would need. Yet, contemporary residential designs have not adapted to meet this demand (Hand et al., 2007; Marco et al., 2021). This is also evidenced in the case of the kitchen. In the kitchen, the need for more storage space is driven not only by the accumulated material possessions but also by new activities performed in the kitchen. For instance, it was often discussed during the interviews of Studies 1 and 2 that waste sorting - a relatively new domestic task - is supposed to be carried out in the kitchen. However, the space allocated for this task, typically under the sink, was perceived as insufficient for sorting various waste types effectively. Consequently, the interviewees reported utilising alternative areas in their homes (e.g., garage, entrance, balcony) for waste sorting. The literature has also noted that contemporary kitchen design does not accommodate the necessary space required for waste sorting, failing to meet the demands of this new task performed in the kitchen (Sjöstrand, 2018).

The results indicate that contemporary apartment designs do not typically include kitchen islands. However, earlier research (Femenías & Geromel, 2019) has shown that kitchen islands are a favoured addition to the built-in furniture. In contrast, only two of the eleven households participating in Study 2 installed a kitchen island. It is worth noting that this might be due to limitations of free floor area rather than end-user preferences. Further investigations into understanding end-user preferences related to kitchen islands could result in more informed recommendations on related spatial requirements.

In conclusion, the results suggest that the dimensions of the kitchen should provide adequate space to accommodate both straight- or L-kitchen typologies. For reduced material use and ease of installation, it could also be advantageous to design kitchens with one open end rather than enclosed by two walls on the sides. Moreover, both the built-in furniture and the room must offer enough space to include adequate storage, ample work surfaces and effective waste-sorting solutions.

6.2.1.3. GAP 3 - Free floor area: the lack of excess space

Free floor areas play a significant role in apartments' furnishability, utilisations and adaptive capacity (Thiberg, 2007). Study 3 shows that apartments with a floor area exceeding 35 m² have an increase in adaptive capacity and those larger than 55 m² demonstrate significantly higher adaptability. Kitchens with a floor area greater than 10 m² also show enhanced adaptive capacity. This can be explained by the regulations requiring the possibility of separating the kitchen and the living room in apartments larger than 55m². To facilitate this, an adequate number of windows are necessary. This requirement for a sufficient number of windows also supports two of the adaptive capacity indicators, namely, Reconfigure and Relocate.

In line with previous literature (Femenías & Geromel, 2019; Hagejärd et al., 2020), Study 3 shows that larger apartments could more likely be designed with the identified

advantageous spatial design solutions (as demonstrated in Paper C) and, hence, cater to the preferences of diverse households, as the free floor area in those apartments allows for diverse spatial utilisations and adaptations. On the other hand, the results show that apartments smaller than 35 m² face challenges in implementing advantageous spatial design solutions due to spatial constraints. In such apartments, daylight access is limited, all dwelling functions (except for the bathroom) are confined to one room, there is no distinction between private and public room functions, the kitchen is cramped, traffic zones occupy all the free floor area, and there are no possibilities for adaptation. These apartments are usually suitable for a single occupant, are highly specific regarding arrangements for furnishing and utilisation and lack the possibility to adapt to changing household compositions.

Study 2 also shows that larger dwellings enable a more comprehensive range of possible alterations. The extent of the alterations also seems to be influenced by the dwelling type and ownership model. More extensive alterations were carried out in villas and terraced houses, which were inhabited by their owners. One possible explanation is that in these dwelling types, there is usually a more generous free floor area compared to apartments and the owners have more freedom to perform spatial alterations than in rental dwellings. Additionally, it could be argued that the middle- to high-income of the households is a key facilitator of the alterations and households with lower incomes would not be able to perform such extensive alterations. Therefore, designing rental dwellings with the identified advantageous design solutions is increasingly important. It is important to note that this does not imply building excessively large apartments, which could lead to increased construction costs and sales prices (as also discussed by Marco et al., 2021 and Saarimaa & Pelsmakers, 2020). Instead, this thesis highlights the potential for implementing advantageous design solutions within the same dwelling size. This approach can enhance the dwelling's quality, functionality and adaptability, offering practical and cost-effective solutions. For instance, practical room organisation, built-in solutions for partitioning, functional built-in furniture, strategically placed windows and doors and separating free floor areas and traffic zones can all contribute to a more functional and adaptable dwelling environment.

The identified relationship between the floor area and adaptive capacity aligns with the findings of previous studies. Larger apartments undergo alterations more frequently than smaller ones (Femenías & Geromel, 2019), likely due to the increased possibilities their space offers. Thiberg (2007) has noted the importance of reasonably large kitchens with adequate free floor areas for ensuring a high quality of life for end-users, including possible alterations according to their changing preferences. However, the results of Study 3 indicate a trend towards smaller newly produced apartments and kitchens. The average apartment floor area reported in Study 3 is 60.6 m², which is less than the averages found in the literature (e.g., 83 m², as in Femenías & Geromel, 2019) or what end-users consider a desirable apartment size (minimum of 69 m², as in Tervo & Hirvonen (2019). Additionally, 60% of the sample in Study 3 consists of studio and one-bedroom apartments. These smaller apartments primarily accommodate individuals or couples, as their size limits the types of end-users that would thrive in such dwellings. This increasing trend of constructing smaller apartments is concerning. Tervo & Hirvonen (2019) have observed that small housing units do not meet end-user needs and that the mass production of small apartments is primarily

driven by "the makers and executors of housing policy that allow the housing markets to determine apartment sizes and prices" (p.15). However, a conflict exists between apartments' floor area and affordability (Heidrich et al., 2017; Marco et al., 2021). As discussed earlier, the production of larger dwellings (with larger kitchens) incurs higher costs, which many households cannot afford. Additionally, the extra resource use associated with larger dwellings and the energy required for heating larger spaces are crucial considerations for a circular built environment. However, current discourse highlights a debate about the pros and cons of reducing apartment sizes versus providing alternative housing solutions such as collective or shared living (Braide, 2019; Tarpio et al., 2021). Further research is needed to identify suitable free floor areas for different housing and apartment types in relation to different end-user types, economic factors and environmental impacts.

In conclusion, the research shows that the available free floor area influences both functionality and adaptability. Hence, reasonable over-capacity of the free floor area is recommended in the original design of the building. However, it must be noted that this recommendation does not encourage building large dwellings with increased environmental impacts (resource use, heating, cooling, etc.). Instead, architects' expertise is crucial in accommodating this recommendation by balancing over-capacity with well-selected spatial design solutions (as demonstrated in Paper C). Additionally, the results indicate that it is increasingly important to apply design solutions that align with end-user preferences and provide solutions that enable easy alterations in all types of dwellings, independent of the households' dwelling type, ownership model or economic situation.

6.2.1.4. GAP 4 - Window and door openings: the lack of strategical placement and dimensioning

The presence, location and distribution of windows have been identified as crucial elements in enhancing the adaptability of apartment designs. Despite kitchens commonly having a window in many smaller apartments, Swedish building regulations permit the construction of kitchens in apartments with an area of less than 55 m² without direct daylight (BFS 2011:6). As seen in Study 3, when kitchens are designed without a window, the adaptive capacity of the apartment is reduced compared to apartments that incorporate a window in the kitchen. Additionally, the location and distribution of windows significantly affect both the reconfiguration and relocation of the kitchen. Study 2 further shows that this spatial characteristic is rather difficult and resource-intensive to modify during alterations. The studies reveal that besides windows, doors also influence the spatial design of kitchens by defining wall openings, room connections, traffic zones and disruptions in continuous wall surfaces. As observed in Study 3, in smaller apartments, the free floor area typically coincides with the traffic zones, thereby limiting the apartment's usability, furnishability and adaptability.

In conclusion, even in apartments where daylight is provided solely from one direction, it may be advantageous to design windows evenly distributed along the façade, with at least one connected to the kitchen. This arrangement would also facilitate the placement of the dining area near a window, which is currently more challenging in smaller apartments. Additionally, providing multiple windows instead of large window surfaces enables the possibility to subdivide the room in the future. Regarding spatial design solutions related to

doors, a less fragmented room organisation and optimised room connections can reduce the overlap between traffic zones and free floor areas. Furthermore, a reduced number of door openings could provide continuous wall surfaces for additional built-in furniture for storage spaces, work surfaces and waste sorting.

6.2.1.5. GAP 5 – Infrastructure: the lack of adaptable infrastructure outlets and accessible shafts

As observed in Study 3, the location, adaptive capacity and accessibility of infrastructure systems can influence the circular potential of the kitchen design. Low-impact alterations rely on easy modification of the electrical, plumbing and ventilation outlets, which would also enable ease of maintenance in the long term. In Study 1, the industry stakeholders remarked that the spatial design of the kitchen depends on the plumbing, ventilation ducts and, to a lesser extent, electrical outlets. This dependency is in line with prior research, such as that conducted by Lind & Mjörnell (2015). Their work suggests that renovations of plumbing and ventilation systems are frequently accompanied by kitchen renovations, which typically involve the replacement of all built-in furniture. Visa versa, in Study 2, it was observed that alterations in the kitchens often resulted in modifications to the infrastructure systems. It was important for the participants of Study 2 to create a suitable workflow in their kitchens. Consequently, they often replaced all the built-in furniture, resulting in modifications to the infrastructure system. Study 3 further shows that the relocation of a kitchen is directly linked to the existence of multiple shafts within the apartment, typically one associated with the kitchen and another with the bathroom. This arrangement facilitates multiple access points, often from different rooms.

In conclusion, the more adaptable infrastructure outlets are, the less extensive the spatial alterations could be. This could potentially reduce waste generated during kitchen alterations. Additionally, having multiple shafts in or connected to an apartment could offer various floorplan solutions catering to diverse end-user preferences. However, it is important to note that such design solutions should not trigger unnecessarily extensive construction work leading to significant material flows. As emphasised earlier, end-users must adopt behaviour patterns aligning with CE principles.

6.2.1.6. Overall remarks on the spatial design of residential kitchens

The studies highlight the sociomaterial entanglement across several shearing layers. The results of Study 2 indicate that end-user preferences (as part of the social layer) related to the utilisation and alteration of their home directly impact the design of the space plan layer. Additionally, the dimensions of the space plan layer predefine the arrangement and possible modification of the built-in and mobile furnishing (stuff). Vice versa, the requirements regarding the built-in and mobile furnishing dictate the minimum dimensions of the space plan layer. Furthermore, as the spatial alterations in Study 2 and the adaptive capacity assessment in Study 3 show, the infrastructure systems (service layer) can influence possibilities for furnishing the room and future alterations. Moreover, the original design of the façade (skin layer) and elements of the structure layer define possible future alterations. This indicates that the identified advantageous spatial design solutions supporting circularity must be aligned across the shearing layers with attention paid to their varying lifespan and opportunities for dis- and reassembly (as also suggested by Schmidt & Austin, 2016).

Regarding functionality, the studies show that the findings of the end-user studies performed by HFI between the 1940s and 1980s are still broadly applicable. For instance, design guidelines for adequate daylight, free floor areas, room connections, accessibility, workflows and furnishing solutions (Thiberg, 2007) still provide good functionality. However, implementing these design guidelines has shortcomings in current residential building design. This shortcoming could be amended by adopting the recommendations of this thesis. These recommendations are straightforward to implement, requiring minimal specialised technical solutions. They can be realised using currently available technologies and should not necessarily impose any additional financial burdens.

Regarding adaptability, the results suggest a need to implement design solutions on different scales related to the different shearing layers. Currently, there is a lack of design solutions that enable the end-users to perform easy modifications. Adaptability solutions should facilitate short- and long-term alterations; however, altering different shearing layers might need to be authorised for specific stakeholders. While the end-users should be able to easily modify the built-in and mobile furnishing (stuff) or the space plan, the housing manager should look over the more extensive alterations involving the service system, skin or structure.

6.2.2. Stakeholder processes supporting circular residential building design

RQ3: How could stakeholder processes related to spatial design enhance circularity in residential buildings?

The results of mapping the processes of the stakeholders in Study 1 show two main value opportunities that are currently overlooked: (1) the lack of attention to gathering evidence on and implementing end-user preferences and (2) the segmented stakeholder network where different stakeholders are only part of a short section of building development. Additionally, in Study 2, the participants demonstrated behaviour patterns that do not align with CE principles and their spatial alterations did not include considerations of sustainability or circularity. This was partly due to the lack of products or services that could enable sustainable or circular choices. Furthermore, Study 4 shows that the implementation of CBD in residential buildings is still fragmented and requires a more holistic and systematic application.

A growing body of literature underscores the significance of end-user preferences (Daae et al., 2018; Lofthouse & Prendeville, 2018; Pomponi & Moncaster, 2017; Selvefors et al., 2019). This research observes that end-user preferences are frequently overlooked in practical implementations of CBD. Study 1 reveals that end-users' involvement in the design processes of multi-residential buildings is currently limited. In multi-residential projects, the housing developer, not the end-user, is the primary client; they have an important role in shaping residential environments for the end-users. As a result, the objectives and interests of housing developers often overshadow those of the end-users. One explanation is that economic and regulatory considerations usually supersede user preferences. While end-users may not be involved in the design process of multi-residential housing, their preferences should be considered to a larger extent, as also advocated by previous literature (Braide, 2019; Werner & Grange, 2011). As Study 2 shows, end-users have strong preferences regarding their living environment and given the resources (spatial preconditions, financial means), they perform spatial alterations, which often result in

generating waste and using virgin resources. Hence, understanding end-user preferences is increasingly important for realising a circular built environment. A design approach for multi-residential buildings based on end-user preferences might enable better functionality and adaptability, prolong the lifespan of dwellings, reduce the impacts of spatial alterations and decrease resource exploitation (as outlined in Sub-chapter 6.1). In summary, end-user considerations must be more thoroughly integrated into CBD's theories and practical applications. This is in line with the observations of Pomponi & Moncaster (2017), advocating for a more thorough investigation of the societal and behavioural dimensions of the built environment.

In Study 1, the housing developers and the architects recognised their limited capacity to gather evidence-based input on current end-user preferences. The empirical data of the validation study further shows that end-user perspectives in building projects are not evaluated and observations on (in)adequate design solutions are not documented, limiting the potential for design improvement in future projects (as also found by (Werner & Grange, 2011). In this regard, collaboration between academia and practice could be a potential resource in identifying end-user preferences and supporting spatial design solutions. Such collaboration has proven advantageous before, as demonstrated in the state-funded kitchen research performed by HFI between 1940s and 1980s (Lee, 2018). Many of the recommendations of that research remain relevant and are still a foundation of housing qualities today (e.g., functional requirements of kitchens).

While specific to the design and construction process of kitchens within a particular cultural context (Sweden), the stakeholder network under investigation has revealed issues also discussed in the international literature. The results of the studies unfold a lengthy and intricate stakeholder network with stakeholders participating only in segments of the design and construction processes (as also identified by Eberhardt et al., 2019). Study 1 identifies currently overlooked values (such as current linear processes, limited end-user involvement, lack of consideration for the environment and society, more compact living spaces, lack of product and material recovery and strictly applied minimum regulations) that could be harnessed through improved and expanded collaboration, a strategy highlighted by several authors (e.g., Dokter, 2023; Eberhardt et al., 2019). Strengthening existing collaborations and establishing new ones throughout the stakeholder network could exploit these untapped circular values. These partnerships could promote circular design solutions for building components and material innovations. Stakeholders are also urged to reevaluate their value-creation approach to facilitate a circular built environment (Nußholz, 2017). The prevailing business model associated with kitchens, which is linear and economically driven, requires restructuring to incorporate environmental and social factors, as also suggested by prior research (Bocken et al., 2013). Regarding the stakeholder network, this thesis emphasises that to achieve circularity in the building industry, it is essential to improve the involvement of the different stakeholders in building developments and enhance their collaborative efforts throughout the design, construction and post-production processes.

The roles of various stakeholders also need to be reevaluated. For instance, in the face of loosening building regulations (Boverket, 2020), housing developers may need to take on more responsibility for advocating for sustainable and circular alternatives and working towards improving the spatial quality of living environments. As Study 1 demonstrates, architects possess vast knowledge and understanding of functional and adaptable spatial

design. Although this expertise is currently underutilised, the validation study reveals that housing developers value and trust the design knowledge of architects. Additionally, multitudes of design strategies are available to facilitate functionality and adaptability. The studies show that some of these strategies (such as advantageous room connections, welldimensioned and -placed dining areas and sufficient daylight) are already applied in current residential building design. However, they are not explicitly considered for enabling functionality and adaptability. What needs to be improved is systematically considering design strategies and purposefully designing for functionality and adaptability. Housing developers and architects could play an important role in synthesising and incorporating the available knowledge into CBD.

In terms of current building regulations, Study 1 reveals a generally positive perception of the functional requirements of residential building design. These regulations are seen as beneficial in guiding the creation of quality homes and averting unsuitable solutions. However, with the proposed changes to the building regulations - reducing functional requirements - there is a concerning trend of treating these minimum requirements as the maximum standards. Rather than reducing functional requirements, this thesis advocates for a new line of research to provide contemporary evidence-based data for revising building regulations. The ways people use their homes, for instance, which individuals or groups are active in the kitchen, has evolved over the past decade. These changes must be mapped and studied to provide relevant information for regulatory changes.

The proposed changes to the building regulations also seem to neglect considerations of sustainability and circularity despite existing national regulations and policies - like the Swedish Climate Act (SFS 2017:720) and Sweden's National Strategy for a Circular Economy (Regeringskansliet, 2020) - aiming to promote sustainability and CE principles. Study 1 highlights the lack of policy and regulatory support for circularity demands, a point also emphasised by Hart et al. (2019) and Kirchherr et al. (2018). The interviewees demonstrated a good understanding of the issues associated with current linear production and consumption models. However, some industry stakeholders suggested that without regulatory requirements for circularity, they would not alter their production processes and business models due to the perceived high costs of adopting circular models. This underscores the need to bridge the gap between academic knowledge in the field of CE, its practical implementation and the supporting regulations.

In conclusion, this thesis identifies several stakeholder processes related to spatial design that could support more circularity in residential buildings. These processes include:

- stakeholders establishing extended collaborations in the stakeholder network,
- housing developers and architects studying, evaluating and implementing end-user preferences that align with circularity,
- housing developers incorporating circularity in their (design) requirements,
- housing developers valorising architects' spatial design knowledge,
- architects designing and advocating for functionality and adaptability as an integral part of CBD,
- end-users adopting behaviour patterns that align with circularity and
- policy-makers formulating regulations promoting circularity in the built environment supported by evidence-based research.

While these processes are vital to supporting circularity in residential buildings, it is important to acknowledge that the list of these processes is not exhaustive and could benefit from further investigation.

6.3. Limitations

As outlined in connection to the methodological considerations, this thesis needs to be understood while reflecting on six types of limitations: the socio-cultural (Swedish) context, the focus on the spatial design of kitchens, the limited number and representation of participants in the studies, the foremost qualitative nature of the research, the researcher's contribution to the knowledge development and the available methods assessing spatial design in the circularity context. These limitations are briefly summarised in the following and a more profound reflection in connection to them can be found in Sub-chapter 4.6.

The research results are embedded in the Swedish socio-cultural context. This contextspecific nature of the research could potentially limit the interpretation of the results in other cultural or geographical contexts. However, given the similarities in socio-cultural aspects across Western cultures, the results of this research could be cautiously extrapolated to similar socio-cultural contexts.

The studies' focus on kitchens may also impose certain constraints on the knowledge generated. However, the more general results of the study, which are not specific to the kitchen context, could be adapted to other less specific spatial settings. Nevertheless, indepth research on the dwelling and building level is necessary to comprehend spatial design's implications for circularity.

The qualitative studies primarily involved industry stakeholders, such as housing developers, housing managers, architects, kitchen furniture producers, contractors and real estate brokers. The end-user perspectives were explored through a limited number of participants, restraining the breadth of perspectives and experiences considered in the studies. Despite this limitation of the number of stakeholders involved in the studies, the results provide valuable insights that could benefit from further research involving a broader range of stakeholders, especially a more diverse representation of end-user groups.

The research team's active participation also influenced the research outcome. To mitigate the potential bias and influence of the research team, various methods and sources for data collection were employed and the results were validated through interviews and a workshop with architects, housing developers, housing managers and some of their suppliers.

An additional methodological challenge emerged during the research design of Study 3, which considered the available frameworks for assessing adaptability in the circular design context. At the time of developing the means of assessment for the adaptive capacity evaluation of apartment floorplans, no comprehensive theoretical frameworks integrated the concepts of adaptability and circularity. Consequently, the study relied on existing theories related to adaptability in general. However, an alternative approach could be considered today to produce more coherent results, namely, integrating the determinants of circular building adaptability in the analytical and assessment frameworks developed in this thesis.

7. Conclusions

The overall aim of this PhD research is to contribute to the knowledge development and the discussion on transitioning from a linear to a circular approach in the design, construction and utilisation of residential buildings. In this thesis, four studies unfold spatial designs' contribution to circularity through exploring stakeholder processes and preferences (Studies 1 and 2), analysing the circular potential of the physical manifestation of spatial design (Study 3) and investigating the integration of adaptability (as one of the key factors of spatial design's contribution to circularity) into CBD processes (Study 4). The following sub-chapters summarise the contributions of this thesis, implications for practice and recommendations for future research pathways.

7.1. Contributions

The novelty of this thesis is highlighting spatial design's importance and contribution to circularity in residential buildings. The studies reveal that spatial design could contribute to circularity by slowing and narrowing resource loops. This can be achieved through functional and adaptable spatial design. Much research and knowledge exists concerning design guidelines for the functionality and adaptability of residential buildings and dwellings. However, the studies of this research show that the practical implementation of this knowledge has shortcomings.

Regarding functionality, this thesis highlights that more emphasis needs to be placed on end-user perspectives, evaluation of building projects post-production and implementation of the learnings. The studies show that end-users commonly prefer certain spatial design solutions. Implementing these design solutions could facilitate the long-term use of dwellings and reduce the need for alterations. Continuous evaluation and implementation of end-users' design preferences are crucial to creating evidence-based functional spatial design of dwellings.

Regarding adaptability, a comprehensive application of the concept must be facilitated and encouraged in practice. The studies show that adaptability is down-prioritised in the design process in current design practice. Adaptability must be incorporated holistically into CBD throughout all shearing layers and with regard to short-term and long-term solutions so resource-efficient alterations can be easily carried out. As previous literature also emphasised, this thesis concludes that adaptability is a key component of CBD. To facilitate the implementation of adaptability features in CBD, this thesis provides methodological pathways, frameworks and examples of spatial design solutions that could support circularity in residential buildings.

Study 1 shows that stakeholders wish to be part of a larger segment of building projects. The complex and lengthy stakeholder network currently involves stakeholders in only parts of the process. The results also expose that despite architects possessing a vast knowledge of spatial design solutions facilitating functionality and adaptability, they sometimes implement less suitable design solutions due to compromises made based on the requirements and budgetary constraints of the housing developers. Study 4 further reveals that architects' conventional knowledge and skills have evolved in the new circular paradigm. However, currently, there is a significant emphasis on technical aspects concerning the selection of materials and the adoption of technologies that foster

circularity. Despite demonstrating a novel skill set and understanding of circular design approaches, the architects did not sufficiently consider the end-users' perspectives in Study 4. Additionally, the implemented design strategies' impact on the dwellings' spatial design was not evaluated. Architects' knowledge of advantageous spatial design solutions should be better valorised in CBD processes.

The case-specific results connected to the kitchen's spatial design show that the research of HFI performed between the 1940s and 1980s is still applicable to a large extent. However, this thesis identifies a need to reintroduce end-user-focused research to evaluate the preferences of a broader range of end-user profiles, investigate previously non-dominant kitchen activities and expand the research subjects to sustainability and circularity demands. Such research is also important with regard to the proposed changes to Swedish building regulations. Instead of prioritising short-term benefits, policymakers should address the long-term implications of circularity.

Table 18 – Overview of the contributions of the four studies of the thesis

Study	Contributions
Study 1	Pinpoints four circular value opportunities for the built environment Identifies the potential significance of spatial design for circularity Reveals some of the spatial characteristics of the kitchen Provides insight into stakeholder preferences regarding the spatial design of kitchens Highlights design preferences of stakeholders regarding the built-in furniture of the kitchen Exemplifies the segmented stakeholder network within the building industry Identifies the need for increased collaboration among stakeholders Highlights the need for evaluating and implementing end-user needs
Study 2	Exemplifies spatial alterations performed in the kitchen Provides insight into end-user preferences regarding the spatial design of kitchens Provides insight into motivations behind end-user-driven alterations of kitchens Highlights design preferences of end-users regarding the built-in furniture of the kitchen Outlines advantageous spatial design solutions supporting circularity in residential buildings
Study 3	Identifies spatial characteristics of the kitchens Develops a spatial analytical framework to assess the spatial design of kitchens in apartment floorplans Develops an assessment criteria to evaluate the adaptive capacity of kitchens in apartment floorplans Presents a descriptive overview of contemporary design solutions for kitchens and evaluates the functionality of those solutions Provides an assessment of the adaptive capacity of contemporary apartment floorplans Outlines spatial design solutions that can support circularity in residential buildings
Study 4	Identifies design strategies applied in current CBD in the multi-residential context Presents an overview of architects' design approaches and connected reasonings regarding circular design strategies Provides an evaluation of the identified design strategies in terms of their support of circular building adaptability determinants Provides an overview of the identified design strategies' application to various shearing layers Develops a conceptual design framework to support the implementation of circular building adaptability determinants Identifies the lack of consideration for adaptable design solutions in current CBD Identifies the lack of consideration for diverse end-user preferences Exemplifies the changing role of architects in the new circular paradigm

This thesis complements the research in the field of CBD with several methodological contributions. Currently, there is a lack of assessment tools to evaluate the circular potential of spatial design solutions. My work contributes to bridging this gap by adopting and developing frameworks and assessment tools through the spatial analytical framework and the adaptive assessment criteria presented in Paper C and the conceptual design framework for implementing circular building adaptability presented in Paper D. Additionally, the four studies of this thesis collectively provide methodological pathways for assessing the circular potential of spatial design. An overview of the study-specific contributions can be found in Table 18.

In conclusion, this thesis advocates incorporating functionality and adaptability requirements in CBD approaches. Combining the concepts of functionality and adaptability would lead to design solutions that are standardised yet adaptable. This thesis argues that such adaptable standard design requirements are vital in CBD and, hence, for transitioning to a circular built environment. Additionally, this thesis highlights the need for enhanced collaboration among stakeholders in the building industry and expanded evaluation and implementation of end-user preferences related to the design of their dwellings.

7.2. Implications for practice

The role of architects is pivotal in shaping the future of sustainable living spaces. Their knowledge and skills are instrumental in designing functional and adaptable spaces. The implications of this research underscore the importance of spatial design for circularity in residential buildings. Architects are encouraged to consider these aspects in their designs, advocate for and promote functional and adaptable spaces and support end-user behaviour that aligns with circularity.

This thesis emphasises the importance of integrating CE principles into residential building design, which extends beyond material reuse and waste management. It advocates for the design of adaptable, functional residential buildings that support circularity. With the impending changes in Swedish building regulations, housing developers face new challenges. They must embrace new responsibilities, particularly in defining and enforcing functional requirements in residential design. Aligning these functional requirements with circularity demands and end-user preferences is a difficult task. Successful execution of this task requires industry-wide collaboration; housing developers, architects, researchers and other stakeholders must be engaged and take an active role in it. This thesis provides valuable insights by identifying spatial design solutions that align with CE principles and end-user preferences. Furthermore, this thesis highlights the need to establish evaluation channels and foster collaboration, moving away from siloed operations.

The shift in governmental regulations over the past century reveals two significant concerns: (1) a lack of guidance from evidence-based research and (2) a lack of prioritising housing qualities supporting end-users' preferences and needs. My research provides evidence-based design recommendations, particularly regarding the spatial design of kitchens. These recommendations could inform upcoming changes in the building regulations. By incorporating these results into the regulations, it would be possible to promote design solutions that are more functional, adaptable and in line with the CE principles. This would ultimately contribute to creating living spaces better suited to the needs of the end-users and the environment.

7.3. Further research

While this thesis presents insights into spatial designs' contribution to circularity, it also identifies pathways for future research. Firstly, the explorations initiated in connection with the kitchen could be applied to other spaces of the home. Future research might investigate which spatial characteristics define other spaces (e.g., bathroom, entrance, bedrooms, balconies) and how those spaces may be designed based on CE principles. This could lead to a holistic overview of functional requirements for CBD in the residential building context.

Second, while this thesis acknowledges and advocates for a comprehensive exploration and integration of end-user preferences in CBD, it does not provide exhaustive input on such preferences. There is a need for further research to comprehend the design preferences of a broader range of household types and end-user profiles, going beyond the traditional categories of singles, couples, families and the elderly. The research should also delve into the evolving activities conducted in the kitchen and other home areas. For instance, the kitchen has seen a shift in its utilisation, including changes in cooking habits, food choices and social interactions. Although the CIK project explored some of these changes, it maintained a somewhat traditional perspective on kitchen use. There is a need to investigate more innovative approaches and lifestyles that align with CE principles. The findings from such research could assist architects and housing developers in devising spatial design solutions that align with circularity. Additionally, it could guide policymakers in formulating regulations that promote the transition to a circular model in the building industry.

Third, within the emerging field of circular building adaptability, there is still a need for further investigation regarding design strategies, tools and frameworks that support the application of the concept. My work contributes to the field of circular building adaptability by identifying and analysing supporting design strategies and proposing a conceptual design framework. In its current form, the framework's main objective is to illustrate the fundamental reasoning necessary for the systematic application of circular building adaptability. However, there is a need to refine and evolve this framework into a userfriendly tool that can guide designers through the complexities of circular building adaptability. Testing, iterating and validating this framework in real-world design situations involving architects is crucial. This step is critical to ensure that the framework aids the architects' design process rather than complicating it.

Lastly, currently, there is a lack of investigations on how applied circular design strategies influence the spatial design of dwellings. A potential future research subject could be investigating the spatial manifestation of CBD and its impact on end-users and their living environment. Analysing and comparing end-user preferences and floorplan drawings of circular building projects could be an interesting future research pathway. Additionally, a more comprehensive use of spatial theory could contribute to a more robust understanding of the social and material aspects of the spatial design of residential buildings.

Reference List

- Achterberg, E., Hinfelaar, J., & Bocken, N. (2016). *Master circular business with the value hill*. Circle Economy. https://cdn.prod.websitefiles.com/5d26d80e8836af2d12ed1269/5dea74fe88e8a5c63e2c7121_financewhite-paper-20160923.pdf
- Acton, R. (2017). Place-people-practice-process: Using sociomateriality in university physical spaces research. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *49*(14), 1441–1451. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2017.1309637
- Adams, K. T., Osmani, M., Thorpe, T., & Thornback, J. (2017). Circular economy in construction: Current awareness, challenges and enablers. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers Waste and Resource Management*, 170(1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1680/jwarm.16.00011
- Åkerman, B. (1941). Familjen som växte ur sitt hem. Lindbergs Tryckeriaktiebolag.
- Algott, S. (1946). Sammanfattning av bostadssociala utredningens slutbetänkande, del 1 S[tatens] o[ffentliga] u[tredningar] 1945:63. [Nord. bokh.].
- Anastas, P. T., & Zimmerman, J. B. (2003). Design through the 12 principles of green engineering. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *37*(5), 94A-101A. https://doi.org/10.1021/es032373g
- Antonini, E., Boeri, A., Lauria, M., & Giglio, F. (2020). Reversibility and durability as potential indicators for circular building technologies. *Sustainability*, *12*(18), 7659. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12187659
- Arora, M., Raspall, F., Cheah, L., & Silva, A. (2020). Buildings and the circular economy: Estimating urban mining, recovery and reuse potential of building components. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 154(June 2019), 104581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104581
- Askar, R., Bragança, L., & Gervásio, H. (2021). Adaptability of buildings: A critical review on the concept evolution. *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, *11*(10), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11104483
- Askar, R., Bragança, L., & Gervásio, H. (2022). Design for Adaptability (DfA)—Frameworks and assessment models for enhanced circularity in buildings. *Applied System Innovation*, 5(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3390/asi5010024
- Ayres, R. U., & Ayres, L. W. (2002). *A handbook of industrial ecology*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Bafna, S. (2003). Space syntax: A brief introduction to its logic and analytical techniques. *Environment and Behavior*, 35(1), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916502238863
- Benyus, J. M. (1997). *Biomimicry: Innovation inspired by nature* (1st ed.). William Morrow.
- BFS 2011:6 Boverkets byggregler föreskrifter och allmänna råd [Boverket's Building Regulations—Mandatory provisions and general recommendations]. https://rinfo.boverket.se/BFS2011-6/pdf/BFS2011-6.pdf
- Bispo, M. de S. (2015). Methodological reflections on practice-based research in organization studies. BAR - Brazilian Administration Review, 12(3), 309–323. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-7692bar2015150026

- Blomsma, F., & Brennan, G. (2017). The emergence of circular economy: A new framing around prolonging resource productivity. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *21*(3), 603– 614. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12603
- Bocken, N., de Pauw, I., Bakker, C., & van der Grinten, B. (2016). Product design and business model strategies for a circular economy. *Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering*, *33*(5), 308–320.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2016.1172124

Bocken, N., Rana, P., & Short, S. W. (2015). Value mapping for sustainable business thinking. *Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering*, *32*(1), 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1080/21681015.2014.1000399

Bocken, N., Short, S., Rana, P., & Evans, S. (2013). A value mapping tool for sustainable business modelling. *Corporate Governance (Bingley), 13*(5), 482–497. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-06-2013-0078

Boverket. (2020). *Möjligheternas byggregler—Ny modell för Boverkets bygg- och konstruktionsregler.*

https://www.boverket.se/globalassets/publikationer/dokument/2020/mojlighetern as-byggregler-ny-modell-for-boverkets-bygg--och-konstruktionsregler.pdf

- Boverket. (2021). *Behov av bostadsbyggande regionalt och nationellt till 2030*. Boverket. https://www.boverket.se/globalassets/publikationer/dokument/2021/behov-avbostadsbyggande---regionalt-och-nationellt-till-2030.pdf
- Boverket. (2023). Boverkets förslag till föreskrifter om skydd med hänsyn till hygien, hälsa och miljö samt om hushållning med vatten och avfall. https://www.boverket.se/sv/lag--ratt/boverkets-remisser/aldre-remisser/remissboverkets-forslag-till-foreskrifter-om-hygien-halsa-och-miljo/
- Braide, A. (2019). *Dwelling in time: Studies on life course spatial adaptability.* Chalmers University of Technology.
- Brand, S. (1994). *How buildings learn: What happens after they're built.* Viking.
- Brezet, H., van Hemel, C., UNEP IE Cleaner Production Network, Rathenau Instituut, & Technische Universiteit Delft. (1997). *Ecodesign: A promising approach to sustainable production and consumption*. United Nations Environment Programme, Industry and Environment, Cleaner Production. https://books.google.se/books?id=WtxpQgAACAAJ
- Brkanić, I., Stober, D., & Mihić, M. (2018). A comparative analysis of the spatial configuration of apartments built in osijek, Croatia, between 1930 and 2015. *Journal* of Asian Architecture and Building Engineering, 17(1), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.3130/jaabe.17.23
- Buser, M., & Carlsson, V. (2017). What you see is not what you get: Single-family house renovation and energy retrofit seen through the lens of sociomateriality. *Construction Management and Economics*, 35(5), 276–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2016.1250929
- Caldenby, C., Nylander, O., & Trygged, H. (2019). *Rita bostäder: Elva bostadsprojekt från KUB arkitekter: Reflektioner kring en bostadsritarkultur.* Arkitektur Media.

Cambier, C. (2022). Actions for circular architecture [Vrije Universiteit Brussel]. https://researchportal.vub.be/en/publications/actions-for-circular-architecturedevelopment-of-actionable-knowl Cambier, C., Poppe, J., Galle, W., Elsen, S., & Temmerman, N. D. (2021). The Circular Retrofit Lab: A multi-disciplinary development of a building envelope according to circular design qualities. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, *855*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/855/1/012013

Cambridge Business English Dictionary. (2024). Cambridge Dictionary. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/functionality

Cellucci, C., & Sivo, M. D. (2014). Technological and spatial flexibility for new home designing. *Proceedings of International Structural Engineering and Construction*, 1(1), 773–778. https://doi.org/10.14455/ISEC.res.2014.83

Ceschin, F., & Gaziulusoy, I. (2016). Evolution of design for sustainability: From product design to design for system innovations and transitions. *Design Studies*, *47*, 118–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2016.09.002

Cheshire, D. (2021). *The Handbook to building a circular economy* (2nd ed.). RIBA Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003212775

Circle Economy. (2023). *The circularity gap report 2023* (pp. 1–64). Circular Economy. https://www.circularity-gap.world/2023#download

Curman, J. (1944). Industrins arbetarbostäder. Industriens Utredningsinstitut.

Daae, J., Chamberlin, L., & Boks, C. (2018). Dimensions of behaviour change in the context of designing for a circular economy. *The Design Journal*, *21*(4), 521–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2018.1468003

Dams, B., Maskell, D., Shea, A., Allen, S., Driesser, M., Kretschmann, T., Walker, P., & Emmitt, S. (2021). A circular construction evaluation framework to promote designing for disassembly and adaptability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 316, 128122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128122

den Hollander, M. C., Bakker, C. A., & Hultink, E. J. (2017). Product design in a circular economy development of a typology of key concepts and terms. *Methods, Tools and Software, 21*(3), 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12610

Dokter, G. (2023). Circular design through co-creation: Exploring perspectives and future directions for design in a circular economy [Chalmers University of Technology]. https://research.chalmers.se/publication/538160/file/538160_Fulltext.pdf

Dokter, G., Thuvander, L., & Rahe, U. (2021). How circular is current design practice? Investigating perspectives across industrial design and architecture in the transition towards a circular economy. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, *26*, 692–708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.12.032

Duffy, F. (1992). *The changing workplace*. Phadion Press.

Eberhardt, L. C. M., Birgisdottir, H., & Birkved, M. (2019). Potential of circular economy in sustainable buildings. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, *471*(9), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/471/9/092051

Ekeblad, P.-G. (1997). Vad värderar vi i vårt boende: En sammanfattning av två undersökningar. Sveriges allmännyttiga bostadsföretag (SABO).

Ellen MacArthur Foundation. (2013). *Towards the circular economy Vol. 1: An economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition* (pp. 1–98). Ellen MacArthur Foundation. https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/towards-the-circular-economy-vol-1-an-economic-and-business-rationale-for-an

Ellen MacArthur Foundation. (2015). *Growth within: A circular economy vision for a competitive Europe* (pp. 1–100). Ellen MacArthur Foundation.

https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/growth-within-a-circular-economy-vision-for-a-competitive-europe

Energy Saving Trust. (2013). *At home with water—Great Britain* (pp. 1–36). The Energy Saving Trust Foundation.

https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/AtHomewithWater(7).pdf

- European Commission. (2012). *Ecodesign your future How ecodesign can help the environment by making products smarter*. European Commission. https://doi.org/10.2769/38512
- European Commission. (2019). *The European Green Deal*. European Commission. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2019%3A640%3AFIN

- European Commission. (2020). *Circular Economy Action Plan*. Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2779/05068
- European Court of Auditors. (2023). *Circular economy: Slow transition by member states despite EU action* (pp. 1–60). European Court of Auditors. https://doi.org/10.2865/36180

European Institute for Gender Equality. (2016). Gender statistics database. https://eige.europa.eu/genderstatistics/dgs/indicator/ta_timeuse_hswk__eqls_famcarehours__cookm/bar/year:2 016/geo:EU28,BE,BG,CZ,DK,DE,EE,IE,EL,ES,FR,HR,IT,CY,LV,LT,LU,HU,MT,NL,AT,PL,PT, RO,SI,SK,FI,SE,IS,NO,UK,ME,MK,AL,RS,TR,XK/ANSWER:MEAN_HRS/CATEGORY:HOUS EWORK/sex:M,W

- Femenías, P., & Geromel, F. (2019). Adaptable housing? A quantitative study of contemporary apartment layouts that have been rearranged by end-users. *Journal* of Housing and the Built Environment, 35, 481–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-019-09693-9
- Femenías, P., Holmström, C., & Jönsson, H. (2018). Framtidens klimatsmarta och hållbara bostad (E2B2 Rapport 2018:22; pp. 1–51). IQ Samhällsbyggnad och Energimyndigheten.

https://research.chalmers.se/publication/505649/file/505649_Fulltext.pdf

- Fenwick, T. (2014). Sociomateriality in medical practice and learning: Attuning to what matters. *Medical Education*, *48*(1), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12295
- Fenwick, T., Edwards, R., & Sawchuk, P. (2011). *Emerging approaches to educational research*. Routledge.
- Fisher, M. J., & Marshall, A. P. (2009). Understanding descriptive statistics. *Australian Critical Care*, 22(2), 93–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2008.11.003
- Flick, U. (2018a). Doing interviews. In A. Owen (Ed.), *An Introduction to Qualitative Research* (6th ed., pp. 254–276). SAGE Publications.
- Flick, U. (2018b). Sampling. In A. Owen (Ed.), *An Introduction to Qualitative Research* (6th ed., pp. 173–189). SAGE Publications.
- Flick, U. (2018c). Thematic coding and content analysis. In A. Owen (Ed.), *An Introduction to Qualitative Research* (6th ed., pp. 473–493). SAGE Publications.

 Forrest, A., Hilton, M., Ballinger, A., & Whittaker, D. (2017). Circular economy opportunities in the furniture sector. In *European Environmental Bureau (EEB)* (pp. 1–55). European Environmental Bureau. https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/en/knowledge/circular-economy-

https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/en/knowledge/circular-economyopportunities-furniture-sector

- Geissdoerfer, M., Savaget, P., Bocken, N., & Hultink, E. J. (2017). The circular economy A new sustainability paradigm? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *143*, 757–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.048
- Geldermans, B., Tenpierik, M., & Luscuere, P. (2019a). Circular and flexible indoor partitioning—A design conceptualization of innovative materials and value chains. *Buildings*, *9*(194), 1–24. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/buildings9090194
- Geldermans, B., Tenpierik, M., & Luscuere, P. (2019b). Circular and flexible infill concepts: Integration of the residential user perspective. *Sustainability*, *11*(261), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010261
- Geldermans, R. J. (2016). Design for change and circularity—Accommodating circular material and product flows in construction. *Energy Procedia*, *96*, 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2016.09.153
- Genovese, A., Acquaye, A. A., Figueroa, A., & Koh, S. C. L. (2017). Sustainable supply chain management and the transition towards a circular economy: Evidence and some applications. *Omega (United Kingdom)*, *66*, 344–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2015.05.015
- Geraedts, R., Olsson, N. O. E., & Hansen, G. K. (2017). Adaptability. In P. A. Jensen & T. V. der Voordt (Eds.), *Facilities management and corporate real estate management as value drivers: How to manage and measure adding value* (1st ed., pp. 159–183). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.ppl.22012017.24
- Geraedts, R. P., Remøy, H. T., Hermans, M. H., & Van Rijn, E. (2014). Adaptive capacity of buildings: A determination method to promote flexible and sustainable construction. UIA2014: 25th International Union of Architects World Congress" Architecture Otherwhere", Durban, South Africa, 3-7 August 2014, July, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4568.8961
- Geromel, F. (2016). *Owner-driven modifications of floor plans in modern swedish apartments* (pp. 1–52). Chalmers University of Technology.
- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. (2012). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the gioia methodology. 16(1), 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428112452151
- Giorgi, S., Lavagna, M., Wang, K., Osmani, M., Liu, G., & Campioli, A. (2022). Drivers and barriers towards circular economy in the building sector: Stakeholder interviews and analysis of five european countries policies and practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 336(April 2021), 130395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.130395
- Gomes, V., Valdivia, S., Pulgrossi, L., & Gomes Da Silva, M. (2022). Measuring circularity from buildings to neighbourhoods. *Acta Polytechnica CTU Proceedings*, *38*, 656–671. https://doi.org/10.14311/APP.2022.38.0656
- Göransdotter, M. (2020). *Transitional design histories* [Umeå University]. https://umu.divaportal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1459618&dswid=-6210

- Göransdotter, M., & Redström, J. (2018). Design methods and critical historiography: An example from Swedish user-centered design. *Design Issues*, *34*(2), 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1162/DESI_a_00483
- Granath, K. (in press). Kvalitetskriterier bostadens arkitektur. In O. Nylander (Ed.), *Den goda bostaden*.
- Granath, K., Nylander, O., Andersson, M., & Gren, J. (2022). *Bygglov Göteborg 2017*. Chalmers University Press.
- Groat, L., & Wang, D. (2013). Architectural research methods. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Habraken, N. J. (1972). *Supports: An alternative to mass housing*. Architectural Press.
- Hagejärd, Ollár, Femenías, & Rahe. (2020). Designing for Circularity—Addressing product design, consumption practices and resource flows in domestic kitchens. Sustainability, 12(3), 1006. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031006
- Hagejärd, S. (2020). *Towards a circular home: Exploring opportunities for design to support households in sustainable resource use* [Chalmer University of Technology]. https://research.chalmers.se/publication/519798/file/519798_Fulltext.pdf
- Hallberg, G., & Thiberg, A. (1985). Respektera baskraven. In S. Thiberg (Ed.), *Bostadsboken: 22 forskare om bostadsutformning*. (pp. 142–200). Byggforskningsrådet.
- Hamida, M. B., Jylhä, T., Remøy, H., & Gruis, V. (2022). Circular building adaptability and its determinants A literature review. *International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation*, 47–69. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBPA-11-2021-0150
- Hamida, M. B., Remøy, H., Gruis, V., & Jylhä, T. (2023). Circular building adaptability in adaptive reuse: Multiple case studies in the Netherlands. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEDT-08-2022-0428
- Hand, M., Shove, E., & Southerton, D. (2007). Home extensions in the United Kingdom:
 Space, time, and practice. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 25(4), 668–681. https://doi.org/10.1068/d413t
- Hart, J., Adams, K., Giesekam, J., Tingley, D. D., & Pomponi, F. (2019). Barriers and drivers in a circular economy: The case of the built environment. *Procedia CIRP*, 80, 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.12.015
- Heidrich, O., Kamara, J., Maltese, S., Cecconi, F. R., & Dejaco, M. C. (2017). A critical review of the developments in building adaptability. *International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation*, 35(4), 284–303. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBPA-03-2017-0018
- Hes, D., & Du Plessis, C. (2015). *Designing for hope: Pathways to regenerative sustainability*. Routledge.
- Hillier, B. (2007). *Space is the machine: A configurational theory of architecture.* Space syntax. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/3881/1/SITM.pdf
- Hillier, B., & Hanson, J. (1984). The social logic of space. Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Hossain, M. U., & Thomas Ng, S. (2019). Influence of waste materials on buildings' life cycle environmental impacts: Adopting resource recovery principle. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 142,* 10–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.11.010
- Jager, A. (2002). Industrial design methods. In T. M. de Jong & D. J. M. van der Voordt (Eds.), Ways to study and research urban, architectural and technical design (pp. 367–375). DUP Science.

- Judson, E. P., Maller, C., & Ellis, P. (2014). *Housing renovations and energy efficiency:* Insights from homeowners ' practices. 42(4), 501–511. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613218.2014.894808
- Kendall, S. (1999). Open Building: An approach to sustainable architecture. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 6(3), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10630739983551
- Kirchherr, J., Piscicelli, L., Bour, R., Kostense-Smit, E., Muller, J., Huibrechtse-Truijens, A., & Hekkert, M. (2018). Barriers to the circular economy: Evidence from the European Union (EU). *Ecological Economics*, 150, 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.04.028
- Kirchherr, J., Reike, D., & Hekkert, M. (2017). Conceptualizing the circular economy: An analysis of 114 definitions. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 127*(April), 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.005
- Konietzko, J., Bocken, N., & Hultink, E. J. (2020). Circular ecosystem innovation: An initial set of principles. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *253*, 119942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119942
- Kozminska, U. (2019). Circular design: Reused materials and the future reuse of building elements in architecture. Process, challenges and case studies. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 225(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/225/1/012033
- Krantz-Jensen, H. (1963). Köksinredning och kökstyper. In *Bostaden* (pp. 92–101). Svenska Slöjdföreningen.
- Lee, J. (2018). Det moderna köksrummet historia. In U. Torell, J. Lee, & R. Qvarsell (Eds.),
 Köket: Rum för drömmar, ideal och vardagsliv under det långa 1900-talet (pp. 25–64). Nordiska museets förlag.
- Leising, E., Quist, J., & Bocken, N. (2018). Circular Economy in the building sector: Three cases and a collaboration tool. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *176*, 976–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.010
- Leonardi, P. M. (2012). Materiality, sociomateriality, and socio-technical systems: What do these terms mean? How are they different? Do we need them? In P. M. Leonardi, B. A. Nardi, & J. Kallinikos (Eds.), *Materiality and Organizing: Social Interaction in a Technological World* (pp. 25–49). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199664054.003.0002
- Leonardi, P. M. (2013). Theoretical foundations for the study of sociomateriality. Information and Organization, 23(2), 59–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg.2013.02.002
- Lind, H., & Mjörnell, K. (2015). Social hållbarhet med fokus på bostadsrenovering en antologi (2015:4; p. 2010). Sustainable Integrated Renovation. https://www.renoveringscentrum.lth.se/fileadmin/renoveringscentrum/SIRen/Publi kationer/Social_haallbarhet_vid_bostadsrenovering_-_en_antologi..pdf
- Lofthouse, V., & Prendeville, S. (2018). Human-centred design of products and services for the circular economy – A review. *The Design Journal*, *21*(4), 451–476. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2018.1468169
- Mahpour, A. (2018). Prioritizing barriers to adopt circular economy in construction and demolition waste management. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 134*, 216–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.01.026

- Maller, C., Horne, R., Dalton, T., Maller, C., Horne, R., & Dalton, T. (2012). Green renovations: Intersections of daily routines, housing aspirations and narratives of environmental sustainability. *Housing, Theory and Society*, 29(3), 255–275. https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2011.606332
- Manninen, K., Koskela, S., Antikainen, R., Bocken, N., Dahlbo, H., & Aminoff, A. (2018). Do circular economy business models capture intended environmental value propositions? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *171*, 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.003
- Manum, B. (2005). Generality versus specificity: A Study on the interior space of apartments. *Proceedings of the Fifth International Space Syntax Symposium*, 1–12. https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/view/39027513/generality-versusspecificity-a-study-on-the-interior-space-of-
- Manum, B. (2009). The advantage of generality. *Proceedings of the Seventh International Space Syntax Symposium*, 1–14. https://www.sss7.org/Proceedings/04%20Building%20Morphology%20and%20Eme rgent%20Performativity/069 Manum.pdf
- Marco, E. (2022). Stuff and space in the home: Space for storage as the forgotten design and well-being dimension in standardised housing. *The Journal of Architecture*, 27(5–6), 708–733. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602365.2022.2142269
- Marco, E., Tahsiri, M., Sinett, D., & Oliveira, S. (2022). Architects' 'enforced togetherness': New design affordances of the home. *Buildings and Cities*, *3*(1), 168–185. https://doi. org/10.5334/bc.189
- Marco, E., Williams, K., & Oliveira, S. (2021). Prioritising storage practices: A new approach to housing design thinking. *Interiority*, *4*(2), 223–248. https://doi.org/10.7454/in.v4i2.104
- McDonough, W., & Braungart, M. (2002). *Cradle to cradle: Remaking the way we make things.* (1. ed.). North Point Press.
- Meadows, D. H. (2008). *Thinking in systems: A primer*. Chelsea Green Pub.
- Mendelow, A. L. (1981). Environmental scanning—The impact of the stakeholder concept. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems*, 407–417. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Environmental-Scanning-The-Impact-ofthe-Concept-Mendelow/7b361652157989c77ed442dd387ec9b1a9b99632
- Mendoza, J. M. F., Sharmina, M., Gallego-Schmid, A., Heyes, G., & Azapagic, A. (2017). Integrating backcasting and eco-design for the circular economy: The BECE framework. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *21*(3), 526–544. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12590
- Merli, R., Preziosi, M., & Acampora, A. (2018). How do scholars approach the circular economy? A systematic literature review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *178*, 703– 722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.112
- Minunno, R., O'Grady, T., Morrison, G. M., Gruner, R. L., & Colling, M. (2018). Strategies for applying the circular economy to prefabricated buildings. *Buildings*, *8*(125), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings8090125
- Moura, E. O. de, & Bispo, M. de S. (2020). Sociomateriality: Theories, methodology, and practice. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, *37*(3), 350–365. https://doi.org/10.1002/cjas.1548

Movilla Vega, D., & Hallemar, D. (2017). *99 years of the housing question in Sweden*. Studentlitteratur.

- Munaro, M. R., Tavares, S. F., & Bragança, L. (2020). Towards circular and more sustainable buildings: A systematic literature review on the circular economy in the built environment. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 260, 121134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121134
- Murray, A., Skene, K., & Haynes, K. (2017). The circular economy: An interdisciplinary exploration of the concept and application in a global context. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *140*(3), 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2693-2
- Ness, D. A., & Xing, K. (2017). Toward a resource-efficient built environment: A literature review and conceptual model. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *21*(3), 572–592. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12586
- Nowakowski, P. N. (2015). Designing kitchens for small domestic spaces. In A. M. & S. C. (Eds.), *Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction. Access to the Human Environment and Culture* (pp. 340–351). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20687-5
- Nußholz, J. L. K. (2017). Circular business models: Defining a concept and framing an emerging research field. *Sustainability (Switzerland), 9*(10), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101810
- Nußholz, J. L. K., Rasmussen, F. N., Whalen, K., & Plepys, A. (2020). Material reuse in buildings: Implications of a circular business model for sustainable value creation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 245, 118546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118546

Nylander, O. (1998). *Bostaden som arkitektur.* Chalmers University of Technology.

- Nylander, O. (2002). Architecture of the home (J. Krause & D. Fronko, Trans.). Wiley-Academy.
- Nylander, O. (2018). *Svensk bostadsarkitektur: Utveckling från 1800-tal till 2000-tal.* (2nd ed.). Studentlitteratur.
- Nylander, O., & Braide, A. (2011). Nya svenskar—Så använder vi våra bostäder: En bostadsstudie i miljonprogramsområdet Backa Röd, Göteborg. Svensk byggtjänst.
- Nylander, O., Larsson, J., & Granath, K. (2021). *Trivsel i trähus: Bostadsundersökning av flerbostadshus byggda med KL-trä.* Chalmers, CBA.

Ollár, A. (2021). Spatial design for circularity: Exploring spatial aspects in housing design with focus on the kitchen. Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Architecture and Civil Engineering.

- Ollár, A., Femenías, P., Rahe, U., & Granath, K. (2020). Foresights from the Swedish kitchen: Four circular value opportunities for the built environment. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *12*(6394), 1–21. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/su12166394
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation. (2023). *Time spent in paid and unpaid work, by sex*. https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?queryid=54757

Orlikowski, W. J. (2007). Sociomaterial practices: Exploring technology at work. *Organization Studies*, 28(9), 1435–1448.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840607081138

Örnhall, H. (2019). Bostadsbestämmelser 2019. AB Svensk Byggtjänst.

- Pelsmakers, S., & Warwick, E. (2022). Housing adaptability: New research, emerging practices and challenges. *Buildings and Cities*, *3*(1), 605–618. https://doi.org/10.5334/bc.266
- Pinder, J., Schmidt, R., & Saker, J. (2013). Stakeholder perspectives on developing more adaptable buildings. *Construction Management and Economics*, *31*(5), 440–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2013.798007
- Pomponi, F., & Moncaster, A. (2017). Circular economy for the built environment: A research framework. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *143*, 710–718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.055
- Potting, J., Hekkert, M., Worrell, E., & Hanemaaijer, A. (2017). *Circular economy: Measuring innovation in the product chain* (2544; pp. 1–47). PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.
- Ranney, E. M. (1949). *Kitchen planning standards* (Vol. 47, Issue 19, pp. 1–8). Univrsity of Illinois.
- Regeringskansliet. (2020). Cirkulär ekonomi strategi för omställningen i Sverige. https://www.regeringen.se/globalassets/regeringen/bilder/klimat-ochnaringslivsdepartementet/klimat-och-miljo/cirkular-ekonomi---strategi-foromstallningen-i-sverige/
- Ricard, L. M., Bach Hybel, S., & Jofre, S. (2023). Design as a catalyst for the circular economy. In H. Lehtimäki, L. Aarikka-Stenroos, A. Jokinen, & P. Jokinen, *The Routledge Handbook of Catalysts for a Sustainable Circular Economy* (1st ed., pp. 226–245). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003267492-14
- Richardson, J. (2008). The business model: An integrative framework for strategy execution. *Strategic Change*, *17*, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsc.821
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S. I., Lambin, E., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., De Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., Van Der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., ... Foley, J. (2009). Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 32. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03180-140232
- Saarimaa, S., & Pelsmakers, S. (2020). Better living environment today, more adaptable tomorrow? *Yhdyskuntasuunnittelu-Lehti*, *58*(2), 33–58. https://doi.org/10.33357/ys.89676
- Schmidt, R., III., & Austin, S. (2016). *Adaptable architecture: Theory and practice* (1st ed.). Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Schreier, M. (2014). Qualitative content analysis. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis* (pp. 170–183). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446282243
- Schulz, C., Hjaltadóttir, R. E., & Hild, P. (2019). Practising circles: Studying institutional change and circular economy practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *237*, 117749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117749
- Selvefors, A., Rexfelt, O., Renström, S., & Strömberg, H. (2019). Use to use A user perspective on product circularity. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 223, 1014–1028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.117

SFS 1993:100 *Högskoleförordning* [The Higher Education Ordinance]. https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svenskforfattningssamling/hogskoleforordning-1993100_sfs-1993-100/

- SFS 2010:900 *Plan- och bygglag* [the Swedish Planning and Building Act]. https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svenskforfattningssamling/plan--och-bygglag-2010900_sfs-2010-900/
- SFS 2011:338 *Plan- och byggförordning* [the Swedish Planning and Building Ordinance]. https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svenskforfattningssamling/plan--och-byggforordning-2011338 sfs-2011-338/

SFS 2017:720 *Klimatlag* [the Swedish Climat Act]. https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokumentoch-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/klimatlag-2017720_sfs-2017-720/

- Sinclair, B. R., Mousazadeh, S., & Safarzadeh, G. (2012). Agility, adaptability + appropriateness: Conceiving, crafting and constructing an architecture of the 21st century. *Enquiry A Journal for Architectural Research*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.17831/enq:arcc.v9i1.65
- Sjöstrand, Y. (2018). Avfallet: Ett materialflöde i köksrummet. In U. Torell, J. Lee, & R. Qvarsell (Eds.), *Köket: Rum för drömmar, ideal och vardagsliv under det långa 1900talet* (pp. 213–232). Nordiska museets förlag.
- Slaughter, E. S. (2001). Design strategies to increase building flexibility. *Building Research and Information*, *29*(3), 208–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/09613210010027693
- Smith, A. (2014). *Makers, fixers and circular ecnomies*. Sussex Energy Group at SPRU. https://sussexnrggrp.wordpress.com/2014/06/25/makers-fixers-and-circulareconomies/
- Stahel, W. R. (1982). The product life factor. An inquiry into the nature of sustainable societies: The role of the private sector. *Houston Area Research Center*, 72–105.
- Statistics Sweden. (2023). Drygt 5,2 miljoner bostäder i landet. https://www.scb.se/hittastatistik/statistik-efter-amne/boende-byggande-och-bebyggelse/bostadsbyggandeoch-ombyggnad/bostadsbestand/pong/statistiknyhet/bostadsbestandet-31december-2023/
- Statistics Sweden. (2024). Antal färdigställda lägenheter i flerbostadshus resp. Småhus. Statistiska centralbyrån. https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/statistik-efteramne/boende-byggande-och-bebyggelse/bostadsbyggande-ochombyggnad/bygglov-nybyggnad-och-ombyggnad/pong/tabell-ochdiagram/nybyggnad/antal-fardigstallda-lagenheter-i-flerbostadshus-resp.-smahus
- Su, B., Heshmati, A., Geng, Y., & Yu, X. (2013). A review of the circular economy in China: Moving from rhetoric to implementation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 42, 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.11.020
- Tarpio, J., Huuhka, S., & Vestergaard, I. (2021). Barriers to implementing adaptable housing: Architects' perceptions in Finland and Denmark. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment, 0123456789*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-021-09913-1
- Tervo, A., & Hirvonen, J. (2019). Solo dwellers and domestic spatial needs in the Helsinki Metropolitan Area, Finland. *Housing Studies*, *35*(7), 1194–1213. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2019.1652251
- Thiberg, A. (1994). *Kök: En bok för den som planerar, bygger eller bygger om.* Konsumentverket.

Thiberg, A. (2007). *Kök: Planering och utformning*. SIS förlag.

https://books.google.hu/books?id=cie3DAEACAAJ

Thompson, C. B. (2009). Descriptive data analysis. *Air Medical Journal*.

- Till, J., & Schneider, T. (2005). Flexible housing: The means to the end. Architectural Research Quarterly, 9(3–4), 287–296. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1359135505000345
- United Nation Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. (2019). World Urbanization Prospects 2018 Highlights.
- van Stijn, A. (2023). *Developing circular building components: Between ideal and feasible* [Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.7480/abe.2023.05
- van Stijn, A., & Gruis, V. (2019). Towards a circular built environment: An integral design tool for circular building components. *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment*, *9*(4), 635–653. https://doi.org/10.1108/SASBE-05-2019-0063
- von Meiss, P. (2013). *Elements of architecture: From form to place + tectonics* (T. Hakola, Trans.; 2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Wærn-Bugge, I., & Göransson-Ljungman, K. (1936). Bostad och hushållsorganisation: Studie över ett aktuellt rationaliseringsproblem: Staden, landet. Kooperativa förbundets bokförlag.

Webster, K. (2017). *The circular economy: A wealth of flows* (2nd edition). Ellen MacArthur Foundation.

- Werner, I. B. (2003). *Preferenser beträffande bostadskvaliteter: Olika konsumentgruppers bostadsval* (pp. 1–70). Royal Institute of Technology.
- Werner, I. B., & Grange, K. (2011). Svårfångade kvaliteter: Erfarenhetsåterföring från fyra av Sveriges Arkitekter nominerade och prisbelönade bostadsprojekt (pp. 1–64). Royal Institute of Technology. chrome-

extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/http://kth.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:444485/FULLTEXT01.pdf

- Willén, M. (2012). Berättelser om den öppna planlösningens arkitektur. Sekel.
- Wouterszoon Jansen, B., van Stijn, A., Eberhardt, L. C. M., Van Bortel, G., & Gruis, V. (2022). The technical or biological loop? Economic and environmental performance of circular building components. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 34, 476– 489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2022.10.008
- Wouterszoon Jansen, B., van Stijn, A., Gruis, V., & Van Bortel, G. (2020). A circular economy life cycle costing model (CE-LCC) for building components. *Resources, Conservation* and Recycling, 161, 104857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104857
- Wouterszoon Jansen, B., van Stijn, A., Gruis, V., & Van Bortel, G. (2022). Cooking up a circular kitchen: A longitudinal study of stakeholder choices in the development of a circular building component. *Sustainability*, 14(23), 15761. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142315761